
 

 
i 

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
PENNS PLACE 
PETERSFIELD 
HAMPSHIRE  
GU31 4EX 
 

Telephone: 01730 266551 
Website: www.easthants.gov.uk 

 

 
Public Attendance  
 
Please note that the Council Chamber has very limited capacity to safely 
accommodate members of the public in a Covid secure manner. Please contact the 
named officer below if you wish to attend in person but note that priority will be given 
to those who have registered to make a deputation, otherwise we would encourage 
attendance virtually via the webcast on the Council’s website. 
 

PLANNING POLICY COMMITTEE AGENDA 
 
 

Date: Monday 20 December 2021   

Time: 6.00 pm 

Venue: Council Chamber, Penns Place, Petersfield, GU31 4EX 

 
 

Membership:   Councillor A Glass (Chairman) 
 
Councillors Gottlieb, D Evans (Vice-Chairman), G Hill, S Hunt, M Johnson, 
C Louisson, S Pond, A Williams and E Woodard 
 

 
 
The business to be transacted is set out below:  
 
Gill Kneller 
Chief Executive 
 
 
Date of Publication: 10 December 2021 
 
Contact Officer: Lydia Merriman 01730 234073 
 Email:  lydia.merriman@easthants.gov.uk 
 

Can Councillors Please Submit Any Detailed Technical Questions On The Items  
Included In This Agenda To The Contact Officer By 12 Noon On Friday 1 October  
2021 
 



 

 
ii 

 

  Page 

1  Apologies   
 
To receive apologies for absence.  
 
 
  
 

 

2  Confirmation of Minutes   
 
Please note that it is helpful if Councillors could give advance notice, 
to Democratic Services, of any questions they wish to raise in respect 
of the Minutes.  
 
To approve the minutes of the last meeting, held on 18 October 2021. 
 
 
  
 

1 - 4 

3  Chairman's Announcements   
 

 

4  Declarations of Interest   
 
Councillors are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest which they may have in any item of 
business on the agenda, no later than when that item is reached.  
Unless dispensation has been granted, you may not participate in any 
discussion of, or vote on, or discharge any function related to any 
matter in which you have a pecuniary interest as defined by 
regulations made by the Secretary of State under the Localism Act 
2011. You must withdraw from the room or chamber when the 
meeting discusses and votes on the matter.  
 
 
  
 

 

5  Climate Change and Sustainable Construction SPD   
 

5 - 98 

6  Statement of Community Involvement   
 

99 - 142 

7  The Revocation of the Planning Contributions and Community 
Infrastructure Levy SPD 2016   
 

143 - 168 



 

 
iii 

GENERAL INFORMATION 
 

IF YOU WOULD LIKE A VERSION OF THIS AGENDA, OR 
ANY OF ITS REPORTS, IN LARGE PRINT, BRAILLE, 
AUDIO OR IN ANOTHER LANGUAGE PLEASE CONTACT 
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES ON 01730 234073. 
 
 

Internet 
 

This agenda and its accompanying reports can also be found on the East 
Hampshire District Council website: www.easthants.gov.uk 
 
 

Public Attendance and Participation 
 

Members of the public are welcome to attend and observe the meetings. 
Many of the Council’s meetings allow the public to make deputations on 
matters included in the agenda. Rules govern this procedure and for further 
information please get in touch with the contact officer for this agenda.  
 
Disabled Access 
 

All meeting venues have full access and facilities for the disabled. 
 

Emergency Procedure 
 
Please ensure that you are familiar with the location of all emergency exits 
which are clearly marked. In the unlikely event of an emergency an alarm will 
sound. 
 
PLEASE EVACUATE THE BUILDING IMMEDIATELY. 
 
DO NOT RE-ENTER THE BUILDING UNTIL AUTHORISED TO DO SO. 
 
No Smoking Policy 
 

All meeting venues operate a no smoking policy on all premises and ground 
 

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/


 

 
iv 

. 
 

  
 



1 

PLANNING POLICY COMMITTEE 
18 October 2021 

 

 

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
At a meeting of the Planning Policy Committee held on 18 October 2021 
 
 
Present  
 
Councillor: A Glass (Chairman) 
 
Councillors: D Evans (Vice-Chairman), G Hill, S Hunt, M Johnson, C Louisson, 
S Pond, A Williams and E Woodard 
 
 
10 Apologies  

 
Apologies were received from Councillor K Budden.  
 
 
  
 

11 Confirmation of Minutes  
 
Minutes of the meeting held on 6 July 2021 were agreed and signed as a 
correct record.  
 
 
  
 

12 Chairman's Announcements  
 
The Chairman welcomed all those present to the Planning Policy Committee. In 
addition to the Councillors who sit on the committee, she also welcomed the 
officers who were in attendance.  
 
 
  
 

13 Declarations of Interest  
 
No declarations of interest were received.   
 
 
  
 

14 Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan (as Modified April 2021)  
 
 
The Acting Planning Policy Manager introduced the item and gave an historical 
background to the Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan 2011-2028. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



2 

 PLANNING POLICY COMMITTEE 
18 October 2021 

 

 

Alton Town Council were the first community to prepare a Neighbourhood Plan 
in East Hampshire, outside of the SDNP, which was adopted in 2016 following 
a successful referendum. After monitoring the effectiveness of the 
Neighbourhood Plan’s policies, Alton Town Council modified their plan in line 
with the Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017. The plan as a whole has been 
effective in managing development proposals and a number of developments 
have been implemented or are in the pipeline.  However, the proposed 
modifications have been with East Hampshire’s housing land supply position in 
mind and how this could potentially lead to unplanned development if the 
weight of the development plan weakened. The new modifications would 
provide the revised Neighbourhood Plan greater protection of a two year period 
(following adoption), as set out in paragraph 14 within the NPPF. 
 
As a result of the modifications, two new sites were added as allocations, 
namely the former Molson Coors Brewery and former Magistrates Court, 
totalling 326 dwellings, both of which came forward through the planning 
application process and subsequently gained planning permission. The 
quantum of development was also amended on other sites to reflect details of 
associated planning applications, namely 14 instead 21 dwellings at land off 
Wilson Road and 7 less dwellings at land east of Selborne Road. The 
amendments showed that the housing supply figure for Alton continued to be in 
excess of what would have been its reasonable contribution toward the 
objectively assessed needs of the District, which were established in the joint 
core strategy.  
   
The officer stated that both East Hampshire District Council and Alton Town 
Council considered that the modifications were minor and would not materially 
change the existing Neighbourhood Plan. This view was also shared by the 
Examiner. The Examiner determined that although a further examination 
process would be required, no further referendum would be needed.  
 
The Acting Planning Policy Manager advised that following the Examiner’s final 
decision, the Council would be under a legal obligation, as set out in the 
Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017, to make the draft plan as part of the 
statutory development plan, which would be used to help guide future planning 
applications.  
 
The Chairman thanked the Acting Planning Policy Manager for his clear 
presentation and then invited councillors to ask questions of officers and debate 
the application. 
 
Comments were made from committee members in relation to the success of 
the Alton Neighbourhood Plan and how Alton Town Council should be thanked. 
It was felt that the minor modifications were commendable and that the 
amendments comprehensive and that the Plan, which was easy to understand, 
reflected the needs of the community. Cllr Hill informed members that he had 
been Deputy Chairman of the original steering group, which had involved 11 
people in total, including 4 Town Councillors plus District Councillors, had taken 
two years of hard work to create the Plan.  
 

Page 2



  3 
 

Planning Policy Committee (18.10.21) 
 
 

 

In respect of the key constraints of the Plan scope and objectives listed, the 
Acting Planning Policy Manager confirmed that all the objectives had been 
adequately addressed, especially in respect of the two new additional sites 
which had subsequently gone through the application process. A question was 
also raised as to whether the Community Questionnaire had dealt with all the 
concerns raised by the local residents, although it was noted that a good level 
of consultation had been carried out. The Officer confirmed that the changes 
were considered to be minor in nature and that the Examiner had agreed with 
Alton Town Council and East Hampshire District Council that all evidence 
provided had supported the Neighbourhood Plan and that all details of 
constraints had been taken into account. 
 
As the Plan had been written in 2015 and adopted in 2016, the Acting Planning 
Policy Manager confirmed that it was only the new modifications which had 
been amended recently. Any minor changes of the Plan itself, in respect of 
wording, spelling or slight inaccuracies, would therefore be reviewed for 
compliance after the emerging Local Plan, which would need to be adhered to.  
 
The Acting Planning Policy Manager concluded by stating that a considerable 
amount of work had gone into the review, which proved to be effective for the 
future of the Plan going forward. 
 
The Chairman wished to thank everyone who took part in the review and 
congratulated Alton Town Council. She also reiterated members’ previous 
comments that it made a very pleasant and easy read.   
 
The committee voted on the officer’s recommendation that the Alton 
Neighbourhood Development Plan 2011-2028 (as modified April 2021) should 
be adopted with immediate effect once considered by Full Council, so that it 
would become part of the statutory development plan for the area.  
 
Following the vote, the recommendation was declared CARRIED, 9 Councillors 
voting FOR, no Councillor voting AGAINST and no Councillor ABSTAINING 
from voting. 
 
 
 
 
  
 

 
 

The meeting commenced at 6.00 pm and concluded at 6.50 pm 
 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



  

                                                                            Page  1 of 7 

 

NON-EXEMPT 

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Planning Policy Committee       20 December 2021 

       

Draft Climate Change and Sustainable Construction Supplementary 

Planning Document 

 

FOR DECISION  

 

Portfolio Holder: Angela Glass 

Key Decision: No  

Report Number: [EHDC/HBC/…/20]  

 

1. Purpose 

1.1. This paper is submitted to the Planning Policy Committee for a decision to 

undertake a public consultation on the draft Climate Change and Sustainable 

Construction Supplementary Planning Document in line with our statutory 

requirements. 

2. Recommendation 

2.1. Members are requested to approve 

a. the draft Climate Change and Sustainable Construction Supplementary 

Planning Document (Appendix 1 to this report), for a six-week public 

consultation. 

b. the Director of Regeneration and Place in consultation with the Portfolio 

Holder for Planning to make any necessary minor amendments to the draft 

Supplementary Planning document prior to consultation. 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



  

                                                                            Page  2 of 7 

 

3. Executive Summary 

3.1. This report provides the background to the preparation of the draft Climate 

Change and Sustainable Construction Supplementary Planning Document, 

explains why the document has been prepared, outlines the proposals for 

consultation and how it will be used in the determination of planning applications. 

3.2. Consultation on the draft supplementary planning document is planned to be 

undertaken for 6 weeks starting in December 2021 with adoption anticipated in 

May/June 2022 by Full Council. 

4. Additional Budgetary Implications  

4.1. None 

5. Background and relationship to Corporate Strategy and/or Business Plans 

5.1. Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) are documents which provide 

guidance to assist in implementing development plan policies. They may be used 

to provide further guidance for development on particular issues such as 

sustainable construction. They are material considerations in planning decisions. 

Due to the complexities and subtleties of implementing sustainable development 

and carbon reduction, a draft Climate Change and Sustainable Construction 

Supplementary Planning Document has been prepared in accordance with the 

Planning Act 2008 and the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 

(England) Regulations 2012 (as amended). 

5.2. The draft SPD has been prepared to support the implementation primarily of Joint 

Core Strategy Policy CP24 Sustainable Construction, CP25 Flood Risk, CP26 

Water resources/Water Quality and CP27 Pollution. The policies provide 

overarching objectives, but the proposed SPD provides key details on how the 

Local Plan policies and related climate change corporate objectives can be 

delivered. 

5.3. Sustainable construction and adaption to a low carbon economy is a complex and 

evolving field. There are limitations in what EHDC can require developers to do as 

carbon emissions from new development is partly covered in Part L of the building 

Page 6



  

                                                                            Page  3 of 7 

 

regulations. Local Plan policies can only relate to new development which 

requires a planning application. The JCS policies went through a viability 

assessment and as a result the SPD cannot require radical measures which will 

add significant cost to a new development thereby making the development 

unviable and the local plan undeliverable. However, government has and is likely 

to continue to increase carbon reduction measures and financial support 

packages so that it can meet its net zero carbon emissions by 2050. Banning the 

installation of gas boilers in new development from 2025 and the Green Homes 

Grant are some recent national initiatives to reduce climate change emissions.  

5.4. The draft SPD has been developed to primarily assist developers seeking to 

invest in East Hampshire district (outside the SDNP) and decision makers. Whilst 

there are many sources of information on sustainable development and reducing 

emissions, these tend to look at the national and international scales and overlook 

local considerations. This draft SPD focuses on the local level, current suitable 

technologies, and preferred approaches. 

5.5. Whilst the draft SPD is guidance associated with existing policies, it has been 

designed to facilitate change to more sustainable forms of development and will 

further aid the Council’s environmental objectives and help the district move to net 

zero carbon. 

5.6. The production of the SPD supports the Council’s declaration of a Climate change 

emergency and the objectives of the Climate and Environment Strategy 2020-

2025. 

6. Options considered 

6.1. Option 1: Approve the draft SPD for consultation. This option is recommended as 

it would enable the Council to move towards the adoption of up-to-date guidance 

to provide clarity and certainty for developers, development management and 

others. Agree to the suggested authorisation for making any minor amendments 

prior to consultation. This option is recommended. 

6.2. Option 2: Do not approve the draft Climate Change and Sustainable Construction 

SPD for public consultation. This option is not recommended as it would 

Page 7



  

                                                                            Page  4 of 7 

 

undermine corporate commitments to reducing Climate Change Emissions. Do 

not agree to necessary minor amendments being made prior to consultation. This 

option is not recommended. 

7. Resource Implications 

7.1. Financial Implications 

The consultation and work towards adoption of the SPD will come from the 

Planning Policy Team. As no Examination is required for SPDs, costs will 

therefore be limited to officer time, consultation, and production costs, all within 

existing budgets.  

 

7.2. Human Resources Implications 

7.3. None 

7.4. Information Governance Implications 

7.5. None 

7.6. Links to Shaping our Future Programme 

7.7. None 

 

   

7.8. Other resource implications 

7.9. None 

Section 151 Officer comments 

Date19 November 2021 

No additional financial implications 

 

Shaping our Future Lead comments/sign-off 

Date: 11 November 2021 

This report and recommendations have no implications for the SoF programme. 

 

Page 8



  

                                                                            Page  5 of 7 

 

8. Legal Implications 

8.1. The Planning Act 2008, Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as 

amended) and the associated Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 

(England) Regulations 2012 (as amended), set out the requirements for the 

preparation of SPDs.  

8.2. The relevant Regulations require a Consultation Statement to be prepared to 

summarise who has been informed in the preparation of SPD, and to be made 

available during the public consultation. This will be provided as a supporting 

document. 

8.3. As required by the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes 

Regulations 2004 and the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 

2017, the Council undertook Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) and 

Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) screening to determine whether the 

proposed SPD should be subject to SEA and HRA Appropriate Assessment. This 

assessment is appended to this report, it concluded that there is not a need for 

SEA or a full Appropriate Assessment under the HRA.  

8.4. The SPD will come into effect on adoption and will become a material 

consideration in planning determinations where relevant. The SPD will comply 

with the adopted development plan and latest national planning policy. 

9. Risks 

Monitoring Officer comments 

Date: 24.11.21 

Legal and governance implications are set out in the legal implications section above 

Page 9



  

                                                                            Page  6 of 7 

 

9.1. No risk management considerations have been identified for this emerging 

Supplementary Planning Document. 

10. Consultation  

10.1. In accordance with Regulation 12(b) of the Town and Country Planning (Local 

Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, the draft SPD will be subject to a statutory 

minimum four-week public consultation before being recommended to full Council 

for adoption. During the consultation, the Council will invite comments by emailing 

and writing to interested parties and we will make the documents available on the 

Council website and in paper format at the deposit locations subject to Covid 

restrictions. This consultation is currently timetabled to commence in December 

2021 for six weeks. 

10.2. The consultation will be carried out in accordance with the Council’s adopted 

Statement of Community Involvement 2018. 

10.3. Following the formal consultation stage, the draft SPD will be amended to take 

account of consultation responses received and any further relevant information. 

The Initial Consultation Statement prepared to accompany the draft SPD for the 

consultation will be updated with a list of who we have consulted, a summary of 

the comments received and how those comments have been addressed in 

finalising the SPD. 

11. Communication 

11.1. The six-week public consultation will be publicised on the Council’s webpage. Key 

statutory consultees and those registered with the Council in having an interest in 

Planning consultations will be notified in line with our statutory requirements. 

12. Appendices 

12.1. Appendix 1 - Draft Climate Change and Sustainable Construction Supplementary 

Planning Document 

13. Background papers 

13.1. Joint Core Strategy 2014  

Page 10

https://cdn.easthants.gov.uk/public/documents/DP01%20East%20Hampshire%20District%20Local%20Plan%20Joint%20Core%20Strategy%20COMPLETE.pdf


  

                                                                            Page  7 of 7 

 

 

Agreed and signed off by: 

 

Portfolio Holder: Angela Glass 19.11.21 

Director: Simon Jenkins 24.11.21 

Monitoring Officer: Daniel Toohey  24.11.21 

Section 151 Officer: Lydia Morrison 23.11.21  

 

Contact Officer  

Name:  Victoria Potts 

Job Title: Planning Policy Manager 

Telephone: 01483 234212 

E-mail: victoria.potts@easthants.gov.uk  

 

 

 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 
 
The East Hampshire District Local Plan 

 
 

Draft ‘Climate Change and 
Sustainable Construction’ 
Supplementary Planning 

Document 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

December 2021  

Page 13



2 
 

Contents 

1.0 CONSULTATION 4 

2.0 INTRODUCTION 5 
What is a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)? 5 

What is the purpose of this SPD? 5 

The structure of this SPD 6 

What is Climate Change? 6 

What is the Climate Emergency? 7 

What is Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation? 7 

3.0 POLICY CONTEXT 8 
International 8 

National 8 

Local 9 

Conclusion 13 

4.0 POLICY IMPLEMENTATION 15 
Viability considerations 15 

Policies and planning application requirements 16 

What information is required? 24 

When should information be submitted? 24 

What happens if information is not provided? 25 

Other matters 25 

5.0 SUSTAINABLE DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION GUIDE 26 
Introduction 26 

Site layout, landscaping, urban form and building design 27 

Water resources 32 

Green Infrastructure and ecology 35 

Resources, materials and waste 40 

Development location and measures that enable sustainable lifestyles for 

building occupants 45 

Climate change adaptation 49 

Page 14



3 
 

The performance gap 50 

6.0 RENEWABLE AND/OR LOW-CARBON, AND LOCAL, POWER 
AND HEATING 51 
Introduction 51 

Efficient use of residual energy technologies 52 

Renewable energy and heating sources 54 

7.0 APPENDIX 1: GLOSSARY 61 

8.0 APPENDIX 2: FURTHER GUIDANCE 63 

9.0 APPENDIX 3: LOCAL PLAN POLICIES 65 

10.0 APPENDIX 4: SUSTAINABILITY CHECKLIST TEMPLATE 75 

11.0 APPENDIX 5: CARBON REDUCTION STATEMENT TEMPLATE 84 
 

Page 15



4 
 

1.0 Consultation 

1.1 The adopted East Hampshire District Local Plan Part 1: Joint Core Strategy 
sets out the development strategy for East Hampshire District (originally 
including the areas in the South Downs National Park) up until 2028. 

1.2 This draft Climate Change and Sustainable Construction Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) aims to support development to be accountable to 
the challenges of mitigating and adapting to climate change, and to address 
other sustainability issues.  

1.3 This document applies only to the 43% of the district that lies outside the 
South Downs National Park.  

1.4 This draft Climate Change and Sustainable Construction Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) is available for public consultation for a period of 
six weeks between 9am 22 December 2021 and 5pm 2 February 2022. 

1.5 Comments can be submitted: 

Through our online portal:  https://easthants.oc2.uk/ 
 
By email:     localplan@easthants.gov.uk  
 
By writing in person to: 
Planning Policy 
East Hampshire District Council, 
Penns Place, 
Petersfield,  
Hampshire, GU31 4EX 
 
Please note:  the comments received during this consultation cannot be 
treated as confidential so please do not include any personal information 
within your comments. Responses will be published on the Council’s website, 
together with the name and/or organisation name of the respondent. 
 

 

Page 16



5 
 

2.0 Introduction 

What is a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)?  

2.1 A Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) elaborates upon policies in the 
Development Plan, which in the case of East Hampshire are the ‘saved’ 
policies in the adopted East Hampshire District Local Plan Second Review 
(2006), the adopted Joint Core Strategy (2014, for the period 2011-2028), and 
the Local Plan: Housing and Employment Allocation Plans.  

2.2 This SPD primarily elaborates upon Joint Core Strategy Policies CP24, CP25, 
CP26, CP27, CP28, CP29 and CP31, and also applies to relevant Whitehill & 
Bordon Policies (CSWB) as set out in section 3.  

2.3 SPDs are a material consideration in planning decisions and decision makers 
will use them to help determine planning applications.  

2.4 As SPD’s do not form part of the development plan, they cannot introduce 
new planning policies into the development plan and should not add 
unnecessarily to the financial burdens that the Planning System places on 
development. The new emerging Local Plan will therefore incorporate new 
policies on climate change and sustainable construction which will then 
supersede this SPD. 

What is the purpose of this SPD? 

2.5 Planning policy provides an important mechanism for contributing to 
environmental sustainability in the built and natural environment1, including to 
design and deliver buildings to mitigate (reduce and ultimately eliminate) 
carbon emissions, and address how the environment is impacted by 
developed to enable people to adapt to a changing climate (also referred to 
as resilience). 

2.6 It provides guidance and advice but is relatively high level and acknowledges 
the fast pace of change in this arena, and that technologies and policies may 
change during the lifetime of the document. 

2.7 The function of this SPD is to support and supplement the planning policies 
contained in the East Hampshire Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (‘Local Plan’) 
that deal with climate change and sustainable design, construction, and 
energy. The relevant Local Plan policies are highlighted in Section 3 and 
published in full in Appendix 3. These policies must always be considered in 
conjunction with this SPD, alongside the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 
(2013).  

 
1 National planning policy (NPPF, paragraph 7) sets out that the purpose of the planning system is to 
contribute to the achievement of sustainable development and its relationship with the 17 United 
Nations Global Goals for Sustainable Development 

Page 17



6 
 

2.8 This SPD:  

• Identifies design and energy-saving/efficiency measures that can result in 
a development minimising greenhouse gas emissions and energy use and 
waste and creating places that are amenable to biodiversity and 
adaptable to a changing climate (including through the integration of 
green infrastructure).  

• Provides guidance on renewable and low-carbon energy solutions, for 
reduced reliance on fossil fuels and finite energy sources, and for efficient 
use of National Grid energy for electricity and gas.  

• Considers potential solutions to water shortages and water use efficiency 
requirements.  

• Addresses the materials and methods used in construction; and  
• Provides clear guidance for anyone applying for planning permission, or 

wishing to comment upon a planning application, as well as providing a 
consistent approach to assessing planning applications 

2.9 It is intended principally for applicants for planning permission and their 
agents, and for planning decision makers. It has been produced to ensure that 
applicants provide the right information so that planning decision makers can 
assess whether development proposals comply with Local Plan policies. 

The structure of this SPD 

2.10 Section 3 sets out the Policy context. 

2.11 Section 4 sets out the relevant planning policies, their requirements and the 
information/documents applicant need to submit with their planning 
applications to demonstrate development proposals are policy compliant. 

2.12 Section 5 provides a guide on sustainable design and construction. 

2.13 Section 6 considers opportunities for producing, storing, and using renewable 
energy on-site. 

2.14 The appendices cover supporting information and planning submission 
document templates. 

What is Climate Change? 

2.15 Climate change is the long-term shift and intensification of global weather 
patterns as a result of increasing average global temperatures from 
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions.  GHGs include carbon dioxide (CO2), 
methane (CH4), nitrous oxide (N2O) and fluorinated gases which all absorb 
infrared radiation and trap heat in the atmosphere. The acceleration of GHG 
emissions is the result of human activities from burning fossil fuels, clearing 
vegetation, and releasing industrial outputs.  The resulting temperature 
increase is leading to hotter and drier summers, warmer and wetter winters, 
and sea-level rise.  The above will produce more intensive and frequent 
weather events such as droughts, heatwaves, storms, and flooding from tidal 
and fluvial sources. 

Page 18



7 
 

What is the Climate Emergency? 

2.16 The “Climate Emergency” refers to the impacts from the intensified weather 
events mentioned above.  These impacts include risks to biodiversity, food, 
natural assets, water supply and human health and wellbeing. 

What is Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation? 

2.17 The Town and Country Planning Association (TCPA) and the Royal Town 
Planning Institute (RTPI) define climate change adaptation and mitigation as 
measures to reduce climate change impacts, and reduce greenhouse gas 
(GHG) emissions, respectively.  Adaptation comprises measures which alter 
developments and change human behaviour2 , whilst mitigation includes the 
delivery of renewable energy generation and energy efficiency improvements. 

 

 
2 This can include, but is not limited to, the delivery of Green Infrastructure (GI), local food production, 
rainwater harvesting systems, shades, shutters, and Sustainable urban Drainage Systems (SuDS). 

Page 19



8 
 

3.0 Policy context  

3.1 This chapter sets out the planning and wider policy context regarding:  

• the mitigation of the causes of climate change;  
• adaptation requirements; and  
• broader sustainability issues.  

International 

3.2 The United Nations (UN) Sustainable Development Goal 13, and the 
ratification of the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) 
Paris Agreement 2015, recognise the urgent need to hold the increase in 
global temperature to below 2OC above pre-industrial levels, and to work 
towards limiting the increase to 1.5OC.   

National  

Legislation 

3.3 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (Section 19[1A]) 3 – as 
amended by Section 182 of the Planning Act 2008 – sets out a duty for LPAs 
to include local plan policies which contribute to the mitigation of, and 
adaptation to, climate change. 

3.4 The UK Climate Change Act 2008 – as amended by the 2050 Target 
Amendment Order 20194 - commits the UK to reaching “Net Zero” by 2050.  
This means that the amount of greenhouse gases (GHGs) being emitted must 
be no more than the amount of GHGs being removed from the atmosphere. 

3.5 The “Green Future: Our 25-Year Plan to Improve the Environment” was 
published in January 20185  and sets out the Government’s approach to 
tackling climate change, as well as protecting and improving international 
biodiversity. 

National Planning Context 

3.6 Local plan policy (including the policies in the Local Plan and in this SPD) 
conforms to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) and is 
guided by the National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG).  

 
3 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents 
4 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2019/9780111187654/pdfs/ukdsiem_9780111187654_en.pdf 
5 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/69
3158/25-year-environment-
plan.pdfhttps://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_dat
a/file/693158/25-year-environment-plan.pdf 

Page 20



9 
 

3.7 The NPPF highlights the UK’s commitment to the United Nations 17 Goals for 
Sustainable Development6 and requires climate change mitigation and 
adaptation to underpin plan-making and decision-taking, within land-use 
planning. It makes clear the need for planning to facilitate a move towards 
mitigation of climate change7, including through support for renewable/ low 
carbon energy and infrastructure, and through the shaping of places to 
support reduced carbon emissions8. National planning policy also sets 
adapting to climate change as a key objective of planning9, and contains 
policy on prudent use of natural resources, including minimisation of waste, 
and reduced pollution, as well as water supply, and green infrastructure and 
how this relates to sustainability. 

3.8 The Planning Practice Guidance confirms that addressing climate change is a 
core principle of spatial planning, and that planning has an important role in 
the delivery of new renewable and low carbon energy infrastructure - in 
locations where the local environmental impact is acceptable – to help the 
transition of the UK’s energy supply away from fossil fuels. 

Building Regulations consultation 2021  

3.9 The Government consulted between October 2019 and February 2020 on 
revisions to Part L of Building Regulations which sets the standards of energy 
efficiency for new developments.  The Government published its summary of 
responses, along with its own response, in January 2021.  This set out the 
Government’s intention to: 

• Legislate for a 31% CO2 reduction in the Dwelling Emission Rate (DER) - 
compared to the Target Emission Rate (TER) in Building Regulations for 
all new dwellings - to come into force in 2022; and 

• Legislate for the Future Homes Standard (FHS) - which will require new 
homes to use 75-80% fewer carbon emissions compared to current 
Building Regulations - to come into force in 2025. 

Local 

3.10 The East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (JCS) 2011-2028 
was adopted in June 2014.  

3.11 The guidance set out within this SPD is tied to the policies within the East 
Hampshire District Local Plan. The following text sets out the relationship 
between the Local Plan’s vision and objectives, and its policies. The policies 
are set out in full in Appendix 3.  

 

 

 
6 Paragraph 7 
7 Paragraphs 8c, 153, and 154 
8 Paragraph 153 
9 Paragraphs 8 and 154 

Page 21



10 
 

Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy vision 

“…plans for an Eco-town at Whitehill & Bordon including 4,000 new homes 
(2,725 in the plan period) … 
…These four distinct areas of the district will be carefully managed to achieve 
sustainable communities within a high quality natural and built environment…” 

Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy objectives 

Objective 5)  
To make the most efficient use of land and the existing housing stock so that 
everyone has the opportunity to live in a decent, sustainably constructed and 
affordable home, which is capable of being adapted to changing personal 
needs. 
 
Objective 19)  
To plan for new development to be built to a high quality that promotes the 
use of sustainable resources in developments, in particular to minimise waste, 
increase energy efficiency in new and existing developments and to maximise 
the proportion of energy generated from renewable sources within 
environmental constraints.  
 
Objective 20)  
To protect and enhance water quality, water supply, groundwater and 
minimise the risk of flooding in the district 
 
Objective 21)  
To prevent development resulting in unacceptable levels of air, noise, land, 
light or other pollution and to ensure that new development is adequately 
protected against such pollution.  
 
Objective 22)  
To address the causes of climate change and ensure that the district is able to 
adapt to it within environmental constraints. 

Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy Whitehill & Bordon - The Eco-town 
Vision 

3.12 The vision for the Whitehill & Bordon 10Eco-town will put its outstanding 
natural environment at the heart of the regeneration.  

3.13 The ‘Eco-town Vision’ means that new facilities, leisure opportunities, jobs, 
education, infrastructure, and housing will be provided to enhance this unique 
area and create a model sustainable community that is recognised locally, 
regionally and nationally. 

 
10 Although the Eco-Town designation has since been abolished by Government, the original laudable 
objectives set out should continue although the Eco-Town status was not adopted. Subsequently 
Whitehill & Bordon is designated a Healthy New Town  

Page 22



11 
 

“The Vision is to:  
… use innovative, modern, environmentally friendly design, incorporating 
eco homes and modern methods of construction.  
 ensure that the town is regenerated in a way that encourages and enables 
us to live and work in ways that does not damage the natural resources upon 
which our society and economy depends.  
 encourage ‘One Planet’ living (living within the planet’s means) and 
encourage local food production and ‘grow your own’.  
… encourage investment by businesses and industries and will particularly 
seek out those that share our vision of a sustainable, prosperous, 
environmentally-friendly community…” 

Local Plan: Joint Core strategy Objectives for Whitehill & Bordon 

Objective WB2  
To improve the image and competitiveness of the town by encouraging the 
development of sustainable schemes to create a low carbon community. 
 
Objective WB6  
To encourage provision of a wide mix of quality low carbon housing to 
rebalance the socio-economic profile of the town. 
 
Objective WB14  
To monitor and reduce the carbon footprint of the whole town by facilitating 
environmentally sustainable design and planning.  
 
Objective WB15  
To create an attractive built environment with a distinctive character and to 
ensure that the development achieves the highest standards of sustainability 
and design. 
 
Objective WB16  
To improve the sustainability and attractiveness of the existing built-up area.  
 
Objective WB17  
To achieve water neutrality in all development areas and monitor the 
hydrological and hydro-geological regimes to ensure no adverse impact on 
the nearby European Designated sites. 

Local Plan Policies 

3.14 This SPD provides guidance for the following policies in the Joint Core 
Strategy Local Plan:  

CP24 Sustainable Construction 

CP25 Flood Risk 

CP26 Water resources/Water quality 

CP27 Pollution 

Page 23



12 
 

CP28 Green Infrastructure 

CP29 Design 

CP31 Transport 

CSWB5 Design 

CSWB6 Sustainable Construction 

CSWB7 Waste 

CSWB8 Sustainable Water Management 

CSWB10 Green Infrastructure 

CSWB12 Pedestrian and Cycle routes 

CSWB13 Public Transport 

CSWB18 Low Carbon Vehicles 

Other relevant local policy documents 

Climate and Environment Strategy 2020-2025 

3.15 The purpose of this strategy is to provide a clear statement of the Council’s 
climate and environment objectives and to set out how the Council will act to 
meet climate, environment, and sustainability challenges. The Climate and 
Environment Strategy sets out the Council’s vision, approach, and priorities 
over the next five years. There are two high level objectives for the strategy:  

• to reduce carbon emissions to net-zero by 2050;  
• to protect and enhance the local natural environment.  

3.16 The strategy outlines how the Council will reduce its emissions to net-zero, 
and how the Council will use its influence and powers as local planning 
authority to promote a sustainable low-carbon future where people and nature 
thrive. 

Hampshire County Councils Climate Change Strategy 2020-2025 

3.17 This strategy is based upon a set of key principles which will underpin the 
approach taken by Hampshire County Council. These principles will guide and 
shape the policies, actions and partnerships developed to deliver the Climate 
Change targets for Hampshire. 

“Our vision for a well-adapted and resilient Hampshire will be essential to 
ensure that Hampshire’s economy, environment, and society continues to 
thrive and prosper. 
Our policy is to focus on embedding climate resilience and mitigation across 
key policies and sectors, working with communities across Hampshire”. 

 

Page 24



13 
 

Hampshire County Council’s Minerals and Waste Plan 2011-2030 

3.18 The Plan reflects the aspirations of the Hampshire Sustainable Community 
Strategy 2008-2018 (SCS). In particular, the Plan progresses ambition 10 of 
the SCS as follows: 

“Ambition 10 ("Hampshire is acclaimed for conserving and using natural 
resources more efficiently, and for reducing and adapting to the effects of 
climate change") is specifically supported through Policy 2 ('Climate change'- 
mitigation and adaptation) and more generally through the approach on 
encouraging the use of recycled and secondary aggregates and dealing with 
waste in the most sustainable manner possible.” 

3.19 The Plan recognises that minerals and waste development can provide 
opportunities to mitigate and adapt to the inevitable effects of climate change. 
This may include:  

• reduction in greenhouse gas emissions through diverting biodegradable 
waste from landfill11;  

• generation of renewable energy from energy recovery facilities;  
• more sustainable use of resources through the use of recycled and 

secondary aggregates in construction;  
• appropriate restoration of quarries and landfill sites;  
• supplying aggregates for use in flood and coastal defences;  
• opportunities for water storage in flood zones (e.g., mineral extraction 

voids); and  
• the location of development adjacent to local markets which may provide 

opportunities to reduce emissions from or created by transport. 

3.20 Issues relating to climate change are also dealt with through other sections 
and policies in the Plan. These include sections on 'Restoration of minerals 
and waste developments', 'Flooding - risk and prevention', 'Managing traffic 
impacts' and 'Design, construction and operation of minerals and waste 
development'. 

Conclusion 

3.21 This chapter draws together a range of existing international, national, county 
and local policies which relate to climate change adaptation and mitigation, 
and sustainable construction. It sets out good practice guidelines and advice 
to assist the delivery of development schemes which meet national and local 
policies.  

3.22 It provides the wider context and the ‘lens’ to which to consider the local plan 
policies through, to support the Council’s application of these local policies 
and explain the Council’s interpretation within the changing national context, 

 
11 It should be noted that the HCC Mineral and Waste Plan was adopted in 2013, since this time, 
more waste has been diverted from landfill and waste that is not recycled is incinerated with energy 
recovery. 

Page 25



14 
 

given the discontinued use of the Code for Sustainable homes on which the 
Local Plan Policy CP24 is based. 

 

Page 26



15 
 

4.0 Policy implementation 

4.1 This section of the SPD provides guidance on the implementation of policies 
contained within the East Hampshire Joint Core Strategy (2014). It provides 
guidance on the information that needs to be submitted with planning 
applications to demonstrate compliance with policy. 

4.2 The guidance contained in this section is split into the following topic areas: 

• Energy and Carbon reduction 
• Site layout, landscaping, urban form and building design 
• Water Efficiency 
• Green Infrastructure and ecology 
• Resources, materials and waste 
• Development location and measures that enable sustainable lifestyles for 

building occupants 
• Climate change adaptation 

4.3 It is recognised that this SPD has been produced at a time of changing 
national policy, particularly in relation to carbon reduction from new 
development and measures to support electric vehicles. Changes to Building 
Regulations may have implications for the implementation of adopted policies 
in the East Hampshire District Council Local Plan. In light of this, further 
technical guidance on the implementation of affected policies may be 
produced once such changes are brought in. 

Viability considerations  

4.4 As part of the process of developing the Joint Core Strategy (2014), the 
viability of all of the policy requirements has been tested as part of the 
examination process. With regards to the policies considered by this SPD, the 
requirements set out in these policies were all found to be viable. 

4.5 Integrating sustainability considerations early in the development process can 
go some way to ensure that policy requirements can be achieved in a cost-
effective manner. Nevertheless, it is recognised that viability considerations 
can change and are influenced by many factors. Technical feasibility may also 
have a bearing on the ability of proposals to fully meet policy requirements in 
some situations. In such situations, we would strongly recommend that 
applicants seek early engagement with the council in order to consider and 
agree in principle alternative ways in which the aims of the council’s 
sustainability policies and objectives can be achieved, even if full policy 
compliance is not possible. Such an upfront approach can help to minimise 
delays after the formal submission of planning applications. 

 

 

 

Page 27



16 
 

Policies and planning application requirements  

Energy, Carbon reduction and on-site low carbon energy 

Policy overview 

Energy and carbon reduction 

4.6 In March 2019, an update to the Planning Practice Guidance clarified that 
Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) could set energy performance standards for 
new developments above Building Regulations as follows12: 

• For residential developments, LPAs can set energy performance 
standards up to the equivalent of the (withdrawn) Code for Sustainable 
Homes Level 4; and 

• For non-residential developments, LPAs are not restricted in setting 
energy performance standards above Building Regulations. 

4.7 Policy CP24 in the JCS sets carbon reduction requirements for all new 
development comprising one dwelling or more for residential development 
and comprising 500sqm or more for multi-residential and non-residential 
development. 

Residential Development 

4.8 In terms of residential development, the requirement is for all new residential 
development of one dwelling or more to achieve Code for Sustainable Homes 
Level 4.  This is the equivalent to a 19% CO2 reduction in the Dwelling 
Emission Rate (DER) compared to the Target Emission Rate (TER) in 
Building Regulations.   

4.9 Notwithstanding the above, it must be noted that in January 2021, the 
Government announced that the Future Homes Standard (FHS) – which will 
require new homes to use 75-80% fewer carbon emission compared to 
current Building Regulations – will come into force in 2025. In the meantime, 
the Government has set out its intention to legislate for a 31% CO2 reduction 
in the DER compared to the TER, and that this will come into force in 2022. 

4.10 In light of the above, the requirement is for all new homes to deliver a 
minimum of 19% CO2 reduction in the DER compared to the TER in Building 
Regulations. However, this requirement will increase when any Government 
uplifts and standards are legislated for. 

Multi-Residential and Non-Residential Development 

4.11 In terms of multi-residential and non-residential development of 500sqm or 
more, the requirement is for new development to meet the mandatory credits 
required for the achievement of BREEAM New Construction “Excellent” 
unless proven to be financially or technically unviable.  In instances where 

 
12 NPPG Paragraph: 001 Reference ID: 6-001-20140306. 

Page 28



17 
 

viability is demonstrated to be an issue, the Council will apply this policy 
requirement flexibly as follows: 

• BREEAM “Very Good” for 500 to 999sqm. 
• BREEAM “Excellent” for 1,000sqm or more. 
• A greater degree of flexibility will be considered for community uses and 

simple buildings13. 

4.12 All the above are minimum requirements and applicants are encouraged to go 
higher where possible.  In the instances that the requirements are financially 
unviable or technically unfeasible, then the applicant will need to demonstrate 
this with appropriate evidence in support of a planning application.  Moreover, 
the applicant will be expected to meet the highest percentage CO2 reduction / 
BREEAM score that is viable.  The above requires new development to follow 
the hierarchical approach to reducing energy demand and associated carbon 
emissions.  Further guidance is provided throughout Section 5. 

On-site low or zero carbon energy 

4.13 JCS Policy CP24 requires all new development comprising one dwelling or 
more, or 500sqm or more of non-residential floorspace to provide at least 10% 
of energy demand from decentralised and renewable or low carbon energy 
sources, unless it is proven that it is not feasible or viable. 

4.14 JCS Policy CP24 also requires major areas of development14 to ensure that 
their on-site renewable or low carbon energy production and resource 
efficiency is maximised. Where on-site proposals to achieve higher levels of 
carbon reduction are not feasible or viable then ‘allowable solutions15’ must be 
used. 

4.15 JCS Policy CSWB6 requires development proposals in Whitehill & Bordon to 
connect to any District heating systems, of have the infrastructure to connect 
if this is not yet installed (unless proven to be financially or technically 
unviable) 

4.16 Further guidance is provided in section 6. 

Submission requirements 

4.17 To demonstrate compliance: 

Applications for minor residential16 development must include: 
• sustainability information proportionate to the size of the development; 

 
13 Simple Buildings are defined within the BREEAM New Construction Technical Manual 
14 major areas of development’ is defined as 10 dwellings or more, or 0.5 hectares or more 
15 allowable solutions’ will be operated in accordance with the Zero Carbon Hub report 
recommendations, as developed by Government policy, to permit residual emissions to be mitigated 
between the minimum carbon compliance standards and zero carbon homes (equivalent of Code 
Level 5) by off-site means in agreement with the Local Authority. ‘Allowable Solution’ applies to water, 
energy and waste 
16 9 dwellings or less 

Page 29



18 
 

• adequate information to show how the energy and carbon requirements 
have been met in the form of design stage SAP assessments and a 
schedule of low or zero carbon energy, including its integration into the 
plans and elevations; and 

• construction management information proportionate to the size of the 
development. 

 
Applications for major residential17 development must provide: 

• a sustainability checklist  
• a Carbon Reduction Statement including design-stage SAP/SBEM data 

(Appendix 5 – Carbon reduction template); and 
• a Construction Management Statement. 

 
 

Applications for minor non- residential development18 must include: 
• sustainability information proportionate to the size of the development; 
• adequate information to show how the energy and carbon requirements 

have been met; and 
• construction management information proportionate to the size of the 

development. 
 
Applications for major non-residential development19, or major areas of 
development that do not include new homes (use class c3) must provide: 
• A sustainability checklist 
• BREEAM Pre-Assessment Estimator or Design Stage Assessment by a 

qualified assessor (for proposals of 500sqm or more of non-residential 
floorspace or multi-residential development) including BREEAM Pre-
assessment/Design Stage certification 

Site layout, landscaping, urban form and building design 

Policy overview 

4.18 Policies CP27, CP29 and CSWB5 of the JCS set out requirements in relation 
to design considerations.  All residential and minor non-residential 
developments will be expected to follow passive design principles. Multi-
residential and major non-residential developments will be expected to 
achieve the relevant BREEAM passive design analysis credit which is 
currently 1no. Ene 04 (Low Carbon Design) credit in the 2018 BREEAM New 
Construction Manual (as amended). 

4.19 Passive design relates to solar gain and natural daylighting which can be 
used to light and heat buildings by maximising the sun’s energy through the 
design, layout, and orientation of development. This can result in lower energy 
and heating bills and can be achieved by orientating buildings within 30 
degrees due south to absorb the lower winter sun. Applicants must consider 

 
17 10 dwellings or more 
18 Less than 500 sqm 
19 More than 500sqm 

Page 30



19 
 

the delivery of habitable rooms in south-facing elevations and locating non-
habitable rooms in the north facing elevations.  However, it is important to 
remember that there is a balance between maximising solar gain in the winter, 
and keeping buildings cool in the summer to avoid overheating. 

Submission requirements 

4.20 The supporting Carbon Reduction Statement must show how passive design 
has been incorporated within the proposed scheme’s layout and design. It 
must incorporate a discussion on how the orientation, shading, ventilation and 
potential overheating have been considered within the scheme, and the 
benefits of the proposed approach when compared with other solutions. It 
must also include consideration of the development’s effects upon 
neighbouring sites regarding minimising the detraction of sunlight from 
existing solar panels. It will also be necessary to submit evidence of how 
these measures have been considered within the scheme as part of the 
Sustainability Checklist submission (required as part of the application’s 
validation). 

4.21 Applicants will need to be mindful of the risk of “overheating” which is a 
continuous temperature of 24OC over a specified period of time.  If buildings 
are not appropriately delivered with shades, shutters, and ventilation, then 
occupiers will become reliant on-air conditioning (AC) systems which will use 
energy and contribute to GHG emissions and fuel poverty.  It is, therefore, 
expected that applicants assess and mitigate the risks of overheating.  The 
CIBSE’s “TM59 Design Methodology for the Assessment of Overheating Risk 
in Homes” provides best practice examples to reduce the impact of 
overheating. 

Water Resources 

Policy overview 

4.22 The Southeast is a water-stressed area.  Policies CP24 and CP26 of the JCS 
set water efficiency requirements for all new development comprising one 
dwelling or more for residential development, and 500sqm or more for non-
residential development. In light of changing national guidance, the 
requirement is for delivery of the optional higher water efficiency requirement 
in Part G of Building Regulations for a predicted internal and external mains 
water consumption of 110 litres/person/day. The Council will be supportive of 
schemes that seek to deliver a greater level of water efficiency. 

4.23 JCS Policies CP24 and CP26 require all new multi-residential development 
and non-residential development comprising 500sqm or more to meet at least 
2 credits (25% improvement on baseline based on Part G of building 
regulations) in the water consumption issue (Wat 01). This is mandatory at 
BREEAM New Construction ‘excellent’ standard. 

4.24 Further water efficiency measures beyond this including water monitoring via 
sub-metering; water leak detection; and grey water recycling and rainwater 
harvesting will be encouraged. 

Page 31



20 
 

4.25 Water efficient measures in minor non-residential development will be 
encouraged, such as the use of water efficient fittings and fixtures and 
appliances; water monitoring via sub-metering; and water leak detection. The 
Council would be supportive of proposals that meet the optional Part G of 
Building Regulations. 

4.26 Permission for water intensive developments will only be given where a 
separate supply of water can be demonstrated. Suitable drainage, for 
additional rainfall, and for prevention of sewer flooding elsewhere, will also 
need to be considered.  

4.27 All developments must show that consideration has been given to the 
implementation of Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) for surface-water 
management. Where a SuDS system is proposed this must allow for 
improved water quality; improvements for biodiversity; and enhanced amenity, 
turning the solution of potential problem into further benefit for people’s health 
and wellbeing, through often-needed access to green space, and habitats for 
wildlife. However, SuDS schemes in a groundwater protection zone or areas 
susceptible to flooding may not be appropriate. 

4.28 More information on SuDS can be obtained from Susdrain. Susdrain is a 
community that provides a range of resources for those involved in delivering 
sustainable drainage systems: https://www.susdrain.org/ 

4.29 The lead local flood authority (LLFA) must confirm the suitability of any SuDS 
schemes presented as part of development proposal. 

Submission requirements 

Applications for all residential development of one dwelling or more must 
include: 
• The completion of a water calculator (e.g., 

www.thewatercalculator.org.uk/) is needed to demonstrate the 110 or 
below target is being reached 
 

Applications for major non- residential and multi-residential development must 
include: 
• BREEAM Pre-Assessment Estimator or Design Stage Assessment by a 

qualified assessor 

4.30 For all developments, the submitted information must set out an approach to 
water management that reduces water usage and waste compared to building 
regulations and prioritises demand reduction measures over supply 
measures.  

Green Infrastructure and ecology 

Policy overview 

4.31 Joint Core Strategy Policies CP28 and CSWB10 requires access to and 
provision of green infrastructure, including landscaping and planting.  

Page 32



21 
 

4.32 All development applications need to show that green infrastructure provision 
has been considered in response to policy requirements– and also in regard 
to climate change mitigation and adaptation. Green infrastructure must be 
designed with adaptation to climate change, and contribution to passive 
design (see section 5 below), in mind, and any potential contribution to 
sustainable drainage requirements where appropriate. 

4.33 The Environment Act (2021) mandates Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) on all 
new developments and infrastructure projects. There is a clear link between 
biodiversity and climate change including the potential for climate change to 
disrupt pollination between species. 

Submission requirements 

• Sustainability checklist - The sustainability checklist contained in Appendix 
4 will assist in the preparation of development proposals and planning 
applications. 

• Carbon Reduction Statement - Removal of mature trees will need to be 
factored into the Carbon Reduction calculations 

Resources, materials and waste 

Policy overview 

Waste 

4.34 JCS Policy CP24 sets out a requirement for developments of one dwelling or 
more, multi-residential or non-residential development of 500sqm or more, 
and major areas of development20 to provide adequate land or funding for 
waste management infrastructure. This includes all physical aspects of the 
waste hierarchy, ranging from adequate refuse storage space within the 
curtilage of individual dwellings for non-recyclable, recyclable, and 
composting waste to the provision of construction material recycling and 
material recycling centres in major developments. 

4.35 Applicants for all development proposals are encouraged to minimise 
construction waste and to maximise diversion of remaining waste from landfill. 

4.36 The requirement for multi-residential or non-residential development of 
500sqm or more, and major areas of development is to achieve at least 2 of 
the BREEAM New Construction Wst 01 (Construction Waste Management) 
credits or future equivalents.  

4.37 BREEAM Wst 03 (Operational Waste) credit is mandatory for BREEAM 
excellent. 

4.38 JCS Policy CSWB7 in relation to Whitehill & Bordon provides further 
information on what should be considered as part of development proposals 
in this area. 

 
20 major areas of development’ is defined as 10 dwellings or more, or 0.5 hectares or more 

Page 33



22 
 

Materials 

4.39 The use of low carbon and well managed materials is expected in all 
developments. 

4.40 For residential developments the requirement is that applicants should set out 
what measures they are taking to maximise the use of green materials21 and 
that all construction timber is ‘Grown in Britain’ certified, or where this is not 
feasible, FSC certified. 

4.41 For non-residential and Multi residential development the requirement is that 
applicants should set out what measures they are taking to maximise the use 
of green materials (with reference to BREEAM New Construction credits for 
Major development) and that all construction timber is ‘Grown in Britain’ 
certified, or where this is not feasible, FSC certified. 

4.42 JCS Policy CSWB7 in relation to Whitehill & Bordon provides further 
information on what should be considered as part of development proposals 
in this area. 

Submission requirements 

Demolition  

4.43 Where demolition forms part of the development, a plan for the sorting and 
collection of demolition materials for reuse and recycling following the 
Institution of Civil Engineers (ICE) demolition protocol (or equivalent) will be 
required. This is best included with the planning application, or a condition will 
be applied to a future planning permission to provide such a plan before 
works commence. 

Materials 

4.44 Areas to incorporate in the sustainability statement to support the 
development include the use of only sustainably sourced22 materials in the 
project. 

Construction operations  

4.45 As part of the Construction Method Statement the types of matters to address 
could include that the builder should be registered with a considerate 
constructor’s scheme; the inclusion in the demolition and construction phases 
of dust spreading prevention measures such as watering down the site and 
using dust screens; and whether (where appropriate) there will be pollution 
containment measures. 

 
21 Green building materials are composed of renewable, rather than non-renewable resources. Green 
materials are environmentally responsible because impacts are considered over the life of the product 
22 Sustainable materials are made from resources that can be renewed or replenished quickly to keep 
up with supply and demand. 

Page 34



23 
 

Applications for all residential development of one dwelling or more must 
include: 
• a Construction Management Statement; and 
• a sustainability checklist. The Sustainability Statement must outline the 

measures that will be taken to reduce construction waste and to maximise 
the amount of construction waste that is recycled.  
 

Applications for major non- residential and multi-residential development 
must include: 
• BREEAM Pre-Assessment Estimator or Design Stage Assessment by a 

qualified assessor 

Development location and measures that enable sustainable lifestyles 
for building occupants 

Policy overview 

4.46 JCS Policies CP31, CSWB6, CSWB12, and CSWB13 set out the 
requirements in relation to sustainable transport. JCS Policy CSWB18 
specifically sets out the requirements in relation to low carbon vehicles within 
Whitehill and Bordon. 

Submission requirements 

4.47 Developers and designers must comply with the points set out in the 
sustainability checklist where appropriate (Appendix 4). 

4.48 For developments likely to generate a large amount of travel by car, transport 
assessment and/or statements are a requirement of JCS Policy CP31. If 
sustainable transport enhancements, such as travel plans, smart travel, or 
design implementations can be calculated to reduce carbon reductions from 
transport, this must be set out in the carbon reduction statement. 

Climate change adaptation 

Policy overview 

4.49 Policies of the Joint Core Strategy require climate change adaptation to be 
embedded into development proposals. The key principle is to ensure that 
adaptability is designed into all new developments from the outset, so that 
residents and building occupiers do not have to rely on complex systems and 
technologies that are expensive to maintain. It is also important to look to 
measures beyond buildings themselves, seeking opportunities within the 
landscape setting of new developments for adaptation. This will often require 
a multidisciplinary approach to design to maximise benefits, recognising the 
role of all members of the design team in responding to climate change. 

Submission requirements 

4.50 Compliance with the policy requirements must be demonstrated via the 
submission of a Sustainability Checklist alongside other relevant documents, 
for example Drainage Strategies, Landscape Strategies and Tree Surveys 

Page 35



24 
 

and Arboricultural Impact Assessments. Where appropriate, adaptation 
measures must also be shown on relevant drawings, for example where 
external shading is proposed to help reduce the risk of overheating, this 
shading must be shown on elevations. Further guidance is provided 
throughout section 5. 

What information is required? 

Sustainability Checklist 

4.51 This checklist helps to ensure that all relevant information has been submitted 
with a planning application, to reduce delays. It has been designed to assist 
applicants to review their approaches to sustainability in the design of 
proposals for the re/development. Applicants are expected to work through 
this during the preparation of the planning application, starting from the pre-
app consultation and engagement with planning officers (Appendix 4).  

Carbon Reduction Statement 

4.52 The Carbon Reduction Statement (Appendix 5) is in two parts, the first of 
which assesses the carbon emissions for each unit in the scheme, and the 
second is an accompanying statement where the applicant must define the 
proposed carbon-reduction solutions for the development. This must include 
SAP or SBEM calculations as appendices. 

Construction Management Statements 

4.53 A Construction Management Statement will be required for some 
developments to address various impacts in relation to water, waste, noise 
and vibration, dust, emissions and odours, ground contamination and soil 
pollution, wildlife and features and heritage/archaeology. This should be 
discussed with planning officers at the pre-application stage. 

When should information be submitted? 

4.54 For full plans applications, the information referred to must be provided with 
the planning application at the point of submission. The process of producing 
the information must inform emerging proposals and help to steer them 
towards sustainable outcomes, so it is necessary that the information is 
produced at an early stage before the planning application is submitted.  

4.55 For outline planning applications, the information submitted with the 
application must cover any matters covered by the outline plan. For example, 
if an outline plan includes a site layout, it must be accompanied by information 
setting out how the layout complies with the matters set out in policy and this 
SPD (e.g., how the layout is designed to reduce energy consumption, adapt to 
climate change, etc.) The level of detail within submitted information should 
be proportionate to the level of detail within the application. 

4.56 For reserved matters planning applications, the information submitted with the 
application must cover any matters covered by the reserved matters 

Page 36



25 
 

application. For example, if an application includes details of the buildings that 
will be constructed, it must be accompanied by information showing how the 
construction will comply with the matters that relate to buildings (e.g., energy 
and carbon performance, water efficiency, construction and demolition waste 
management etc.).  

4.57 The local planning application requirements document will be updated to 
reflect these timings in due course. The document can be found here: Local 
Reqs (easthants.gov.uk) 

What happens if information is not provided?  

4.58 The information described above is required for decision makers to assess 
whether the climate change and sustainable development requirements set 
out in planning policy have been met. If the required information is not 
provided at the right time, it is likely that decision makers will be unable to 
conclude that the proposal is compliant with planning policy and planning 
permission will be refused.  

Other matters  

4.59 When granting planning permission, the Council will apply conditions requiring 
work to be carried out in accordance with the proposals and measures set out 
in the submitted Carbon Reduction Statement and sustainability 
checklist/information. Such conditions will be provided in supporting guidance 
and kept up to date and published on the Council’s webpages. 

4.60 Any documents submitted to support a planning application should have text 
that can be highlighted and copied throughout (i.e., the text should not be an 
image of a page, and the file must not be restricted or encrypted to prevent 
the copying of text). This is because decision makers may need to copy 
information from the document (e.g., to check calculations) or to search the 
document for specific references. 

 

Page 37



26 
 

5.0 Sustainable design and construction guide  

Introduction  

5.1 This guide highlights the key sustainable design and construction and climate 
change adaptation principles and matters that development proposals must 
take into account (alongside good design, place-making and other 
considerations). The guidance should not be considered exhaustive; bodies 
such as the Building Research Establishment and the UK Green Building 
Council provide extensive guidance covering a range of matters and issues 
related to sustainable development. The guidance that follows sets out 
approaches that are considered to be good practice. However, there may be 
instances where local circumstances mean that a greater sustainability benefit 
can be achieved by taking a different approach. 

Relevant local plan policies 

5.2 Joint Core Strategy policies, in particular Policies CP24, CP26, CP29, CP31, 
CSWB6, CSWB7, CSWB8 and CSWB18 set a number of requirements 
covering sustainable design and construction matters. This section provides 
guidance on those matters and sets out the information that applicants must 
submit so that decision makers can assess whether the schemes comply with 
Local Plan policy.  

Energy Hierarchy 

5.3 The energy hierarchy (see Figure 1) is a fundamental principle of sustainable 
development. It shows the sequence of steps that must be taken order to 
reduce operational carbon emissions from new developments.  The hierarchy 
is often summarised as “be lean, be clean, be green”. 

 
 

Figure 1: The energy hierarchy 

5.4 In the first instance, energy demand must be eliminated where possible (“Be 
lean”).  Where energy demand cannot be eliminated, energy use must be 
reduced as much as possible through energy efficiency measures (“Be 

Page 38



27 
 

clean”). After these steps, the remaining energy demand must be met from 
renewable and/or low carbon energy sources (“Be green”). Please see 
Section 6 for further information on the latter. The development industry often 
uses the phrase “fabric first”.  This means that before considering renewable 
and/or low carbon energy sources, energy demand must first be reduced by; 
1) maximising performance of the components which make up the building 
fabric (i.e., materials); and 2) designing the building to make best use of the 
surrounding environment. 

5.5 Once energy need is reduced as far as possible, and as much of the 
remaining energy need has been met through low and zero carbon energy, 
schemes seeking to deliver zero carbon development can offset any 
remaining carbon emissions through actions that either prevent an equivalent 
amount of carbon being released or remove an equivalent amount of carbon 
from the atmosphere. Examples of offsetting include funding projects that 
promote tree planting to sequester atmospheric carbon, or projects that 
support renewable energy and energy efficiency in other places. Offsetting, 
which falls at the final stage of the energy hierarchy, is an option of last 
resort23.  

5.6 When considering a proposal that includes offsetting, decision makers will 
consider:  

• what the offsetting projects are; 
• who is running them and how they are run;  
• the expected life of proposed measures (including the expected term for 

carbon sequestration);  
• whether the projected carbon savings are realistic, match the amount of 

carbon to be offset and how this has been determined; and  
• whether the offsetting measures are truly additional to the development. 

Zero emissions24 development  

5.7 Proposals for zero emissions development are required under JCS Policy 
CP2425. Zero emissions, for the purposes of the policy, means that emissions 
from all regulated energy use are eliminated or offset26. Regulated energy 
refers to energy from building systems (e.g., heating, lighting, hot water) as 
opposed to unregulated emissions that refers to energy from other sources, 
like appliances.  

Site layout, landscaping, urban form and building design 

5.8 Planning can be a powerful mechanism for reducing the energy requirements 
and related emissions associated with a development, through influencing 

 
23 In line with JCS Policy CP24 “allowable solutions” 
24 Zero emissions in relation to Building Regulations issues (i.e., zero emissions from heating, hot 
water, ventilation and lighting) 
25 In line with the principles of the Code for sustainable Homes Level 5. 
26 ‘Allowable solutions’ in line with Policy CP24 

Page 39



28 
 

factors such as the orientation of buildings and the layout of sites27. 
Development can be configured to achieve maximum benefit from natural 
resources, such as daylight, solar energy, and cooling breezes, simply 
through the layout/arrangement of buildings on a site; and this achieves a 
‘win-win’ solution to sustainable development28. It can also create healthier 
living environments, for example, through maximising access to daylight 
within rooms, and reducing the need for air-conditioning – and associated 
noise. Other measures include insulation. This is known as passive design. 

5.9 Similarly, the glazing or paint colour of a building can significantly reduce its 
carbon footprint, reducing or eliminating energy needs, and ensuring a high 
quality of insultation will achieve immediate reductions in the need for energy.  

5.10 Furthermore, passive design can help with adaptation to climate change; 
buildings can be designed to utilise natural features of the environment, 
including the weather, to assist with cooling or heating, and to be resilient to 
more extreme weather conditions. 

Site layout, landscaping, urban form 

5.11 The layout of buildings and facilities, particularly for larger sites, can affect the 
amount of natural or shared heat and light available for energy efficiencies, 
and this is best considered at the design stage alongside and in balance with 
other design considerations, such as local distinctiveness, and the aesthetic 
quality of the development. For large29 scale developments, including new 
communities the council encourages BREEAM Communities30. 

5.12 Where possible, taller buildings should be placed towards the northern section 
of a site to reduce the effect of shadowing across the site – but this should not 
be done in a regimented or artificial manner, subject to landscape concerns, 
and should be applied where it will provide overall benefits. Similarly, parking 
facilities such as garages can usefully be placed towards the north of 
buildings for similar reasons (e.g., to allow solar receipts to be maximised in 
southerly orientated living spaces), provided they do not harm the amenities 
of neighbouring sites and land uses. However, parking-dominated frontages 
should be avoided. (Please see section 3 of the Council’s Vehicle Parking 
Standards SPD.)  

5.13 The relationship between buildings and open spaces is important to create a 
quality public realm and a comfortable microclimate for people using outdoor 
spaces. Wrongly positioned buildings can result in excessive shadowing and 
little solar gain on external surfaces. Well positioned buildings will create 
spaces that maximise receipts of natural light and heat. The arrangement of 
buildings on sites should also be considered to strike a balance between 
gaining an optimum level of natural heat and light, including also considering 
efficiencies of reduced loss of heat through compact development, whilst 

 
27 National Planning Policy Framework, paragraphs 150 and 153 – and 131 re innovation 
28 National Planning Practice Guidance, paragraph 004/ Reference ID: 6-004-20140612 
29 100 dwellings or more 
30 BREEAM Communities 

Page 40



29 
 

avoiding contributing to the Urban Heat Island Effect in locations where this 
might be an issue.  

5.14 Well placed deciduous trees can increase the shading and natural cooling of 
buildings and spaces during the summer months and allow more natural light 
and heat to be received during the winter months, after the leaves have fallen 
and when demand for heating and lighting is highest. Tree planting can also 
be used to shelter buildings from the wind and minimise unwanted cooling. 

5.15 Planting can be used to create a more favourable microclimate and help to 
manage flood risk; strategically sited tree belts can provide shelter from 
prevailing winds and shade in the summer without blocking light in the winter.  

5.16 The prevailing wind should be a consideration in site design as exposure to 
cold winds will increase heat loss and energy use. Conversely in the summer, 
gentle breezes can be used positively within design to enhance natural 
ventilation improving comfort levels and reducing energy use on mechanical 
cooling systems. Shelter belts (wind breaks) may be used to protect buildings 
from excessive winds. Shelter belts should be dense enough to reduce wind 
speeds by allowing some wind to pass through but not block the wind in its 
entirety, as this can result in an airflow accelerating over the top of the trees 
and descending in a turbulent fashion on the building. 

5.17 However, as sites are configured to allow for optimum benefit from the sun’s 
power and for adapting to climate change, the siting of solar panels and 
arrays on buildings in the vicinity of the site also need to be considered (in the 
same way as neighbouring amenities) and this may therefore inhibit the 
preferred choice of design/layout for the new development.  

Building design  

Flexibility and adaptation  

5.18 Buildings should be designed from the outset to be flexible to accommodate 
changing needs31 (including family size, home working, old age and disability). 
This will reduce the need for refurbishment and extensions and will prolong 
the life of the building. Alongside this, buildings built today will need to 
become zero carbon in the future. Buildings should be designed to enable, 
and not impede, future retrofit measures that improve energy efficiency or 
allow the use of zero carbon energy.  

Passive solar gain, passive cooling and overheating  

5.19 Passive solar gain refers to the process whereby a building is heated by the 
sun, either directly from sunlight passing through a window and heating the 
inside of the building, or indirectly as sunlight warms the external fabric of the 
building and the heat travels to the interior. The level of passive solar gain can 
significantly impact upon the quality of a building, how it is used, and the 

 
31 In line with the principles of JCS Policy CP29 

Page 41



30 
 

energy needed for it to be inhabited comfortably. Passive solar gain can 
reduce the need for mechanical heating, which in turn reduces energy use 
and carbon emissions.  

5.20 Key factors that influence passive solar gain include the physical 
characteristics of the site, immediate surroundings, orientation of buildings, 
external design, internal layout and the construction materials used.  

5.21 Whilst passive solar gain can reduce the carbon emissions associated with 
heating, if used incorrectly it can lead to overheating, which in turn can lead to 
the installation of mechanical cooling equipment (e.g., air conditioning). 
Mechanical cooling increases energy consumption and requires maintenance, 
resulting in costs and carbon emissions. Mechanical cooling units also 
produce heat that requires dissipation. The need for mechanical cooling can 
be avoided or lessened by designing-in passive ventilation and passive 
cooling measures. Developments should not incorporate mechanical cooling 
unless passive measures have been fully explored and appraised and 
proposals that include mechanical cooling should clearly demonstrate that 
passive measures would not be adequate.  

5.22 The following list includes some of the key considerations in the design of new 
schemes: 

• Orientation and layout of habitable rooms, and window size and 
orientation, should be carefully considered in relation to the path of the 
sun.  

• Rooms that are most frequently occupied should benefit from a southerly 
aspect, but with appropriate measures to avoid overheating.  

• Rooms that include a concentration of heat generating appliances (e.g., 
kitchens) or are less frequently occupied (e.g., bathrooms) should be 
located in the cooler part of the building, generally the northern side.  

• Conservatories and atria can be used to assist natural ventilation in the 
summer by drawing warm air upward to roof vents, and to collect heat 
during the spring and autumn.  

• Deep projections that overshadow windows should be avoided, 
particularly on south facing elevations. Projections should be sized 
appropriately so that they provide shading from the sun during the hottest 
part of the year but allow solar gain in the colder months.  

• Where there is a chance that overheating can occur (e.g., due to large 
expanses of glazing on roofs and south facing elevations), design 
measures such as roof overhangs, brise soleil, external shuttering, 
photochromatic and thermochromic glass and a lighter colour palette can 
help.  

• Zonal heating and ventilation systems and controls can be used allowing 
areas subject to high solar gain to occupy their own temperature control 
zone. Dynamic controls reduce energy waste.  

• Use of materials to build in thermal mass to absorb excess heat during 
warmer periods and release it slowly during cooler periods (e.g., 
day/night, summer/winter).  

• Buildings should be designed for passive ventilation:  

Page 42



31 
 

• cross ventilation with windows located on opposite walls and/or roof 
mounted turbines or wind cowls that assist with circulation of air by 
drawing air through windows or top floor openings and  

• passive stack ventilation (PSV) that uses pressure differences to draw in 
fresh air from outside to replace rising warm air which is released from the 
top of the building. A heat exchanger can be placed where the air escapes 
the building to reduce heat loss. 

Natural light  

5.23 Natural lighting reduces the energy used for artificial lighting and creates a 
healthier internal environment. Issues to consider include how much of the 
sky is visible through a window, the dimensions of the interior living/working 
space and distance from the window, and the proportion of glazed surfaces. 
Applicants must consider potential negative impacts on the dark night skies 
reserve in the SDNP and nocturnal species. The depth of the room is an 
important factor in determining the amount of natural light received. Naturally 
dark rooms may be lit naturally through measures such as sun tubes which 
‘pipe’ sunlight from sunny areas to internal areas.  

5.24 Non-residential buildings must be designed to best meet their intended use. 
Natural light is beneficial to a good working environment, but care is needed 
to avoid creating spaces with excessive heat gain. This could occur if solar 
gain is combined with the heat associated with internal lighting, high 
occupancy and operating equipment such as machinery and computers. A 
higher proportion of glazing on north facing surfaces can increase natural 
lighting without significantly increasing solar gain, thereby minimising 
excessive heat gain.  

5.25 Glare created by natural or artificial light can be uncomfortable for people both 
inside and outside a building. This can be minimised if considered early in the 
design process through building layout (e.g., low eaves height) or building 
design (e.g., blinds, brise soleil screening). If considered together with a 
lighting strategy this can reduce energy consumption. 

Insulation  

5.26 Around half of the heat lost in a typical home is through the walls and roof 
spaces. Increasing insulation levels significantly beyond current building 
regulations requirements is the cheapest and most effective method of 
reducing CO2 emissions, and energy needs. It requires minimal maintenance 
and should last the life of the building. It reduces heat losses and gains 
through the fabric of the building and minimises the costs of heating and 
cooling systems. Buildings are kept warmer in the winter and cooler in the 
summer. Insulation measures include:  

• Loft insulation;  
• Tanks and pipe insulation;  
• Cavity wall insulation;  
• Solid wall insulation;  
• Floor insulation;  

Page 43



32 
 

• Draught proofing; and  
• Double and triple glazing.  

5.27 However, as with all measures, this should be weighed against other design 
considerations. In particular, the use of solid wall insulation should be avoided 
where this can affect the appearance of traditional brickwork and tile-
hangings.  

5.28 Thermal insulation is measured using ‘U values’. The U value is a measure of 
how readily heat will flow through the structure. The lower the U value, the 
less heat is transferred through the fabric of the building. An increased 
thickness of insulating materials will increase energy efficiency and reduce the 
U value. More information on home insulation can be found at the Energy 
Saving Trust. 

Water resources  

Water efficiency 

5.29 Policies CP24, CP26 and CSWB8 require water efficiency in new 
development to meet a standard currently higher than the national standard. 
Therefore, for residential development, as a minimum, the standard is the 
‘optional Building Regulation’ for water efficiency in new dwellings32, which is 
110 litres33 per day per person, or a tighter standard if one becomes available 
nationally. If a new, tighter national standard is introduced, this will be adopted 
automatically by virtue of Policy CP24.  

5.30 Developers will be required to meet the BREEAM standards for water-
efficiency for all non-residential developments34.  

5.31 All developments must seek to reduce demand through efficiency measures, 
and then meet remaining demand from sustainable sources wherever 
possible.  

Water saving measures/reducing water use  

5.32 Development, whether new construction or change of use and refurbishment, 
can save water by including measures such as:  

• systems for greywater reuse  
• aerated washbasin/kitchen taps and shower heads,  
• tapered and low-capacity baths,  
• sensor and low flush toilets,  
• shower timers, and  

 
32 The standard is set out in regulation 36(b) of the Building Regulations 2010 (as amended) 
33 the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) also includes an additional standard for 105 litres 
per head per day, with an additional five litres provided for gardens 
34 As per the requirements of Policy CP24 that all non-residential development of over 500sqm should 
meet BREEAM standard ‘excellent’. 

Page 44



33 
 

• water efficient white goods and appliances such as washing machines 
and dishwashers.  

5.33 Water use during construction can be reduced through measures including:  

• closed loop wheel washers,  
• waterless wheel washing using angled steel grids to remove debris,  
• high pressure low volume power hoses,  
• recirculating water where possible,  
• limiting the water used for flushing building services by stopping it as soon 

as the flush water turns clear, and  
• employing a regime for monitoring water use and water waste.  

5.34 For all new dwellings, a completed “water efficiency calculator for new 
dwellings” worksheet that accords with Part G of the building regulations’ 
Approved Documents must be provided prior to occupation. The calculation 
must demonstrate that the new dwellings will achieve a maximum water 
usage of 110 litres per person per day. 

5.35 For water-intensive developments, such as golf courses, it will be necessary 
that the supply of water can be shown to be independent of public and 
environmental water stocks, for example through collection of rainwater. 

5.36 Saving water during construction must be considered, especially where a lot 
of water will be required. This may include the use of off-site construction 
methods, which can save water35.Applications will need to show how water 
will be saved – in line with the requirements of Policies CP24, CP26 and 
CSWB8. 

Rainwater harvesting  

5.37 Rainwater harvesting is the collection of rainwater directly from a surface it 
falls on (e.g., a roof). Once collected and stored it can be used for non-
potable36 purposes such as watering gardens, supplying washing machines 
and flushing toilets, thereby reducing consumption of potable water. Potable 
water is produced through a purification process and is pumped over large 
distances, both of which require energy and result in embodied carbon that is 
not present in water harvested locally. In a residential development, rainwater 
can be captured for domestic use using water butts connected to a down pipe. 
Larger systems can use water stored in underground water tanks.  

5.38 Schemes must be designed to include space for water storage. In residential 
developments, down pipes must be carefully placed so that water collection 
and use is convenient for residents. 

Greywater re-use  

 
35 Such as ‘modern methods of construction’ https://www.rics.org/globalassets/rics-
website/media/news/news--opinion/modern-methods-  of construction-paper-rics.pdf 
36 Potable water is water that is of drinking quality 

Page 45



34 
 

5.39 Water that is recycled from bathrooms and kitchens for non-potable uses is 
known as greywater. Greywater systems must ensure treatment on a regular 
basis to prevent a build-up of bacteria, and some systems are powered, which 
entails an energy cost. As a result, greywater reuse is generally less 
preferable than water use minimisation measures.  

5.40 Water recycling systems are better suited to new developments rather than 
retrofitting in existing buildings because of the excavation required for storage 
tanks and changes needed to the plumbing system, and they are generally 
more cost effective for new developments and developments of a larger scale. 

5.41 Recycling systems should be backed up by a mains supply or a sufficiently 
large reserve storage system to meet higher demands during dry spells. 
Storage tanks will need an overflow to allow excess water to be released 
which should be able to flow into a soakaway. 

Flood-risk, water run-off and Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) 

5.42 Flood-risk will increase with climate change. Furthermore, through increased 
development and higher building densities water runoff will become more 
restricted further increasing the risk of flooding. 

5.43 Some potential measures to ameliorate these issues have been addressed in 
regard to trees and planting in section ‘Green Infrastructure and ecology’ of 
this SPD, but in addition it may be necessary to include attenuation measures 
in new developments, including ponds or even rainwater gardens. Green 
roofs may assist in avoidance of rainwater pooling. Advice on sustainable 
drainage systems (SuDS) for new developments can be found at Hampshire 
County Council. 

5.44 To address heavy rainfall events, buildings must be prepared with suitable 
gutters and pipes for more intensive events, and green walls and roofs can 
also be included for slowing the rate at which water is dispelled from 
buildings. All hard surfacing in new developments including 
footways/pavements, internal roads, car parking, etc, should be permeable 
enough to allow for a soaking away of surface water and prevention of water 
run-off and flash-flooding. This also allows for ground-water stocks to be 
replenished helping to maintain water supplies during drought events. 

5.45 Developers will also be required to show that consideration has been given to 
ensuring that sewers will not be overwhelmed and cause flooding. Suitable 
drainage systems will need to be in place to avoid this, including Sustainable 
Drainage Systems (SuDS). As well as ameliorating flood-risk, SuDS can by 
their very nature address wildlife and habitats needs; improve water quality; 
and provide for recreation and amenity. 

5.46 National policy covers flooding and flood risk, and the National Planning 
Practice Guidance provides guidance on how national policy should be 
applied. Policy CP26 also covers flooding and flood risk. Under national 
policy, some developments are required to produce a Flood Risk Assessment. 
When doing so, they must make an allowance for climate change, in 

Page 46



35 
 

accordance with Environment Agency guidance: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-assessments-climate-change-
allowances 

5.47 SuDS should be the primary source of surface water management under JCS 
Policies CP25 and CSWB8). Where SuDS are not proposed as the primary 
source of surface water management, a clear reasoning setting out why it 
would not be appropriate or effective should be provided. 

Green Infrastructure and ecology 

5.48 Green Infrastructure (GI)37 including ‘blue’ infrastructure (ponds and rivers) is 
an important part of providing sustainable developments. It provides a broad 
range of benefits over time to occupiers/users (including exercise and access 
to nature for mental health38 and biodiversity), and it can assist in mitigating 
climate change – for example through carbon capture - and adapting to 
changes in weather, as well as well as helping to improve air quality. 
However, green infrastructure may itself be susceptible to climate change and 
must be considered early in the design stage.  

5.49 Mitigation of, and adaptation to, climate change using green infrastructure can 
be achieved through shading and shielding from the elements; insulation; 
assisting with rain-water run-off; and providing refuge from heat. This can also 
assist wildlife through provision of enhanced habitats in the context of a 
changing climate, some of which need boosting, such as those assisting 
pollinating creatures. 

Greening for carbon capture and cleaner air (sequestration) 

5.50 Green infrastructure can assist in the reduction of carbon emitted through 
developments and associated infrastructure such as roads (from vehicles), 
through its ability to ‘capture’ residual atmospheric CO2, via leaves. Trees are 
able to absorb carbon dioxide from the air and store it within the wood of the 
tree39. This process also allows for the capture of other harmful air pollutants, 
such as particles, creating healthier environments for residents/users of the 
development and beyond. 

5.51 Carbon capture (and capture of other harmful pollutants) can be achieved 
through providing any planting – in open spaces, streets, or attached to walls 
and roofs40 - that can capture particles and carbon and must be included 
within landscaping schemes for larger developments. Hedgerows, and also 
wetlands, where appropriate, have been shown to be very effective in some 
cases for absorbing carbon.  

 
37 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) defines green infrastructure as ‘a network of multi-
functional greenspace, urban and rural, which is capable of delivering a wide range of environmental 
and quality of life benefits for local communities.’ 
38 https://warwick.ac.uk/newsandevents/pressreleases/green_space_is 
39 Leeds University study I Tree Leeds – Putting a value on the city’s trees and green spaces (part of 
Leeds4Trees joint project) 
40 Though structural and insurance considerations need to be taken into account with these 

Page 47



36 
 

5.52 Large, mature trees are one of the most successful for carbon capture41, so 
existing trees should be preserved, if appropriate, in developments and 
landscaping designs, wherever possible. (Additionally, the canopies should be 
maintained and not excessively pruned during the tree’s lifetime, to allow for 
the most beneficial effects, in capturing greenhouse gases and particles.) Any 
development proposal that sets out the need to remove a mature tree will 
need to include that tree’s carbon removal loss in the Carbon Reduction 
Statement and make provision to counter this elsewhere. (The amount of 
carbon stored away by a tree can be calculated through the tree’s 
dimensions, and carbon calculators exist to establish how much the tree’s 
contribution to carbon removal is.) Evergreen trees will also be helpful as part 
of planting and landscaping plans, to help with this process during the winter 
months.  

5.53 Tree planting is particularly beneficial close to busy roads for capturing 
particles and carbon. Development of new roads, or on busy roads, should 
include tree planting for improving the character and quality of the public 
realm, as well as for health benefits, where this is safe to do so. This must 
always be approved by Hampshire County Council as the Highways Authority. 
Only suitable approved species should be used.  

5.54 It will be important to ensure that planting is included in the most appropriate 
places in terms of soil types and water supply; large trees can need a large 
water supply to flourish, and also possibly particular types of uncompacted or 
aerated soil. The inclusion of local and native species is also important – and 
also the appropriate mix of tree species. Additionally, the trees will need 
maintenance to ensure that carbon is not released back into the air, for 
example through decay or burning.  

Cooling/shading - greenspace and tree canopy  

5.55 The required provision of open space within new developments must carefully 
address the need for adaptation to hotter temperatures. This can be done 
through the cooling effects of green infrastructure via evapotranspiration, 
which absorbs and reduces the energy of heat as water evaporates from 
leaves and grass. 

5.56 Trees and shrubs should be a focus for landscaping designs, and adequate 
greenspace and greening will be required as part of denser urban 
developments, where the cooling effects will be most needed as temperatures 
rise42. Water features (blue infrastructure) can also enhance these cooling 
greenspace features43, as well as providing calming and relaxing places for 
people, as building development becomes denser.  

5.57 Designs for required green spaces within/associated with new developments, 
and the developments’ landscaping schemes, will also need to have 

 
41 Leeds University study I Tree Leeds – Putting a value on the city’s trees and green spaces (part of 
Leeds4Trees joint project) 
42 According to NE/RSPB - Climate Change Adaptation Manual (NE751, Edition 2) (2020) 
43 NE/RSPB - Climate Change Adaptation Manual (NE751, Edition 2) (2020) 

Page 48



37 
 

considered how even small spaces can provide shading for people and 
animals, to ensure that the environment is shaped for the future to be suitable 
for different weather patterns; shading in green space should be a focus of 
landscaping designs, according to the Natural England adaptation manual. 
Alongside provision for people and domestic animals such as dogs/cats, 
designs should usefully provide vegetation or other structures that could be 
used by wildlife such as small creatures or birds.  

5.58 Trees should be considered for landscaping designs to provide shading for 
people and wildlife, and species with a denser foliage, or which provide a 
dappled shade, should be considered44, such as London Plane, Field Maple, 
or Oak. Strategically placed trees within developments should also be 
considered for providing shade on routes and on green corridors, in public 
spaces, or in streets, and especially for areas with large expanses of hard 
surfacing, such as car parks. 

Green roofs and walls – cooling buildings and their environments and 
providing habitats  

5.59 The design of buildings can incorporate the use of green roofs and/or walls. A 
green roof or wall is a part of a building that is covered completely or partially 
with vegetation or something that is growing. They can be referred to as 
‘intensive’ (which are used to grow food or provide formalised green spaces), 
or as ‘extensive’ (which are more natural and may support wildflowers)45. 
They are planted over a waterproof membrane, and may also include a root 
barrier layer, and drainage/irrigation systems, and should always be 
considered very early on in the design of buildings to allow for additional 
loads, especially where this may retain water.  

5.60 Green roofs and walls can be useful for: enhancing the efficacy of solar 
panels46, as PV panels allow patches of shade and wet/dry47; providing 
insulation; cooling buildings and lowering urban air temperatures; and 
absorbing rainwater, alongside being aesthetically pleasing and providing 
habitats for wildlife48. However, there can be drawbacks, including the need to 
factor in additional weights to buildings designs, and designing green walls 
that do not provide a climbing route for intruders to the building. 

Cooling buildings and their local environments 

5.61 Developments must be designed to be as resilient to rising temperatures as 
possible, and it will be expected that applications can show that this has been 
considered, not just through the design of buildings within their environments, 

 
44 NE/RSPB - Climate Change Adaptation Manual (NE751, Edition 2) (2020) 
45 Natural England/RSPB – Climate Change Adaptation Manual (NE751, Edition 2) (2020) – Evidence 
to support nature conservation in a changing climate 
46 NE/RSPB - Climate Change Adaptation Manual (NE751, Edition 2) (2020) - Chemisana & 
Lamnatou 2014; Tomazin 2016 
47 Livingroofs.org 
48 Natural England/RSPB – Climate Change Adaptation Manual (NE751, Edition 2) (2020) – Evidence 
to support nature conservation in a changing climate 

Page 49



38 
 

but also in how environmental features have been included in the design to 
enhance natural cooling.  

5.62 Green roofs and walls can reduce ambient temperatures around buildings – 
something that should be considered, especially regarding potential effects 
now and in the future of the Urban Heat Island effect. Greening on the 
outsides of buildings, whether roofs or walls, can allow heat/light that would 
otherwise be absorbed into the building’s fabric and radiated back outwards to 
be intercepted. This process works through lowering the night-time heat 
radiating out from buildings, which has gathered throughout the day49.  

5.63 An additional sustainability benefit to the greening of buildings, is that it can 
reduce noise pollution (in and outside of buildings)50. 

Green infrastructure and drainage/water storage 

5.64 The government’s Environment Plan (2018)51 promotes a move toward 
natural flood-risk management. This is rooted in the Water Framework 
Directive which seeks to prevent deterioration of the water environment and 
improve water quality by managing water in natural river basin districts. 
Where there is likely to be excess surface water within developments, 
strategically placed street trees can assist in managing this, as well as 
improving pollution levels from surface water. Trees can provide natural 
solutions to flood attenuation. This needs to be in conjunction with sub-
surface water retention systems under the paving, allowing water to collect 
and be used by the trees, before the excess passes to the drains52.  

5.65 Where there is likely to be an issue with a large amount of rainwater run-off 
from buildings in a small amount of time (as rainfall events become more 
substantial), green roofs and walls, can be considered for ameliorating this 
through retaining water in the roof’s substrate and allowing it to re-evaporate 
into the atmosphere. An additional benefit of this, for the health of the 
environment and people, is that contaminants in rainwater can also be 
retained, and acidic rainwater neutralised53.  

5.66 The Environment Agency are promoting Urban Blue Corridors. These 
represent a new way of thinking about opportunities and solutions to urban 
flood risk management and can be applied at the strategic as well as at a 
master-planning site-specific scale. It should be highlighted that a potential 
benefit or design element of green infrastructure is the provision of increased 
flood storage that can link with the enhancement of biodiversity as well as 
economic benefits.  

5.67 Green infrastructure also contributes to the reduction of water pollution, by 
exploiting the natural processes of sedimentation, filtration and biodegradation 

 
49 NE/RSPB - Climate Change Adaptation Manual (NE751, Edition 2) (2020) 
50 NE/RSPB - Climate Change Adaptation Manual (NE751, Edition 2) (2020) 
51 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/25-year-environment-plan 
52 NE/RSPB - Climate Change Adaptation Manual (NE751, Edition 2) (2020) 
53 NE/RSPB - Climate Change Adaptation Manual (NE751, Edition 2) (2020) – Berndtsson, 2010 

Page 50



39 
 

to remove pollutants. Increased surface permeability may also make a small 
contribution to recharge of groundwater supplies, helping to maintain water 
levels over the year and reduce the risk of drought over the summer months. 
Further advice for developers from the Environment Agency can be found at: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/developers-get-env  ironmental advice-on-your-
planning-proposals 

Adaptation to climate changes – habitats, planting, and landscapes 

5.68 Flora and fauna may also be susceptible to changes in climate, and there is 
evidence that this is starting to happen, for example the rapid drying-out of 
wetlands, heathlands, and aquatic areas54. By 2050 Climate change could 
significantly impact a range of species and habitats. Already some native 
species and pollinators are under threat. Effective design of green 
infrastructure will need to take account of changing wildlife habitats as a result 
of climate change.  

5.69 Some native species are tolerant to climate changes and should be 
considered as part of the planting proposal for a scheme. However, there are 
some notable less tolerant exceptions to this. 

5.70 Climate change has implications for the historic natural environment and 
landscapes, which could create both opportunities and/or loss; some flora and 
fauna may be able to expand its habitat range, but those currently at the 
threshold of their tolerance for environmental conditions may be lost.  

5.71 Hotter, drier conditions may also increase the risk of fire, particularly for 
upland landscapes. Flood water inundation and saturation can also damage 
historic buildings and designed landscapes, particularly if standing water 
conditions persist. Extreme weather, changes in temperature and future water 
availability will likely alter the character of parks and gardens, whose 
particular species are part of their appeal.  

5.72 Therefore, schemes for redevelopment will need to address these needs as 
part of landscaping and planting schemes.  

5.73 Natural England/RSPB’s Climate Change Adaptation Manual (2020) suggests 
providing for a ‘matrix’ of habitats, catering for a diverse range of species. 
Planting should incorporate cool and shaded areas of ‘refuge’ for wildlife 
during hot/dry periods, and water should be included in designs for the benefit 
of animals and people. Also, where appropriate, wetlands or semi-natural 
habitats should be considered.  

5.74 Invertebrates can thrive with the provision of green roofs, and these can also 
provide linkages between habitats for birds or flying insects55 – so depending 
on the siting of the development this should be considered. For the best 
attenuation of water, habitats with greater diversity of species perform better, 

 
54 Natural England Climate change, biodiversity and Nature-based Solutions 
55 Natural England/RSPB http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5679197848862720 

Page 51



40 
 

whilst supporting greater biodiversity56, and assistance to wildlife can also be 
integrated into schemes for sustainable drainage systems (SuDS).  

5.75 The choice of planting will need to reflect the weather conditions that are likely 
to be prevalent in coming years, for example drought-tolerant planting is likely 
to be most successful in drought conditions57. Therefore, indigenous plant 
species – or those with local characteristics - should be considered for 
planting in landscaping schemes, where these are suitable for soil conditions 
and climate, and offer benefits for wildlife.  

5.76 In general, it will be prudent to consider a changing climate in all schemes, 
with a view to ‘future-proofing’ the district’s green infrastructure and 
landscapes, though many native species have a wide temperature range and 
distribution.  

Preserving local ecology/trees in the design of developments 

5.77 Natural England’s guide to climate adaptation also notes the importance of 
brownfield sites to biodiversity, and how this can be lost through development. 
Therefore, where a site is redeveloped into a more urban form, applications 
should show how compensatory habitat has been considered. This could be 
through the provision of green walls or roof areas that can support wildlife; 
provision of tree belts and planting in gardens and car parks.  

5.78 New developments should retain existing trees and plants, and schemes 
should where possible be built around existing trees (in particular mature 
trees). A ‘scorched Earth’ approach to design should be avoided. 

Greenspace for renewables  

5.79 Greenspaces, for example in school grounds, provide space that can be used 
for renewable energy sourcing (see section 6, regarding ground-source heat 
pumps), that is unobtrusive. These can supply local buildings (e.g., schools; 
swimming pools) with heat and district heating systems can be used to 
transfer heat. This may also be a suitable way to contribute to renewables for 
housing developments. 

Resources, materials and waste 

5.80 The issues of efficiency in the use of mineral resources, waste minimisation 
and reuse of buildings and materials are closely linked. Large amounts of 
waste can be avoided, and consumption of new materials can be reduced, by 
refurbishing, retrofitting and repurposing existing buildings rather than 
demolishing them and rebuilding. 

5.81 New developments must apply the principles of the waste hierarchy (see 
Figure 2) and seek to eliminate waste as the first step, reuse waste as the 
second step, send waste materials for recycling/reclamation as a third step 

 
56 Natural England/RSPB http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5679197848862720 
57 Natural England/RSPB http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5679197848862720 

Page 52



41 
 

and ensure waste is sent for energy recovery or safe disposal as a last resort, 
depending on the material.  

 
 
Figure 2: The Waste Hierarchy (Defra) 

5.82 Construction and demolition are important considerations in the drive to 
reduce carbon emissions and pollution, and to reduce wastage of resources 
and pressure on landfill. This section of the SPD sets out key areas for 
construction companies and developers to address, potentially as part of a 
planning application/ planning condition, and in regard to Construction 
Management. These are:  

• Materials;  
• Demolition (and re-use);  
• Reducing Embodied Carbon; and 
• Construction operations. 

 

Materials 

5.83 Responsible sourcing and use of materials in construction can play an 
important part in reducing carbon emissions and wastage. Managing a 
product from the point at which a material is mined or harvested in its raw 
state, through to manufacture and processing, to use, re-use and recycling, 
until its final disposal as waste, all have a role to play.  

5.84 BRE Global has developed a framework standard for the responsible sourcing 
of construction products, and there are a number of certification schemes 
which seek to increase both public and industry confidence that risks are 
being minimised or avoided. Their use ensures that specifiers are able to 
demonstrate the responsible nature of their selection decisions. 

 

Page 53



42 
 

Embodied carbon and energy 

5.85 Embodied energy and embodied carbon are key considerations in sustainable 
development.  

5.86 Embodied carbon is a term used for making an assessment regarding a 
building’s greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions’ footprint (which includes carbon 
dioxide). Depending on the scope of the assessment, it will include the total 
emissions generated through the various processes necessary to create the 
building, including the extraction/manufacture/processing of materials, and the 
transportation and assembly of these and all related elements/products used 
in the building’s construction. It may also include the maintenance and 
replacements of parts, and the building’s final disassembly and parts disposal.  

5.87 Embodied carbon does not include the operational elements of running the 
building; it is concerned with the building’s construction and fabric. It is 
sometimes referred to as ‘capital carbon’.125 Embodied carbon assessments 
are an emerging requirement influencing the selection of construction material 
and are likely to become normal practice as the country moves towards zero 
carbon. 

5.88 EHDC will be supportive of all measures to consider the embodied carbon of 
materials used within the built environment, including the specification of 
building materials with lower embodied energy and through the application of 
embodied carbon assessments. This may include the use of modern methods 
of construction, such as pre-constructed building elements. 

Sustainable sourcing of materials (including local and re-use) 

5.89 The construction industry is the single largest user of materials in the UK58 
and 10% of national energy consumption is used in the production and 
transport of construction materials and construction products. There are many 
environmental impacts associated with the production and transfer of building 
materials including CO2 emissions; water pollution; habitat loss/deforestation; 
fossil-fuel depletion; and use of precious water resources. 

5.90 The Council will require applicants for building schemes within the district to 
demonstrate that the selection of materials for use in the scheme has been 
carried out with due regard to the potential for use of local recyclable 
materials in the first instance, and then with regard to the use of locally-
manufactured/produced materials (to reduce emissions from transport of 
goods) in line with the protocols set out in accredited certification schemes. 
These cover the use of recycled materials within schemes, and the use of 
sustainable procurement plans to support the use of responsibly sourced 
materials including from local sources. 

 

 
58 Equating to 420 million tonnes every year 

Page 54



43 
 

Ethical materials selection  

5.91 There are a number of certification schemes that seek to increase confidence 
in the responsible nature of selection decisions regarding construction 
materials. This may include the use of legally harvested and traded timber 
and the use of recognised certification schemes for other construction 
materials such as the Forest Stewardship Council (FSC). 

Choice of building materials for durability 

5.92 Scheme proposals will need to show that the selection of building materials 
for construction will be long-lasting and durable, minimising the need for 
frequent replacement incurring additional wastage, use of materials, energy 
needs, and associated emissions. 

5.93 Proposals will need to show the rationale for the building materials selected 
taking account of what they are being used for and the conditions they will be 
exposed to (such as frequent traffic, pollution, weather and extremes of 
temperature). This will reduce the amount of building material needed to 
maintain a building. Various certification schemes cover this requirement. 

Demolition and reclamation of building materials (and waste stream 
management) 

5.94 The most sustainable solution, and the one that would in most cases have the 
lowest construction carbon emissions, is to re-use any existing buildings 
(either all or some of the structures on the site), and it may be possible to 
achieve other environmental objectives (such as improving energy efficiency) 
by small additions and adaptations to the fabric (such as new window fittings 
and extra insulation). 

5.95 Whilst the demolition of buildings and structures and the clearance of the site 
will be an essential element for many construction projects, this needs to be 
undertaken in a sustainable way. The re-use of demolition materials on-site 
where possible, such as for aggregate, fill or landscaping, or as part of new 
structures, helps reduce carbon emissions and waste, and it will be necessary 
for this to be set out as part of the Construction Method Statement. 

5.96 Materials that it may be possible to salvage and re-use from demolition may 
include bricks; wood (from buildings); asphalt (from roads and roofing 
shingles); gypsum (the main component of drywall); metals (such as copper 
and steel); glass; and some plastics, all of which should be salvaged as far as 
possible. Similarly, it may be possible to salvage components of buildings, 
such as: doors; windows; and plumbing fixtures. 

5.97 As well as building materials and components, there may also be some 
natural materials that will be salvageable as a by-product of site-clearance 
which might include trees, stumps, earth and rocks. 

5.98 How this salvage work is managed on site, and how materials and 
components are re-used, is crucial to reducing carbon emissions and other 

Page 55



44 
 

pollution, and reducing the wastage of resources/pressure on landfill. The 
Institution of Civil Engineers (ICE) have published a demolition protocol59, 
developed in collaboration with the Resource Sustainability Initiative and the 
Chartered Institution of Wastes Management (CIWM), which provides 
methods to assess and recover demolition material, as well as specifying 
recovered (recycled & reclaimed) material in new build. 

5.99 Protocols for the collection of demolition (or other surplus) materials for 
recycling in other schemes are clearly set out in a number of certification 
schemes and the Council will require schemes to adhere to this so that 
materials can be sustainably re-used where possible. 

ICE Demolition Protocol from the Institute of Civil Engineers 

5.100 This useful protocol incorporates information in the reduction of waste ending 
up in landfill sites (and the costs associated with this), and the sustainable use 
of resources through use of recycled materials. 

Construction operations 

5.101 All construction sites must be carefully managed to prevent environmental 
damage and pollution, including the careful prevention of sediment and 
chemicals from being washed into waterways including via roads/drains; and 
the production of excess dust, noise/light, and vibrations, causing disturbance 
to surrounding properties and wildlife. Mud on roads and pavements can 
become very slippery and dangerous unless cleaned off regularly. 

5.102 Planning conditions will be used to control impacts from the construction of 
new development. This may include restrictions on hours of operation and 
construction. Conditions will also cover the type of machinery used, and 
construction/delivery hours. Applicants will also be required to prepare a 
Construction Method Statement to show how the construction will be 
undertaken including incorporating the measures outlined in this SPD.  

5.103 Aware of the challenges that construction can have on the wider community, a 
national Considerate Constructors Scheme has been created by the industry. 
The scheme is a voluntary code of considerate practice, to which participating 
construction companies can sign up their sites. Registered sites should do all 
they can to reduce any negative effect they have on the environment, and 
should work in an environmentally conscious, sustainable manner. They 
should provide clean, appropriate facilities for those who work on them 
comparable to any other working environment and should do all they can to 
reduce any negative impact they may have on the area in which they are 
working. 

5.104 Construction companies working in the district are encouraged to follow best 
practice or preferably become registered in such schemes. Modern forms of 
prefabricated construction are supported as they can be a highly efficient way 

 
59 https://www.ice.org.uk/ 

Page 56



45 
 

of construction, consume less water, facilitate the reduction of embodied 
carbon, and reduce carbon emission. 

Development location and measures that enable sustainable 
lifestyles for building occupants  

5.105 The selection of location for a new development is an important element in the 
sustainability of that development depending on its use – in particular the 
opportunity to minimise the need to travel using a vehicle60. The approach to 
this is set out as part of the Joint Core Strategy and is not addressed through 
this SPD.  

5.106 However, it is important to consider the linkages between a development and 
adjoining areas, and how these can be enhanced to facilitate active travel and 
reduce car use61 to create places that are sustainable - reducing greenhouse 
gas and other harmful emissions - and adaptable to climate change.  

5.107 This section of the SPD sets out measures that can be considered for 
achieving this aim but is limited to the design of developments for transport. 
Local Plan Policy CP31 sets out requirements for transport assessments (TA) 
and travel plans where necessary (for developments likely to generate 
significant movement) and includes requirements for contributions to local 
public transport facilities where necessary. 

5.108 There are many measures that can be included in developments that enable 
the occupants of the new buildings (whether employees, residents or others) 
to live lifestyles that are more sustainable, such as the 20-minute 
neighbourhood62. The following measures should not be considered 
exhaustive.  

Accessibility to local services and public transport (larger 
developments)  

5.109 All developments should be designed with residents’ or users’ access to other 
facilities and services - and to wider public transport services - in mind63, 
facilitating walking and cycling, or reduce the length of vehicle trips – thereby 
cutting greenhouse and other polluting emissions and need for energy 
supplies. This can also contribute to the wider sustainability objectives of 
providing opportunities for healthy lifestyles, and opportunities for those 
without access to cars. ‘Accessible places’ is included as one of the ten 
characteristics of a well-designed place in the National Design Guide. Options 
for travel for those without cars should always be considered. 

5.110 For residential developments this should include access to schools, local retail 
and community services, and public transport/cycle route links to wider 

 
60 As set out in JCS Policy CP31 
61 JCS Policy CP31 
62 https://www.tcpa.org.uk/the-20-minute-neighbourhood 
63 JCS Policy CP31 

Page 57



46 
 

facilities, and for employment sites, access to public transport/cycle route links 
to surrounding areas should be designed into the scheme. Where travel plans 
are required, this can include provision such as mini-bus links to stations. 

Site permeability (larger developments) 

5.111 Pedestrian and cycle – and public transport - access through and beyond 
larger sites should be planned at the outset as part of the design of the 
development. The site’s permeability should not only facilitate access for 
residents/users of the site, but also other pedestrians and cyclists where the 
site is large enough to block routes – or could enable access that was not 
previously available, to improve the wider network. 

Facilitating active travel options 

5.112 Providing for ‘active’ travel, such as walking and cycling, can include provision 
of dedicated pedestrian and cycle routes through sites or contributions 
to/connections with other routes. It should also include secure parking for 
bicycles and/or shower/storage facilities, and the design of streets to make 
walking or cycling more safe or convivial.  

Dedicated pedestrian and cycle routes  

5.113 For larger sites, safe pedestrian and cycle routes through the development – 
and connecting to wider networks – should be incorporated. This should 
include connections to green infrastructure leisure networks, or routes 
enabling access to schools (for residential developments), service centres, or 
wider public transport.  

5.114 Pedestrian routes to services and facilities in particular need to be as direct as 
possible – and the provision of a dedicated route should be included where 
the design of a development means that the roads take circuitous routes.  

5.115 Routes provided should be convenient, safe, and legible, for all ages and 
abilities to use, with appropriate signage, lighting and overlooking. They 
should also be convivial, where possible, with the provision of seating for 
pedestrians, and planting.  

5.116 Pedestrian and cycle routes should also avoid areas of potential flooding 
within sites and provide natural shelter from the sun and rain (for climate 
adaptation).  

Street design (large sites) 

5.117 The design of roads within larger sites should be approached with regard to 
how pedestrians and cyclists can use them safely and conveniently, although 
this should be integrated with a consideration of a street’s important 
contribution to the design and character of the area. Street design will also 
need to be sensitive to local character in relation to building lines, the height-
to-width ratios of roads and the inclusion of green infrastructure, such as trees 
and shrubs. The visual relationships between homes, plot frontages and 
streets are important for respecting or improving the local sense of place.  

Page 58



47 
 

5.118 A holistic consideration of climate-responsive design and local character is 
particularly important in respect of clear, legible, attractive and safe routes to 
schools and local services. Proposals should address the need for crossings 
points (pelican crossings for areas likely to be busier, and centre refuges) and 
consider the design of junctions of residential streets with main roads, 
avoiding large visibility splays that make crossing the ends of roads difficult for 
pedestrians.it is sometimes also possible to include raised level crossings 
across these.  

5.119 20mph zones may be suitable for some residential development, but there are 
likely to be better alternatives, or even Home Zones where vehicle access 
would be limited and safe spaces for children to play outside would be 
created. In suitable residential developments, sensitive parking designs can 
be used to slow traffic speeds and provide aesthetic appeal, for example 
through the use of planter schemes. This needs to be carefully balanced 
against potential air quality issues which can result from lower vehicle speeds 
or additional waiting and circulating.  

Bicycle parking, and storage 

5.120 Adequate parking for bicycles should be provided for users/residents and 
visitors to developments, depending upon their size and function, and this 
should be secure, preferably covered, and sensitively screened, for example 
through the use of planting schemes. Requirements for cycle parking are set 
out in the Council’s Vehicle Parking Standards SPD. 

Electric vehicle charging points 

5.121 The UK Government has announced a ban on the sale of new petrol and 
diesel cars and vans from 2030, with hybrid vehicles allowed to be sold until 
2035.  This provides impetus for the Council to seek the delivery of electric 
vehicle (EV) charging points in all new developments in line with National 
Planning Policy, and in Whitehill & Bordon as required by Policy CWWB18 in 
the JCS. 

5.122 Electric vehicles (EV) do not emit NO2 or polluting particulates from exhaust 
pipes – although some particles are still generated from the use of tyres – and 
can reduce GHG emissions further where the source of electricity is 
decarbonised. 

5.123 It is recommended that all new development provides EV charging points or 
where this is not possible, provides the relevant infrastructure feed into the 
buildings in preparation for the transition to EV.   

5.124 The charging points should be located in safe, accessible, and convenient 
locations, and should be designed to be discrete and avoid obtrusiveness and 
clutter, whilst also avoiding any light pollution effects.  The developer may 
need to plan for increased power supplies and should provide the advance 
provision of cabling and ducting in line with national planning policy. 

Page 59



48 
 

5.125 There are different types of charging points, and the most appropriate designs 
will need to be addressed for the sites and types of developments in question.  
The Government expects the home to be central to the future EV charging 
network as charging EV at home overnight using a dedicated charge point is 
generally cheaper and more convenient for consumers.   

5.126 For residential development, a “Type 2” socket may be appropriate and will 
need to be designed to allow for vehicle-to-grid (V2G) operation.  The charge 
points must have a minimum power rating output of 7kW – unless technology 
advances and this advice is superseded – and be fitted with a universal 
socket that can charge all types of EV currently on the market whilst meeting 
relevant safety and accessibility requirements. 

5.127 For non-residential development, the above may also be appropriate unless 
the need for faster charging would beneficial and/or required. 

5.128 Further technical information – including “Electric vehicle charging in 
residential and non-residential buildings” and “Annex C Draft Technical 
Guidance” - can be found here: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/electric‐vehicle‐chargepoints‐in‐
residential‐ and‐non‐residential‐buildings. 

Reduced travel through internet connections  

5.129 Use of technology can greatly help reduce the need to travel. This has been 
highlighted during the Covid 19 pandemic as many switched to using 
conference call technologies to communicate. This greatly helped to reduce 
climate change emissions. The Council therefore encourages greater 
broadband connection and 5G to support homeworking. 

Energy demand reduction 

5.130 Buildings can be designed to remove the need for appliances. For example, 
by providing space to dry clothes naturally, the need for a dryer is reduced. 
Adequately sized and well-located windows reduce the need for artificial 
lighting during the day and daylight systems (e.g., sun tunnels, fibre optics) 
can deliver natural light to areas that are too deep within a building for 
windows to be effective. 

5.131 Self-regulating smart meters and smart controls on heating, lighting and 
appliances can reduce energy waste. These devices measure, control and 
optimise the use of energy, delivering benefits including: 

• maximising consumption of locally generated energy, 
• reduce energy costs by responding to time-of-use tariffs,  
• enable and optimise the use of smart energy grids by providing demand 

response services to grid and network operators, and 
• provide useful feedback to the building occupant that helps them to 

improve efficiency. 

 

Page 60



49 
 

Recycling storage 

5.132 Internal and external storage areas for recycling purposes should be 
integrated into a development. To future proof developments, recycling 
storage space should be adequate to allow the occupants of buildings to 
separate their recyclable waste, taking into account the size of recycling 
material containers, the frequency of collection and an allowance for seasonal 
variation. For commercial developments, space should be allowed for the 
collection and storage of bulk material for recycling. The proposed refuse and 
recycling storage points should be identified when detailed plans are 
submitted. 

Community food growing 

5.133 Community food growing spaces help achieve sustainable development in the 
following ways: 

• locally grown food reduces food miles, lowering embodied carbon and 
contributing to  

• improved air quality, 
• vegetated open spaces reduce the urban heat island effect, 
• the permeable surfaces of food growing spaces and the harvesting of 

rainwater contribute  
• to sustainable drainage, and 
• rooftop gardens provide accessible open space in high-density 

developments. 

5.134 The guidance document “Good planning for good food - using planning policy 
for local and sustainable food” (2011), prepared by Sustain, explores how 
local authorities and communities can use planning policy and decisions to 
create more local and sustainable food systems. The report is available at: 
https://www.sustainweb.org/publications/good_planning_for_good_food 

5.135 The inclusion of community composting facilities can increase the 
sustainability of community food growing by reducing the amount of organic 
waste transported off site and the amount of compost transported into the site. 

Climate change adaptation 

5.136 Developments must be fit for purpose and remain so into the future, in line 
with JCS Policy CP24. They must incorporate adaptations, and be adaptable, 
for a changing climate and changing weather patterns in order to avoid 
increased vulnerability and to offer high levels of resilience to the full range of 
expected climate change impacts including hotter and drier summers, warmer 
and wetter winters, and an increase in heavy rain, storm events and flooding. 
Further detail of the expected impacts can be seen in a number of 
publications from respected sources such as the UK Climate Change Risk 
Assessment 2017 Evidence Report Summary for England published by the 
Committee on Climate Change. https://www.theccc.org.uk/tackling-climate-
change/preparing-for-climate-change/uk-climate-change-risk-assessment-
2017/national-summaries/england/ 

Page 61



50 
 

5.137 Development proposals must set out the climate change adaptation measures 
that have been taken and demonstrate that they are appropriate and 
adequate to meet the challenge of climate change.  

5.138 Further detail on these aspects is provided throughout this SPD including 
ways to address: 

• the urban heat island through for example the choice of materials, and the 
use of green and blue features 

• The hotter, drier summers and heatwaves through for example designing 
buildings to maximise the opportunities for natural ventilation, cooling and 
lighting, and through the choice of materials 

• Wetter winters and heavy rainfall events through for example the 
management of surface water, the use of natural or permeable surfaces, 
the use of green roofs and walls 

The performance gap 

5.139 The “performance gap” relates to evidence that the energy performance of 
new “as built” development (in operation) is around 20% lower than that 
agreed at the planning / design stage.  This can be remediated through post-
construction testing and post-occupancy monitoring by identifying and 
remediating problems during the construction stage and, where appropriate, 
correcting occupant behaviour. 

5.140 In attempting to reduce the performance gap, the Council will require post-
construction testing and post-occupancy monitoring through planning 
conditions (as appropriate) on major developments to ensure “as-built” 
performance matches the calculated “design” performance assessment. 

5.141 The Council strongly encourages applicant to use the following schemes 
which seek to address the performance gap: 

• BRE’s Bridging the Design and Innovation Gap (BRIDG);  
• BRE’s NABERS which focuses on energy-use in new office development;  
• BEPIT’s Better Building Tool Kit; and/or 
• NEF’s Assured Performance Toolkit. 

Page 62



51 
 

6.0 Renewable and/or low-carbon, and local, power and 
heating 

Introduction 

6.1 Once the demand for energy has been minimised, the heating and cooling 
energy demands for the development must be assessed in regard to the 
energy requirements of surrounding land uses, as efficiencies between uses 
in proximity may be achievable. This also applies to land uses within larger 
developments. Measures to consider may include a connection to district 
heating networks or onsite combined heat and power (CHP) systems.  

6.2 This Chapter considers opportunities for producing, storing and using 
renewable energy on-site. 

6.3 To help meet national and international64 targets for reducing emissions of 
greenhouse gases, including carbon, and to ensure constant energy supplies, 
there is a need to further reduce or eliminate the burning of fossil fuels, such 
as gas, for power and heat65, and this chapter provides advice on how this 
can be achieved in new developments. The installation of gas boilers in new 
homes will be phased out in coming years (by 202566) and replacement 
boilers phased out by 2035, providing essential impetus to plan for suitable 
alternatives in new development, such as hydrogen fuel boilers. 

6.4 The technologies set out present a variety of approaches to contributing to a 
reduction in the use of fossil fuels for energy. The first section looks at 
systems of heating and power that aim to harness the residual energy from 
other processes, thus creating efficiencies in the existing use of energy – 
whether fossil fuels or renewables. This includes systems such as Combined 
Heat and Power (CHP) systems, district heating, and thermal storage. The 
second part considers the use of renewable technologies such as solar and 
wind power, and measures such as heat pumps or solar for direct heating.  

6.5 There is also a need to reduce energy wastage through grid-transmission, 
which can be achieved through greater use of locally-generated power – and 
all the systems set out in this section can contribute to this objective. This 
section also touches upon requirements for those considering setting up 
renewables technology farms or stations. 

6.6 It is, however, worth noting that over the past ten years these technologies 
have continued to evolve into more efficient and robust systems. Furthermore, 
with growing competition, prices of the improving products have continued to 
fall in real terms and the onsite delivery know-how and skillset continues to 
grow year on year. Since the 2013 Building Regulation amendments, there is 

 
64 https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement/the-paris-agreement 
65 Targets have been largely met so far by changes to national electricity generation, according to the 
UK’s Climate Change Committee. 
66 https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/science-environment-47559920 

Page 63



52 
 

even more impetus to ensure that developments are low carbon, a 
requirement that is going to continue to intensify. 

Efficient use of residual energy technologies 

6.7 The middle tier of the Energy Hierarchy encourages the use of technologies 
that are able to make use of locally available energy that would otherwise 
have been wasted, to produce heat and energy, thereby to reducing the 
overall level of carbon emissions. These technologies produce some carbon 
emissions but at lower rate than traditional means such as existing domestic 
gas or oil fuelled central heating boilers or the use of large grid-based 
systems which lose in the region of 26 terawatts per hour in the transmission 
process67.  

6.8 These types of energy sources include connections to district heat and 
cooling systems or combined heat and power systems (CHP), micro-
combined heat and power systems (MCHP) (set out below), some forms of 
thermal storage systems and waste-management to create renewable energy, 
such as anaerobic digestion. However, it should be noted that new 
developments must be aiming to reduce carbon emissions to zero where 
possible, for example through the use of renewable technologies such as heat 
pumps. 

6.9 Applicants should have regard to the Council’s Renewable and Low Carbon 
Study 201868, which assesses the technical potential for renewable energy 
within the district and where different renewable energy technologies and low 
carbon sources are most suitable within the district; undertakes a landscape 
sensitivity assessment for various scales of wind and solar energy 
development and assesses the options for enhanced building energy 
performance standards. 

Decentralised Energy Supply 

6.10 Decentralised energy is a broad term for a range of low-carbon technologies 
and sources either on or near site which, together, can service a local 
building, community, or development.  Examples include, but are not limited 
to, District Heat and Cooling Systems, and Combined Heat and Power (CHP). 

District Heat and Cooling Systems  

6.11 District heat and cooling systems are well-established and use highly 
insulated pipes to distribute excess heat generated from a centralised location 
– i.e., existing industrial processes, or heat produced by traditional boilers or 
incinerators - to surrounding non-residential and residential premises. 

 

 
67 https://www.statista.com/statistics/322834/transmission-distribution-and-other-losses-of-the-public-
electricity-distribution-system-in-the-united-kingdom-uk/ 
68 Renewable and Low Carbon Study for the East Hampshire District (easthants.gov.uk) 

Page 64



53 
 

Combined Heat and Power (CHP)  

6.12 CHP is a highly efficient process (over 80 per cent) that captures and utilizes 
the heat that is a by-product of the electricity generation process and would 
otherwise be wasted, reducing the need for additional fuel to be burnt. By 
generating heat and power simultaneously, CHP can reduce carbon 
emissions by up to 30% compared to the separate means of conventional 
generation via a power station and then a boiler. The heat generated during 
this process is supplied to an appropriately matched heat demand whose 
needs would otherwise be met by a conventional boiler. 

6.13 For many larger developments, CHP is the measure that offers the most 
significant single opportunity to reduce energy costs and improve 
environmental performance, reducing carbon emissions by around 30% 
typically. Furthermore, transmission and distribution losses are reduced and 
there is increased fuel supply security. Therefore, the Government supports 
the development of CHP and has set up a free service, CHP Focus, providing 
the necessary information and online tools to assist developers, including a 
Site Assessment Tool, the UK CHP Development Map, and a CHP Scheme 
Database. 

6.14 The UK CHP Development Map provides a useful starting point for developing 
CHP. 

6.15 However, CHP does have some challenges with regard to the location of the 
facility and the associated flue, and impacts upon air quality, noise and visual 
amenities, all of which need to be carefully considered when using this 
technology; for example schemes using CHP will be unlikely to be given 
permission in areas – or where it could affect areas – already affected by poor 
air quality issues, such as Air Quality Management Areas (AQMA). 

6.16 CHP plants need permanent availability of access, and there are also issues 
surrounding developing and connecting to the network and setting aside paths 
for future expansion - including ducting to accommodate future upgrades, 
which need to be considered early in the design of the scheme. 

Micro-CHP (Micro Combined Heat and Power)  

6.17 Micro-CHP boilers are designed to generate all the heating and hot water and 
a significant percentage of the electricity needed by a typical home. Such 
technology can significantly reduce carbon emissions. They also benefit from 
increased efficiency as they generate electricity directly on site, therefore 
avoiding the transmission losses that occur when power is taken from the 
grid. 

6.18 Micro CHP is generally considered permitted development where the works 
are internal. There are design requirements in conservation areas. 

 

 

Page 65



54 
 

Renewable energy and heating sources 

6.19 Renewable energy is energy ‘generated from natural resources such as the 
sun, wind, and water, using technology which ensures that the energy stores 
are naturally replenished’ 69. Low-carbon energy technologies do not always 
draw upon renewable sources but can aid the demand for energy and reduce 
carbon emissions. At least 10% of expected energy usage must be from 
renewable or low-carbon generation, unless it can be shown not to be viable.  

6.20 A sample of renewable technology options for heating and power are set out 
below. 

6.21 It will be necessary to carefully consider appropriate technologies and 
systems to compliment the development. Whilst each have benefits regarding 
sustainability, there are also limitations for each, as set out in the descriptions 
below. Specialist advice should be sought to design the most effective 
solution for the development.  

Renewable electricity sources  

Solar Photovoltaic Panels 

6.22 To reduce or off-set CO2 emissions generated by the use of mains electricity 
the most cost-efficient method of reducing CO2 emissions is often by 
installing photovoltaic (PV) solar panels or tiles. 

6.23 The installation of PV on the roof of most new houses should achieve the 20% 
CO2 reduction figure in almost all cases. For non-residential buildings this will 
be more variable, according to available roof area and the predicted building 
use. PV systems are described in terms of the amount of power they generate 
(kWp). Domestic PV arrays typically range from 1 to 4kWp which might 
require a roof area of approximately 8- 28 sqm respectively. This may be a 
conservative estimate of the power generated per square metre and the 
efficiency of PV is improving every year. 

6.24 In some circumstances, there may be visual impact considerations that make 
solar panels inappropriate. This may be because of the sensitivity of the site 
and the potential visual impact on the landscape. Where PV is visible from the 
public realm, building integrated systems (for instance set within the roof or as 
rain screen cladding on walls) are preferred to bolt on panels. Where visual 
impact is an issue (such as in conservation areas) PV tiles may be more 
acceptable than PV panels and panels on ancillary buildings such as garages, 
stores and sheds may be less prominent. All solar panels must be of an 
appropriate design and the Council encourages the use of PV panels of a 
design and colour that are sensitive to the existing building and surrounding 
area’s character.  For more innovative solar panels and tiles, e.g., see, for 
example: www.gb-sol.co.uk/default.htm 

 
69 https://energysavingtrust.org.uk/ 

Page 66



55 
 

6.25 The cost of PV has been dropping rapidly in recent years and the efficiency of 
the panels and tiles is increasing every year. For more information on solar 
panels see: www.which.co.uk/reviews/solar-panels/article/solar-panels/how-
does-solar-pv-work 

6.26 As can be seen from the table below the ideal roof would be facing due south 
and would be at an angle of 30-40 degrees. Angles facing due east or west 
will have only approximately 85% of the solar collection efficiency which 
means that approximately 18% more solar panels are needed to generate the 
same amount of electricity 

 

Solar collection efficiency due to orientation and roof angle 

Solar thermal heating 

6.27 While solar photovoltaic panels use the energy from the sun to generate 
electricity, solar thermal panels use the sun to heat up water and therefore 
usually offset carbon emissions due to mains gas water heating. Now that 
electricity and gas unit emissions are nearly equivalent, the emissions due to 
mains gas, typically used for space and water heating, are becoming more 
significant. Solar thermal panels are less effective in the winter months but 
can often provide all the hot water needed in the summer months. 

6.28 The way a solar thermal panel works is quite simple. It absorbs the heat from 
the sun with panels that are called collectors. The heated water or heat-
transfer fluid then runs from the collectors to the hot water cylinder. 

Solar Photovoltaic – Thermal 

6.29 Solar Photovoltaic-Thermal (PV-T) is a hybrid solar panel combining the 
functionality of solar thermal collectors and solar PV in one panel. The panels 
create not only electricity but also produce hot water for use in the home. 

6.30  As with PV, where there is likely to be significant overshadowing from 
existing or proposed large trees or from neighbouring structures, solar water 
heating may be much less feasible. 

 

Page 67



56 
 

Bio-solar/Smart Green Infrastructure 

6.31 The efficiency of solar panels can be enhanced when combined with the 
provision of green/living roofs70. Evapotranspiration from a green roof can 
keep PV panels closer to an optimum temperature of around 25 degrees C71, 
and the greenery can also keep dust and air-pollution at bay, so that dust 
levels affecting the panels would be lower than on a bare roof in the same 
location72.  

Wind turbines  

6.32 Wind turbines harness energy from the wind which can be converted into 
electricity for homes and businesses.  

6.33 Wind energy is a very sustainable renewable resource with no associated 
carbon emissions or air pollutants. There are two types of wind turbine – 
those that are free-standing on a pole located in an exposed position, and 
smaller ones mounted onto a building. The amount of electricity generated is 
dependent on the strength of the wind, and the size of the wind turbine; wind 
speed inconsistencies can create problems, and realistically the best locations 
are often on hill ridges where the winds are more constant. Electricity 
generated in this way can be stored in specially designed storage systems 
such as batteries (see below), for use when there is less wind. 

6.34 Nonetheless there are a number of important planning issues that will need to 
be considered, including the impacts of noise and vibration and visual impacts 
on neighbouring properties, Conservation Areas, the setting of listed 
buildings, the setting of the South Downs National Park, and wildlife.  

Renewable heating technologies 

Heat pumps 

6.35 Heat pumps need electricity to run, and so an element of carbon may be 
required.  The pumps extract heat from the air, ground, or water to heat a 
building.  The ratio of electrical energy required to run the pump, compared to 
the heat energy produced, is called the Co-efficient of Performance (CoP).  In 
terms of sustainability, the heat generated outweighs the electricity 
requirements. 

6.36 There are three different types of heat pumps as follows. 

 

 

 
70 Chemisana & Lamnatou 2014; Tomazin 2016 - Natural England/RSPB – Climate Change 
Adaptation Manual (NE751, Edition 2) (2020) – Evidence to support nature conservation in a 
changing climate 
71 Information from Turfonline/Treeliving/Livingroofs.org 
72 Green Roof Technology 2015 

Page 68



57 
 

Air Source Heat Pumps (ASHPs). 

6.37 ASHPs can heat a home and its water supply by extracting heat from air 
outside of a building (even at -15OC) - in a similar way that a refrigerator 
extracts heat from its inside – and use this to heat radiators and underfloor 
heating systems.  Although easier to install than other forms of renewable 
technology, there is not the same level or consistency of heat compared to 
gas or oil boilers, as ASHPs deliver heat at lower temperatures over longer 
periods.  They are, therefore, potentially more efficient in combination with 
good insulation, large radiators and/or underfloor heating systems.  In 
addition, ASHPs typically work with thermal store systems, allowing stored 
heat to be used than turning the pump on and off when demand is lower. 

6.38 It should be noted that ASHPs are not typically able to provide hot water at 
temperature high enough to kills bacteria such as Legionella.  As such, 
additional power supplies would be needed to ensure water was heated high 
enough for this purpose – i.e., 60OC. 

6.39 In term of other issues, the location of ASHPs needs to be appropriately 
considered.  A suitable outside wall / ground space will be needed with 
sufficient air circulation space around it – for examples, sunny walls are ideal.  
Notwithstanding the above, ASHPs can have a negative visual, and modest 
vibration and noise, impact.  For these reasons, the amenity of neighbouring 
properties (particularly in flatted and high-density developments) will need to 
be considered. 

Ground Source Heat Pumps (GSHPs) 

6.40 GSHPs extract heat from the ground via buried pipes (ground loops). To do 
this, water and anti-freeze is circulated around underground pipes.  The heat 
from the soil is absorbed into the fluid and is passed via a heat 
exchanger/compressor into the heat pump. This heat is then used to heat 
radiators, underfloor or warm air heating systems. Cooled water then re-
enters the circuit and starts the process again. 

6.41 GSHPs can be utilised all year-round as sub-surface ground temperatures 
stay fairly constant.  However, the amount of heat that can be generated is 
dependent on the length of the loops installed which, in turn, is dependent on 
the ground space available. This infrastructure could be placed outside the 
curtilage of a building, where appropriate. The loop area must be free from 
trees and underground structures.  GSHP loops can either be laid horizontally 
in a trench – about 1m below the surface – where there is sufficient outdoor 
space to allow this or, alternatively, they can be laid vertically by drilling 
boreholes from 90-160m deep.  The latter is not advisable in locations of 
Water Source Protection Zones (SPZs). 

6.42 GSHPs can be installed without planning permission.  However, it is advisable 
to check with the LPA regarding archaeological, ecological, environmental 
and conservation requirements. 

Page 69



58 
 

6.43 GSHPs typically work with thermal store systems, allowing stored heat to be 
used than turning the pump on and off when demand is lower. 

6.44 GSHPs are a useful renewable energy resource that can work in tandem with 
the provision of green infrastructure and open space (utilising heat from the 
ground in these spaces). They can also be laid for several properties and 
therefore with fewer boreholes, and to provide the ready infrastructure for new 
properties. However, like other forms of renewable technology, they will 
require regular testing and maintenance to ensure effective operation. The 
same also applies regarding the need for larger radiators or underfloor 
heating systems. 

Water Source Heat Pumps (WSHPs). 

6.45 WSHPs work in a similar way to GSHPs, except that they use their pipes to 
extract heat energy from a nearby large water body such as groundwater 
aquifers (using open-loop boreholes), or lakes / rivers (using surface WSHPs). 

6.46 WSHPs require larger radiators and/or underfloor heating systems to work 
most effectively.  However, they run more efficiently – around 4x more than 
GSHPs – without carbon emissions and other air pollutants. 

6.47 As would be expected this sort of heat pump is limited to developments sited 
close to a waterbody, or with the ability to establish access to ground-water 
aquifers, and reference should be made to the Code of Practice for Water 
Source Heat Pumps – Code of Practice for the U2, or the Code of Practice for 
Groundwater Source Heat Pumps. Developments including balancing ponds 
could usefully make use of this technology also. 

Storing excess heat and energy 

6.48 An important consideration is not wasting the heat and energy generated from 
the various processes described above. Thermal stores and batteries enable 
any excess heat or energy generated from low-carbon and renewable 
systems to be utilised at a time that is convenient.  

6.49 Some systems for energy storage have ‘smart’ options, allowing for tracking 
of energy-use online and decisions regarding optimum times for charging the 
system or drawing power from it. 

Thermal stores (Heat storage) 

6.50 Thermal stores consist of a very well insulated water container which can 
store the heat produced from the technology described above for many hours. 
They also have at least one heat-exchanger fitted. Typically, these containers 
can vary in size from between 120 litres to 500 litres capacity73. Thermal 
stores can also utilise ‘phase-change’ materials technology. To accommodate 
such a system, adequate space will be required.  

 
73 https://energysavingtrust.org.uk/ 

Page 70



59 
 

6.51 The Energy Savings Trust notes74 that the full benefit of thermal stores is 
derived from a design which allows a variety of inputs and outputs (e.g., for 
heating or hot water, etc), and thermal stores are noted75 as working 
particularly effectively to enhance the efficacy of solar water heating and heat 
pumps. SMART systems will prioritise the use between the renewable source 
and the thermal storage to ensure the most effective distribution of the energy 
available. 

Batteries and Inverters 

6.52 An alternative to thermal stores is the use of deep cycle batteries which can 
store power from a variety of electricity-generating systems so that it is 
available when needed. However, inverters may also be needed alongside 
batteries for running many standard AC appliances, and for battery charging. 

Offsetting 

6.53 Where site constraints limit the ability to meet the carbon reduction target for a 
scheme, any short fall must be provided off-site or through a cash-in-lieu 
contribution, possibly for off-site renewables where these are not possible on-
site, through a green tariff. This will be secured via a S106 planning 
obligation. The council may agree with a developer for the developer to 
directly off-set any shortfall in carbon dioxide reductions from a development 
by installing carbon dioxide saving measures off-site, e.g., photovoltaic panels 
on a local public building. 

Energy from Biomass Combustion 

6.54 Burning logs, chips, or pellets can be a more sustainable option than burning 
coal, oil or gas76 with regard to carbon emissions, but there are concerns 
regarding the effects of biomass on air-quality, and therefore this should only 
be considered in areas of low population density.  

6.55 It is important that the biomass is sourced locally, so that carbon reductions 
are not lost through the transport of this fuel. Log-burning boilers are larger 
than standard boilers, so additional room would need to be provided for this, 
and for adequate storage space for the delivery and storage of the fuel. 
Additionally, the homes would need to be designed with flues/chimneys, and 
fire safety standards applied.  

6.56 A biomass system based on wood-burning (e.g., log-boilers) is more effective 
when accompanied by a thermal storing system (see below), given the need 
to burn batches of logs at high efficiency levels rather than in small quantities 
throughout the day77, allowing some of the excess heat generated at 
maximum output to be stored for when it is needed. So additional room for 

 
74 https://energysavingtrust.org.uk/ 
75 https://energysavingtrust.org.uk/ 
76 https://energysavingtrust.org.uk/ 
77 https://energysavingtrust.org.uk/ 

Page 71



60 
 

thermal stores tanks may also need to be considered on the site. In addition, 
consideration should be given to the ease of use of systems for residents.  

6.57 For a development of groups of houses, or for larger buildings, wood chips 
can be used provided the proposal can meet the environmental requirements. 
This should be detailed in the Energy Statement accompanying a planning 
application. 

Page 72



61 
 

7.0 Appendix 1: Glossary 

Albedo – The proportion of incident radiation reflected by a system (or 
building). A perfect reflector would have an albedo of 1, whereas a perfect 
absorber would have an albedo of 0. 
Article 4 Direction - Is a direction under article 4 of the General Permitted  
Development Order which enables the Secretary of State or the local planning  
authority to withdraw specified permitted development rights across a defined 
area. 
Brise Soleil - A device, such as a perforated screen or louvres, for shutting 
out direct or excessive sunlight. 
Building Emissions Rate or Dwelling Emissions Rate – The actual  
building/dwelling CO2 emissions rate. It is expressed in terms of the mass of 
CO2 emitted per year per square metre of the total useable floor area of the 
building (kg/m2/year).  
Building/ Thermal Envelope – The total area of all walls, floors, ceilings 
bordering the internal area of a building whose environment is to be controlled 
in line with the Building Regulations (e.g., not including some conservatories 
or porches). 
Climate change adaptation - Adjustments made to natural or human system 
in response to the actual or anticipated impacts of climate change, to mitigate 
harm or exploit beneficial opportunities. 
Climate change mitigation - Action to reduce the impact of human activity on 
the climate system, primarily through reducing greenhouse gas emissions. 
Combined Heat and Power – The simultaneous generation of heat and 
power in a single process. 
Communal Heating/ Cooling – A heating/ cooling system where heat and 
cooling is supplied to multiple dwellings and/ or non-domestic uses from a 
shared source. 
Decentralised - broadly refers to energy that is generated off the main grid, 
including micro-renewables, heating and cooling. It can refer to energy from 
waste plants, combined heat and power, district heating and cooling, as well 
as geothermal, biomass or solar energy. 
Energy Assessment/strategy – An energy assessment/ strategy is a 
document which explains how targets for CO2 reduction will be met for a 
particular development within the context of the energy hierarchy. 
Energy hierarchy – A classification of energy options, prioritized to assist 
progress towards a more sustainable system. 
Embodied Carbon – A notional quantity of carbon, representing the amount 
of CO2 already emitted in order to manufacture or assemble any given 
construction material (s) and transport it to site.  
Evapotranspiration – Evapotranspiration is the combined name for the 
processes of evaporation and transpiration. 
Flood attenuation – Rainwater capture and slow release to reduce the risk of 
flooding further downstream. 
Green Infrastructure - Green infrastructure is a network of multi-functional 
green space and other green features, urban and rural, which can deliver 
quality of life and environmental benefits for communities. 

Page 73



62 
 

Green Materials - Green building materials are composed of renewable, 
rather than non-renewable resources. Green materials are environmentally 
responsible because impacts are considered over the life of the product 
Kilowatt (kW) – One thousand watts. A watt is a measure of power. 
Megawatt (MW) – One million watts. A watt is a measure of power. 
Network Ready – The state of a development being optimally designed for 
connection to a District Energy Network 
Part L of the Building Regulations – Approved documents L1A and L2A of 
the Building Regulations relate to the conservation of fuel and power in new 
dwellings and new buildings other than dwellings respectively. 
Passive Design – integrates the way the climate can maintain a comfortable  
temperature range in developments. 
Passivhaus – is a building in which thermal comfort can be achieved solely 
by post-heating or post-cooling the fresh air flow required for a good indoor air 
quality, without the need for additional recirculation of air. 
Regulated CO2 emissions – The CO2 emissions arising from energy used 
by fixed building services, as defined in Part L of the Building Regulations. 
These include fixed systems for lighting, heating, hot water, air conditioning, 
and mechanical ventilation 
Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP) – A methodology introduced by the  
Government to assess and compare the energy and environmental 
performance of buildings to make sure that any new developments will not 
only meet Building Regulations, but also all energy and environmental policy 
initiatives.  
Solar Gain - The increase in temperature of a building, object, or space that is  
caused by solar radiation 
Simplified Building Energy Model – A computer program that provides an  
analysis of a building’s energy consumption. The purpose of the software is to  
produce consistent and reliable evaluations of energy use in non-domestic  
buildings on a development. 
Thermal Mass - A material's capacity to absorb, store and release heat. For 
example, water and concrete have a high capacity to store heat and are 
referred to as 'high thermal mass' materials. Insulation foam, by contrast, has 
very little heat storage capacity and is referred to as having 'low thermal 
mass'. 
Communal Heat Network – A set of flow and return pipes circulating hot 
water to apartments and non-domestic buildings on a development 
Standard Assessment Procedure – A methodology for assessing and 
comparing the energy and environmental performance of dwellings. Its 
purpose is to provide accurate and reliable assessments of dwelling energy 
performances that are needed to underpin Building Regulations and other 
policy initiatives. 
Target CO2 Emission Rate – The minimum energy performance requirement 
for a new dwelling/ building. It is expressed in terms of the mass of CO2 
emitted per year per square metre of the total floor area of the building 
(kg/m2/year). 

Page 74



63 
 

8.0 Appendix 2: Further guidance 

8.1 This section provide links to further information and guidance referred to 
throughout this SPD. 

Department for Transport Manual for Streets 2007 

Good Homes Alliance, 2019 Tool and guidance for identifying and mitigating 
early stage overheating risk in new homes  

Islington Borough Council, 2012 Low Energy Cooling. Good Practice Guide 5  

CIBSE, 2013 TM52: The Limits of Thermal Comfort: Avoiding Overheating in 
European Buildings  

CIBSE, 2017 TM59: Design Methodology for the Assessment of Overheating 
in Homes 

BREEAM 

Code of Practice for Groundwater Source Heat Pumps 

Code of Practice for Water Source Heat Pumps – Code of Practice for the UK 

Department of Energy and Climate Change 2008 Part 1 Combined Heat and 
Power Project Development 

Department of Energy and Climate Change 2008 Part 2 Combined Heat and 
Power (CHP) Technology 

Department of Energy and Climate Change 2008 Part 3: A guide to 
environmental aspect of CHP 

Department of Energy and Climate Change 2008 Part 4: A Guide to CHP 
Operations and maintenance  

Department of Energy and Climate Change 2008 Part 5: A guide to CHP 
Finance 

Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy 2020 Part 6: 
Additional Guidance for renewable CHP 

Micro Generation Certification Scheme 

The Climate Crisis – A guide for local authorities on planning for Climate 
Change (TCPA/RTPI, Oct 2021) 

Susdrain 

https://www.watersafe.org.uk/downloads/developers_info/developing_water_e
fficient_home 

Page 75



64 
 

www.bregroup.com 

www.wrap.org.uk 

http://www.ice.org.uk 

http://www.greenbooklive.com/ 

https://www.greenbooklive.com/filelibrary/responsible_sourcing/BES-6001--
Issue-3.1.pdf 

https://www.rics.org/globalassets/rics-website/media/news/whole-life-carbon-
assessment-for-the--built-environment-november-2017.pdf 

www.considerateconstructorsscheme.org.uk 

 

Page 76



65 
 

9.0 Appendix 3: Local Plan Policies 

CP24 SUSTAINABLE CONSTRUCTION  
 
Planning permission will be granted for development which on completion: 
 
a) meets the following minimum Code for Sustainable Home threshold level, 

and equivalents for non-residential development (unless proven to be 
financially or technically unviable), as set out below: 

 
All residential 

development achieves at 
least the following level 

of the Code for 
Sustainable Homes and 

meets the minimum 
carbon compliance 

standards set out under 
the Zero Carbon Hub 

report 
recommendations2 

All multi-residential and non-
residential developments with a 
floor space of over 500 m² must 

achieve at least the following 
BREEAM3 standards` 

Until the 
end of 2012  

3 BREEAM ‘very good’ 

from 2013    4 BREEAM ‘excellent’ 
from 2016  5* BREEAM ‘excellent’ 

(* Level 5 can include for ‘allowable solutions’4.) 

b) provides at least 10% of energy demand from decentralised and renewable 
or low carbon energy sources (if possible, including connections to a 
district heating system), unless it is proven that this is not feasible or 
viable; 

c) for major areas of development, provides adequate land or funding for 
waste management infrastructure5. 

Major areas of development6 must ensure that their on-site renewable or low 
carbon energy production and resource efficiency is maximised.  Where on-
site proposals to achieve higher levels of carbon reduction are not feasible or 
viable ‘allowable solutions’ should be used. 

 
Note: The policy approach to sustainable construction is currently under 
review by the Government  and all or some elements of this policy may be 
superseded by the changes.  In this eventuality development proposals would 
be assessed in accordance with the latest Government policy. 

1 For these purposes, ‘development’ means 1 dwelling or more and 500m² or more of 
non-residential floorspace. 
2 http://www.zerocarbonhub.org/about.aspx 
3 BREEAM (Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method) 
http://www.breeam.org/page.jsp?id=66 
4 ‘allowable solutions’ will be operated in accordance with the Zero Carbon Hub report 
recommendations, as developed by Government policy, to permit residual emissions 
to be mitigated between the minimum carbon compliance standards and zero carbon 

Page 77



66 
 

homes (equivalent of Code Level 5) by off-site means in agreement with the Local 
Authority. ‘Allowable Solution’ applies to water, energy and waste. 
5Waste management infrastructure includes all physical aspects of the waste 
hierarchy, ranging from adequate refuse storage space within the curtilage of 
individual dwellings for non recyclable, recyclable and composting waste to the 
provision of construction material recycling and material recycling centres in major 
developments 
6major areas of development’ is defined as 10 dwellings or more, or 0.5 hectares or 
more. 

 
 
 

CP25 FLOOD RISK 
 
Development in areas at risk of flooding, now and in the future, as identified on 
the latest Environment Agency flood risk maps and the Council’s Strategic 
Flood Risk Assessment will be permitted provided that: 
 
a) it meets the sequential and exception test (where required) as outlined in 

Government guidance; 
 
b) a site–specific flood risk assessment demonstrates that the development, 

including the access, will be safe without increasing flooding elsewhere, 
and where possible, will reduce flood risk overall; 

 
c) the scheme incorporates flood protection, flood resilience and resistance 

measures appropriate to the character and biodiversity of the area and the 
specific requirements of the site; 

 
d) appropriate flood warning and evacuation plans are in place; and 
 
e) new site drainage systems are designed taking account of events which 

exceed the normal design standard. 
 
All development will be required to ensure that there is no net increase in 
surface water run off.  Priority will be given to incorporating SUDs (Sustainable 
Drainage Systems) to manage surface water drainage, unless it can be 
demonstrated that SUDs are not appropriate.  Where SUDs are provided, 
arrangements must be put in place for their whole life management and 
maintenance. 
 
Specific areas in the District, which overlay the Chalk geology, can be prone to 
groundwater flooding as shown on the Council’s Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment maps.  Rivers in East Hampshire which are sourced in the chalk 
area are the River Meon, River Wey and Lavant Stream, and thus groundwater 
fed.  Development should be avoided in areas at risk from, susceptible to, or 
have a history of groundwater flooding.  If this is not possible then the 
development should be designed to incorporate flood resistance and resilience 
measures. 

 
 

CP26 WATER RESOURCES/WATER QUALITY 
 

Page 78



67 
 

Development will be required to protect the quality and quantity of water, and 
make efficient use of water.  Development will be permitted provided that: 
 
a) it protects and enhances the quality and quantity of groundwater, surface 

water features and controls aquatic pollution to help to achieve the 
requirements of the European Water Framework Directive; 

 
b) it has an adequate means of water supply (even in a drought), sufficient 

foul and surface water drainage and adequate sewage treatment capacity.  
Development must be phased to take into account the timing of any water 
and/or wastewater infrastructure required which must be in place prior to 
the occupation of development.  The developer must show that additional 
provision or improvement of local infrastructure is required and 
demonstrate that adequate funding is available for that infrastructure in 
advance of development taking place; 

 
c) demand management technologies are incorporated to meet the 

appropriate levels of the Code for Sustainable Homes as set out in Policy 
CP24. 

 
Development within Groundwater Source Protection Zones will only be 
permitted provided that it has no adverse impact on the quality of the 
groundwater source or a risk to its ability to maintain a public water supply. 
 
Proposals by service providers for the delivery of wastewater services to meet 
the needs generated by new development and by existing communities will be 
encouraged and/or permitted, subject to other relevant policies. 
 
The Council and National Park Authority have a duty to take account of the 
Water Framework Directive (WFD) objectives.  Any development which will 
impact on a known water body will be required to seek out opportunities to 
introduce mitigation and enhancement measures to help ensure the objectives 
of the WFD are met. 
The site identified for the Havant Thicket reservoir will be safeguarded from 
development (see Map 3).  

 
 

CP27 POLLUTION 
 
Development must not result in pollution which prejudices the health and 
safety of communities and their environments. 
 
Developments that may cause pollution, and developments sensitive to 
pollution, will only be permitted if they are appropriately separated and 
designed to remove the risk of unacceptable impacts.  Engineering or 
administrative controls may be required to provide sufficient protection to 
focus on reducing pollution at source. 
 
Development which includes a lighting scheme will not be permitted unless the 
minimum amount of lighting necessary to achieve its purpose is proposed. 
Glare and light spillage from the site must be minimised.  In determining an 
application, consideration will be given to the aesthetic effect of the light 
produced and to its effect on local residents, vehicle users, pedestrians and 
the visibility and appreciation of the night sky.   

Page 79



68 
 

 
Development will not be permitted if it would have an unacceptable effect on 
the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring properties through loss of 
privacy or through excessive overshadowing. 
 
Any development which is likely to lead to a significant effect on an 
internationally designated site is required to undertake an appropriate 
assessment under the Habitats Regulations.  As part of any 
mitigation/avoidance package any impacts on air quality will require a regime 
for continued air quality monitoring to be set up before the introduction of any 
mitigation measures, and thereafter maintained. 

 
 

CP28 GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE  
 
Development will be permitted provided that it maintains, manages and 
enhances the network of new and existing green infrastructure.  Development 
will need to take forward the objectives and priorities presented in the 
District’s Green Infrastructure Study and Strategy, the South Hampshire Green 
Infrastructure Strategy and its Implementation Framework and the avoidance 
and mitigation measures set out in the Joint Core Strategy’s Habitats 
Regulations Assessment. Account will also need to be taken of other relevant 
joint core strategy policies such as landscape, historic environment, 
biodiversity, flood risk and design.  New green infrastructure must be provided 
either through on-site provision or financial contributions.  The size of 
contribution will be linked to the scale of the development and the resulting 
new green infrastructure must be located as close as possible to the 
development it is intended to serve. 
 
 
CP29 DESIGN 

 
The District’s built environment must be of an exemplary standard and highly 
appealing in terms of visual appearance.  All new development will be required 
to respect the character, identity and context of the district’s towns, villages 
and countryside and must help to create places where people want to live, 
work and visit. 
 
New development will be required to: 

 
a) seek exemplary standards of design and architecture with a high quality 

external appearance that respect the area’s particular characteristics; 
 
b) take particular account of the setting and context of the South Downs 

National Park where relevant, be in accordance with the National Park 
purposes and duty if in the National Park and take account of these 
purposes and duty where the National Park’s setting is affected; 

 
c) reflect national policies in respect of design, landscape, townscape and 

historic heritage; 
 
d) ensure that the layout and design of development contributes to local 

distinctiveness and sense of place, and is appropriate and sympathetic to 
its setting in terms of its scale, height, massing and density, and its 

Page 80



69 
 

relationship to adjoining buildings, spaces around buildings and landscape 
features; 

 
e) ensure that development makes a positive contribution to the overall 

appearance of the area by the use of good quality materials of appropriate 
scale, profile, finish, colour and proven weathering ability; 

 
f) make provision for waste and recycling bin storage and collection within 

the site; 
 
g) be designed to the Lifetime Homes Standard as appropriate; 
 
h) take account of local town and village design statements, neighbourhood 

plans that identify local character and distinctiveness and the design 
elements of parish and town plans and conservation area appraisals; 

 
i) be accessible to all and designed to minimise opportunities for crime and 

anti-social behaviour without diminishing the high quality of the overall 
appearance; 

 
j) embrace new technologies as a considered part of the design and in a way 

which takes account of the broader impact on the locality; 
 
k) provide car parking in a way that secures a high quality environment and is 

conveniently located, within curtilage wherever possible, taking account of 
relatively high levels of car ownership where necessary. 

 
 
CP31 TRANSPORT  
 
Through implementation of the Hampshire Local Transport Plan (2011 – 2031), 
the fullest possible use of sustainable modes of transport (including cycling, 
walking and public and community transport) and reduced dependence on the 
private car will be encouraged. 
 
Development proposals will include a range of mitigating measures and, where 
appropriate, will be required to: 
 
a) enhance the quality, viability, availability, accessibility and frequency of 

public transport and alternative community transport provision, especially 
in rural areas, to ensure that those without access to a private car have 
access to services and facilities necessary for their well-being; 

 
b) protect and provide safe and convenient cycle and pedestrian links that 

integrate with existing cycle and pedestrian networks, such as the South 
Downs Way and Shipwrights Way, and reflect the amenity and rural 
character of the area; 

 
c) ensure that highway design and associated signing meets the needs of 

vehicular traffic and the need for safety whilst also placing a high priority 
on meeting the needs of pedestrians, cyclists and public transport users 
and without detriment to the quality of the environment; 

 

Page 81



70 
 

d) plan for new highway infrastructure that will reduce congestion, improve 
highway safety, increase accessibility to the District’s town and district 
centres and enhance economic prosperity of the District; 

 
e) improve access to rail stations at Rowlands Castle, Petersfield, Liss, 

Liphook, Alton and Bentley Station by sustainable modes of transport and, 
where appropriate, provide additional car and cycle parking at rail stations; 

 
f) provide adequate, convenient and secure vehicle and cycle parking in 

accordance with adopted standards; 
 
g) ensure that the type and volume of traffic generated would not harm the 

countryside or the rural character of local roads; 
 
h) protect sunken and rural/green lanes so that their convenience and safety 

are enhanced for their users, and their ecological, landscape and 
recreational value are enhanced; 

 
i) improve access for people with impaired mobility to all forms of transport 

and to all developments to which the public will reasonably expect to have 
access; and 

 
j) produce and implement transport assessments and travel plans for 

proposals that are likely to have significant transport implications; 
 
k)   include measures, to be funded by the developer, that address the impact 

of the new development so as to ensure the continued safe and efficient 
operation of the strategic and local road networks. 

 
New development should be located and designed to reduce the need to travel. 
Development that is likely to generate a significant number of additional 
vehicular movements will normally be expected to be located near existing 
centres and supportive infrastructure. 
 
A high quality transport system will be required as part of the growth proposed 
in Whitehill & Bordon. Proposals for new development in the town must 
improve transport links from the surrounding settlements to the town, and 
within the town, providing opportunities to reduce reliance on the private car 
and encourage other modes. 
 
Financial contributions will be sought from developments towards the 
implementation of identified transport infrastructure schemes, having regard to 
the costs of those schemes and the likely availability of public funding. 
 
 

POLICY CSWB5 DESIGN 
 
In additon to the criteria set out in Policies CP29 and CP30 new development 
should: 
 
a) demonstrate an integrated approach to sustainable design to achieve the 

policy requirements on energy, water, transport, green infrastructure and 
biodiversity; 

 

Page 82



71 
 

b) be in accordance with the character area design codes, design guidance, 
the  neighbourhood quality charter and Town Design Statement; 

 
c) where opportunities arise, for example in the new town centre, incorporate 

taller landmark or locally distinctive ex-military buildings into the overall 
design to create an identity to the town and the overall development area. 

 
 
POLICY CSWB6 SUSTAINABLE CONSTRUCTION 
 
Proposals should, where technically or financially viable, demonstrate best 
practice, innovation and higher levels than those outlined in policy CP24 whilst 
at the same time being in accordance with wider national government policy on 
sustainable construction. The carbon footprint of the whole town will not 
exceed the carbon footprint of the existing settlement. This will include the 
provision of localised energy centres and help the Eco-town to de-carbonise 
the energy infrastructure by employing such solutions as biomass and energy 
from waste systems, decentralised heat and power networks and smart grids 
 
All new development must comply with the District’s Sustainable Construction 
policy (CP24). 
 
In addition, development proposals must (unless proven to be financially or 
technically unviable): 
 
a) Connect to any District heating systems, or have the infrastructure to 

connect if this is not yet installed.  Developments which are not connecting 
to the district system should provide reasons for this and provide 
alternative low carbon heating solutions; 

 
b) Ensure that the orientation of new homes is maximised to make use of 

solar power at the domestic and neighbourhood level in conjunction with 
incentives, such as the Feed-in-Tariffs (FITs)78 and Green Deal79. 

 
Proposals for new development or refurbishment, including infrastructure, will 
be required to outline how sustainability will be delivered during construction 
and future maintenance.  Supporting evidence will need to address: 
 
c) The reduction of carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gas emissions, 

both in manufacture, construction, delivery and in the location and mode 
of travel of the workforce; 

 
d) How pollution and waste is to be minimised; 
 
e) Life Cycle (Whole Life) Costings; and 
 

 
78 Feed-in tariffs: The Feed-in Tariffs (FITs) scheme was introduced on 1 April 2010, under powers in 
the Energy Act 2008, and work with the Renewable Heat Incentives, Department of Energy and 
Climate Change, March 2011. 
79 The Green Deal – A summary of Government’s proposals, Department of Energy and Climate 
Change, 2010.  

Page 83



72 
 

f) the effective use of resources.  In particular, the reduction of demolition or 
construction waste to landfill, the re-use of buildings, recycling of 
materials and reduction in water use. 

 
The use of factory assembly and modern methods of construction will be 
encouraged, particularly if these methods can be shown to have a positive 
impact on the local economy by bringing in new skills and manufacturing 
processes to the Eco-town. 
 

 
POLICY CSWB7 WASTE 
 
Planning applications should include a sustainable waste and resource plan 
covering both domestic and non-domestic waste. The plan should consider: 
 
a) The use of arboricultural arisings and farm waste as biomass fuel; 

 
b) The use of locally generated waste as part of the energy solution for the 

town; 
 

c) Composting schemes; 
 

d) Using organic waste for anaerobic digestion.  
 

POLICY CSWB8 SUSTAINABLE WATER MANAGEMENT 
 
All development will be required to contribute to the overall Eco-town target of 
achieving water neutrality (no net increase in water abstraction or carbon 
emissions as a result of the Eco-town). 
 
Development must be designed and delivered to limit the impact of new 
development on water resources, water quality and quantity.  Innovative and 
sustainable water management systems must be used to help to achieve a 
‘water neutral’ status. 

 
All buildings will be equipped with water efficiency measures to achieve Level 
5/6 of the Code for Sustainable Homes specifically for water. 
 
Development must be phased to take account of the timing of water and/or 
sewerage infrastructure to support the Eco-town.  All necessary infrastructure 
provision and water quality improvements must be funded and in place in 
advance of development taking place. 
 
Development proposals for Whitehill & Bordon must comply with the district-
wide Policy CP23 ‘Flood Risk’.  Where appropriate, Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (SUDS) must be provided which are fully integrated into the network 
of multi-functional green spaces, help to enhance local biodiversity, provide 
open space, and offer flood risk and water quality benefits. 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 84



73 
 

POLICY CSWB10 GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
New and existing greenspaces will be part of a well managed, high quality, 
green infrastructure network, which is linked to the wider countryside for the 
benefit of communities and wildlife (see also Policy CP28). 
 
Land is broadly identified for greenspace as illustratively shown on the 
Proposals Map. 
 
Development will need to maintain and manage the network of new green 
infrastructure and where appropriate, the enhancement of existing green 
infrastructure and seek to accord with the Whitehill & Bordon Green 
Infrastructure Strategy and Habitats Regulations Assessment. 
 
The implementation of green infrastructure must be in advance of occupation 
which is in line with the phased delivery of the Strategic Allocation. 

 
 

POLICY CSWB12 PEDESTRIAN AND CYCLE ROUTES 
 
Development proposals will provide: 
 
a) A comprehensive network (Green Grid) of well signed walking and cycling 

routes separated from the road where possible, in and around the town 
and linking to other destinations. Proposals must include safe, convenient 
and attractive travel options for non-car modes of travel from the home to 
the town’s facilities, schools, service and employment areas; 

 
b) High quality cycle parking facilities within its neighbourhood centres, the 
town  centre, at employment locations and within each residential area. 

 
 

POLICY CSWB13 PUBLIC TRANSPORT 
 
Development proposals will deliver: 
 
a) a high-quality, frequent, modern and attractive public transport system, 

comprising a ‘three-tiered’ bus system offering town-wide services, local 
services and strategic services to key destinations; 
 

b) high-quality bus infrastructure throughout the development; 
 

c) a Transport Hub within the new town centre to provide a focal point for all 
town travel information and services. Neighbourhoods will include ‘Sub-
Hubs’ to act as local information points. 

 
 

POLICY CSWB18 LOW CARBON VEHICLES 
 
Development proposals will promote the use of low-carbon vehicles, including 
electric vehicles and other alternative low-carbon fuel technology, to reduce 
the carbon emissions resulting from the development. The development will 

Page 85



74 
 

promote and deliver the necessary infrastructure to support electric vehicles 
and alternative fuel travel. 
 

Page 86



75 
 

10.0  Appendix 4: Sustainability Checklist Template 

Applicant’s Name  
Agent’s Name  
Site Address  
Description of proposal  
Date checklist completed  
Additional commentary 
regarding questions attached 

 

 
 
 

Layout and Design Yes No N/A Summary of approach 
(Please tick) 

For larger development 
schemes – does the layout 
utilise design to minimise 
shadowing, and gain heating 
efficiencies? 

    

Will the development make 
the best use of existing 
landform, to protect against 
hotter or wetter weather 
conditions, and utilise thermal 
buffering? 

    

For larger sites - Does the 
proposed site layout and 
building orientation 
demonstrate a consideration 
of the potential for passive 
heating/cooling and light? 

    

Has the design of the 
buildings taken account of the 
need for healthy lighting and 
ventilation and minimised 
glare? Has the cooling 
hierarchy been followed? Are 
the dwellings dual aspect? 

    

Are the materials chosen 
appropriate for thermal mass, 
and has appropriate 
insulation and airtightness 
been considered in the design 
of buildings, whilst balancing 
against the needs to avoid 
over-heating? 

    

 
 

Page 87



76 
 

 
 
Energy savings and use of 

renewables 
Yes No N/A Summary of approach 

(Please tick) 

Does the scheme achieve a 
minimum of 19% carbon 
reduction Dwelling Emission 
Rate above the Target 
Emission Rate? 

    

Do all the units in the scheme 
achieve a minimum of 19% 
carbon reduction Dwelling 
Emission Rate above the 
Target Emission Rate? 

    

Has a Carbon Reduction 
Statement been prepared for 
the application? 

    

Will at least 10% of the 
development’s energy needs 
be met using renewable 
technologies? 

    

To contribute to the 
reductions in carbon 
emissions and/or energy 
reductions, have a variety of 
energy saving and/or 
renewable energy measures 
been considered (such as 
those set out in this 
document)? 

    

Has the scope for connection 
of larger developments 
schemes to an existing 
District Heat and Cooling 
System, or CHP system been 
assessed? Has reference 
been made to the 
government’s CHP Focus site 
assessment tools?) Or has 
the incorporation of a new 
CHP system been 
considered? 

    

Have biomass energy 
sources been considered 
where this could have 
sustainability benefits? 

    

Have renewables 
technologies such as 
solar/PV or wind turbines 
been considered for the 

    

Page 88



77 
 

scheme, possibly in 
combination with other 
technologies such as those 
for storage of energy? 
Where solar panels are being 
incorporated have you 
considered the impacts of 
shadowing on the panels and 
how it could affect their power 
output and has the visual 
impact been minimised? 

    

Have ASHP/GSHP 
technologies been 
considered, particularly where 
there is available space? 

    

Has solar heating been 
considered (perhaps in 
tandem with thermal storage) 

    

For all listed technologies, 
has consideration been given 
to the ecological/and or 
design requirements and 
suitability, and have air quality 
issues been assessed where 
this is an issue? 

    

 
 

Water and drainage Yes No N/A Summary of approach 
(Please tick) 

In terms of water-use 
efficiency, does the proposal 
comply as a minimum with 
Building Regulations water 
usage requirements limit of 
110 litres per day, per 
person? 

    

Does the application meet the 
requirements regarding 
careful use of resources? 

    

Will the development require 
water-intensive processes for 
construction and, if so, are 
there any water-saving 
measures that can be used to 
reduce this 

    

Have measures been 
included into the scheme to 
reduce the amount of 
treated/purified water that 
would need to be pumped to 

    

Page 89



78 
 

the site, for example through 
measures to allow the 
harvest/recycling of rain, or 
‘grey’ water (for example for 
gardens and other non-
drinking water uses such as 
flushing toilets or possibly 
washing)?  
 
For example, have water-
butts been considered for 
housing developments? Or 
underground tanks? 
Have you designed-in 
measures to minimise surface 
water run-off, e.g., minimising 
paved areas and 
impermeable surfaces, or 
including soak-aways? 

    

Where paved surfacing is 
used, can it be permeable 
and enable enhanced water-
storage? 

    

What measures have been 
included to address flood 
risk/rainwater attenuation? 
(For example, for landscaped 
areas, the inclusion of ponds 
or rainwater gardens, or for 
developments without 
landscaping possible green 
walls or roofs.) 

    

Have you considered 
incorporating sustainable 
urban drainage (SuDS) into 
your development proposal? 

    

Have you defined 
maintenance responsibilities 
for any proposed SuDS? 

    

Have suitable gutters and 
pipes been identified to 
enable the building to 
withstand rainfall events in 
future? 

    

For water-intensive 
developments, has the 
storage of water been 
considered, for avoidance of 
drawing on public water 
supplies (e.g., golf courses)? 

    

Page 90



79 
 

 
 

Green Infrastructure and 
ecology 

Yes No N/A Summary of approach 
(Please tick) 

For large developments does 
the proposed scheme 
incorporated green 
infrastructure for increased 
resilience and adaptation to 
potential changes in climate? 
(This will need to be set out as 
part of the planning 
application) 

    

For denser urban 
developments, has greenery 
been included in some form - 
for cooling surrounds and 
buildings? 

    

Has the planting of shrubs 
been considered for cooling 
the outside of buildings? 

    

For developments on or close 
to roads, have trees or 
planting been considered for 
carbon capture and/or 
sequestration of air pollution 
(particles, etc)? And for larger 
developments, are 
trees/planting included for this 
purpose? 

    

Have evergreen trees been 
considered in designs, to 
allow for carbon capture (and 
capture of air pollution) in the 
autumn/winter months? 

    

Does the scheme incorporate 
any green infrastructure 
measures for insulation of 
buildings? 

    

Does the scheme incorporate 
green roofs/walls? 

    

Does the scheme incorporate 
any green infrastructure 
measures to assist with water 
attenuation? 

    

Have measures to conserve, 
enhance and/or restore 
biodiversity (including to assist 
pollinators) in and around the 
development been 

    

Page 91



80 
 

considered, including to 
compensate for habitats lost 
through development of 
brownfield land, or through 
changes to the climate? (This 
could include a utilisation of a 
‘matrix’ approach to habitats 
for adaptation to climate 
change.) 
In denser developments, have 
green roofs/walls been 
included to allow for linkages 
between habitats for birds and 
invertebrates, for example 
through measures such as 
living pillars? 

    

For larger developments, 
where there are flood-risks 
and /or rainwater attenuation 
issues, have Sustainable 
Drainage Systems (SuDS) 
been considered – which can 
also assist in the 
enhancement/maintenance of 
wildlife habitats and eco-
systems? 

    

Have all mature or large trees 
on the site been incorporated 
into the design of the new 
proposal, wherever possible? 

    

Where there is landscaping in 
schemes have native 
tree/planting species been 
considered for inclusion, and 
are they suitable for a 
changing climate? 

    

Have you considered how 
green and blue spaces within 
the development will be 
connected to the wider green 
infrastructure assets of the 
district? 

    

Does the planting of new 
green infrastructure take 
account of the change in 
climate in regard to selection 
of suitable types? 

    

Will you be protecting existing 
ecological features from 
damage during site 

    

Page 92



81 
 

preparation and completion of 
construction works where 
practicable? 
Does the proposal provide for 
on-going management of 
green and blue spaces, 
including biodiversity habitats? 

    

 
 

Location and transport Yes No N/A Summary of approach 
(Please tick) 

Does the location of the 
proposed development 
minimise distances to the 
main employment centres, 
shops, recreation and 
community facilities, and 
schools? 

    

Is the development located 
away from an area liable to 
flooding? 

    

Are the transport links, 
including the roads, footpaths, 
and cycle ways to the site 
liable to flooding 

    

Does the scheme facilitate 
active/healthy travel choices 
and reduce private car 
dependency? 

    

Do pedestrian and cycle 
routes link comfortably to 
surrounding areas/facilities, 
and to other transport 
networks, to provide a 
convivial travel experience? 
For larger developments, is 
there natural surveillance, for 
example active frontages? 

    

Does the proposal provide 
appropriate levels and 
standards of car parking? 

    

Will the development 
incorporate electric vehicle 
charging points (that are 
unobtrusive and avoid street 
clutter)? 

    

Does the proposal provide 
appropriate levels of, and 
secure facilities for, cycle 
parking/storage? 

    

Page 93



82 
 

Will a Travel Statement (for 
smaller-scale developments) 
or Travel Plan (for proposals 
that generate significant 
traffic) be submitted with your 
proposal, including measures 
such as car-clubs/Smart 
travel? 

    

For larger developments, has 
the idea of a car-club been 
considered? 

    

 
 

Demolition and 
construction 

Yes No N/A Summary of approach 
(Please tick) 

Has consideration been given 
to embodied carbon, or the 
assessment of embodied 
carbon? 

    

Where site demolition will be 
necessary, have procedures 
for the salvage of building 
part and/or materials been put 
in place (including any natural 
materials on site) 

    

Has consideration been given 
to whether any of the salvage 
could be recycled back into 
the proposed development? 
Or how materials can be 
sustainably recycled? 

    

Has regard been had to the 
ICE demolition protocol? 

    

Can the scheme demonstrate 
that the selection of materials 
has incorporated locally 
recycled or produced 
materials where possible? 

    

Does the proposal encourage 
the use of durable products 

    

Have you considered using 
other responsibly sourced 
building materials? 

    

Has a framework or 
certification scheme been 
used to establish the 
responsible sourcing of 
materials for the scheme? Or 
is there a clear rationale for 
the materials selected? 

    

Page 94



83 
 

Has the use of water during 
construction been considered 
(for minimisation of waste)? 

    

Have you considered being 
part of a Considerate 
Constructors Scheme? 

    

 
 

Page 95



84 
 

11.0 Appendix 5: Carbon Reduction Statement Template 

 
Carbon Reduction Statement 
 
Unit 
Number/address 

Target Emission 
Rate (TER) 

Dwelling 
Emission Rate 
(DER) 

% Improvement 
on Part L 2013 

Add rows for each 
unit 

   

    
    
 
Energy Hierarchy 
 
 Proposed measures (Attach plans and 

drawings showing any proposed 
renewable technology being 
incorporated into the scheme) 

Define proposed measures to show 
how less energy will be achieved 

 

Define proposed measures to show 
how energy will delivered more 
efficiently 

 

Define proposed measures to show 
how renewable technologies will be 
incorporated 

 

The carbon reduction requirement 
should be applied to each unit or 
residential building envelope 

In the case of apartments and terraced 
housing it is acceptable to use the 
average energy performance of all 
dwellings within the building. The area 
weighted average DER and TER must be 
calculated in accordance with the block 
averaging methodology defined in 
clauses 2.7 and 2.16 of Approved 
Document L1A 

The TER and DER should be derived 
from the Building Regulation, 
compliance calculations. 

 

Sample SAP calculations should be 
attached to the submitted Carbon 
Reduction Statement 

The Government is planning to ban gas 
boilers in new homes from 2025. There 
are also proposals to change the carbon 
intensity of electricity in SAP 10, which 
will take into account the decarbonisation 
of electricity. EHDC would recommend 
that SAP 10.0 emission factors be used. 

Where carbon reducing renewable 
technologies are proposed, these 

 

Page 96



85 
 

should be an integral part of the 
design and relevant drawings 
supplied. Proposals incorporating 
Combined Heat and Power will need 
to provide Air Quality Assessments 
Where mitigation measures are 
required to address amenity and 
prevent nuisance, these should be 
identified in the statement. 

 

 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



  

                                                                            Page  1 of 6 

 

NON-EXEMPT 

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Planning Policy Committee                 20 December 2021 

The East Hampshire District Statement of Community Involvement. 

 

FOR DECISION 

 

Portfolio Holder: Angela Glass 

Key Decision: No 

Report Number: [EHDC/HBC/…/20]  

1. Purpose 

1.1. This paper is submitted to the Planning Policy Committee for a decision to 

undertake a public consultation on an updated Statement of Community 

Involvement in line with our statutory requirements. 

2. Recommendation 

2.1. Members are requested to approve 

a. The revised draft Statement of Community Involvement (Appendix 1 of this 

report) for a six-week public consultation. 

3. Executive Summary 

3.1. The Council is required to prepare a Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) 

setting out how local communities, businesses and other interested groups can be 

involved when we prepare our planning policies and determine planning 

applications. The Councils current SCI was adopted in July 2018 and since this 

time, new digital approaches to public consultation have emerged and gained 

traction as a result of the Covid-19 Pandemic. The Council has therefore revised 

Page 99

Agenda Item 6



  

                                                                            Page  2 of 6 

 

the SCI to take account of such new approaches and how it intends to utilise them 

in the preparation of Local Development Documents such as the Local Plan.  

3.2. The purpose of the SCI is to set out how people and groups can engage with the 

planning system in the best way by setting out how the public, businesses and 

interest groups within East Hampshire District can get involved in the creation of 

local planning policy, neighbourhood planning and the planning application 

decision making process. 

3.3. Officers have produced a draft SCI which is the fourth SCI produced by the 

Council that will be subject to a six-week period of public consultation. 

4. Additional Budgetary Implications  

4.1. None 

5. Background and relationship to Corporate Strategy and/or Business Plans 

5.1. The preparation of a SCI is a legal requirement of the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004 (section 18) as amended by the Planning Act 2008, the 

Localism Act 2011 and the Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017. This legislation 

requires the Local Planning Authority (in this case the Council) to prepare a 

statement for how it will involve those with an interest in development in the area, 

including the preparation and review of the Local Plan and Supplementary 

Planning Documents, Neighbourhood Plans/Orders, Community Infrastructure 

Levy and the consideration of planning applications. It is also a requirement to 

update the SCI every five years. 

5.2. The draft SCI has been updated to provide more up to date guidance on how the 

Council will engage with the community on planning matters, including those that 

are statutory requirements set out in planning legislation and those that are 

additional notification / consultation methods that the Council may use.  

5.3. The draft SCI provides more information on the statutory stages of producing 

specific planning documents to clearly identify how people and organisations can 

get involved at these specific stages.  

Page 100



  

                                                                            Page  3 of 6 

 

5.4. The table below provides an indicative timetable of the stages to be undertaken to 

adopt the SCI: 

 

 

Six-week public consultation on the draft SCI December 2021 – 
February 2022 

Response comments and amended SCI presented to 

Planning Policy Committee 

 

March 2022 

SCI to Council for Adoption May 2022 

 

5.5. The delivery and implementation of the Planning Service and its policy and 

development management functions contributes towards all of the Council’s Key 

Priorities. The Statement of Community Involvement is a critical part of the 

Council’s commitment to the community. 

6. Options considered 

6.1. The options considered are as follows: 

6.2. Option 1: Do nothing – maintain the SCI 2018 

6.3. This option is not recommended by officers on the basis that the Council has a 

statutory obligation to keep an up-to-date SCI and to prepare Local Development 

Documents in conformity with their adopted SCI.  

6.4. Option 2: revise and update the SCI  

6.5. This is the only option that enables the Council to meet its statutory obligations 

and support the preparation of a new Local Plan utilising the fullest range of 

approaches to public consultation. 

7. Resource Implications 

7.1. Financial Implications 

 

Page 101



  

                                                                            Page  4 of 6 

 

7.2. There are no direct resource implications. Costs will be met within existing 

resources and budgets. 

7.3. Human Resources Implications 

There are no additional human resource implications of this recommendation. 

7.4. Information Governance Implications 

7.5. This proposal does not involve the use of personal identifiable information/data 

and/or personal sensitive or confidential information/data. 

7.6. Links to Shaping our Future Programme 

7.7. There are no links to the Shaping our Future Programme. This is business as 

usual activity in line with statutory requirements. 

  

7.8. Other resource implications 

7.9. None 

8. Legal Implications 

8.1. There are legal issues to consider in progressing the SCI towards adoption, in 

relation to satisfying the necessary regulations. The preparation of a SCI is a legal 

Monitoring Officer comments 

Date: 24.11.21 

Legal and governance implications are set out in the legal implications section above 

Section 151 Officer comments 

Date: 19 November 2021 

No additional financial implications 

Shaping our Future Lead comments/sign-off 

Date: 19 November 2021 

This report and recommendations have no implications for the SoF programme. 

 

Page 102



  

                                                                            Page  5 of 6 

 

requirement of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (section 18) as 

amended by the Planning Act 2008, the Localism Act 2011 and the 

Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017. 

 

9. Risks 

9.1. Having an up to date Statement of Community Involvement is a requirement for 

the Planning Service and ensures engagement is being undertaken in accordance 

with legislative requirements and good practice 

9.2. Option 1 – Do nothing, leaves the Council with the SCI that was adopted in 2018 

which does not take into account the more modern digital approaches that can be 

utilised for public consultation. The new Local Plan must be prepared in 

conformity with the Council’s adopted SCI. If the SCI becomes dated there is a 

risk that the Local Plan when at Examination in Public will not be legally 

compliant. 

9.3. There are no identified risks associated with Option 2. 

10. Consultation  

10.1. The draft SCI has been shared with the Local Plan Working Group and their 

feedback, where appropriate has been incorporated into the draft document 

attached. 

10.2. The draft SCI will now be subject to six weeks public consultation. 

11. Communication 

11.1. The six-week public consultation will be publicised on the Council’s webpage, and 

consultation material will also be available at the deposit locations across the 

district. Key statutory consultees and those registered with the Council in having 

an interest in Planning consultations will be notified in line with our statutory 

requirements. 

12. Appendices 

12.1. Appendix 1 – Draft Statement of Community Involvement 

Page 103



  

                                                                            Page  6 of 6 

 

13. Background papers 

13.1. None 

 

Agreed and signed off by: 

 

Portfolio Holder: Angela Glass 19.11.21 

Director: Simon Jenkins 24.11.21 

Monitoring Officer: Daniel Toohey  24.11.21 

Section 151 Officer: Lydia Morrison 23.11.21 

  

 

Contact Officer  

Name:  Victoria Potts 

Job Title: Planning Policy Manager 

Telephone: 01483 234212 

E-mail: victoria.potts@easthants.gov.uk  

 

 

Page 104



 

 
 
 
 
The East Hampshire District Local Plan 

 
 
 

Statement of Community 
Involvement 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

December 2021 
  

Page 105



 

2 
 

 

Table of Contents 
1. Introduction and Background .................................................................... 3 

What is a Statement of Community Involvement? ................................................... 3 
Why has a new Statement of Community Involvement been produced? ................. 3 
Why should I / my community get involved? ............................................................ 3 

2. Getting Involved in Planning Policy ........................................................... 5 

What is Planning Policy? ......................................................................................... 5 
Who will the Council consult on Planning Policy Documents? ................................. 5 
Consultation Principles – Planning Policy ................................................................ 6 
Table 1 – Consultation Methods .............................................................................. 8 

3. Involvement in Local Plans ....................................................................... 11 

Table 2: Statutory Stages of Local Plan Production ............................................... 11 

4. Supplementary Planning Documents ...................................................... 15 

Table 3 – SPD Key Stages of Production .............................................................. 16 

5. Other Policy Documents ........................................................................... 17 

Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report ................................................................ 17 
Neighbourhood Plans and Neighbourhood Development Orders .......................... 18 
Table 4: Statutory Stages of Neighbourhood Plan Production ............................... 19 
Community Infrastructure Levy .............................................................................. 20 
Charging Schedule ................................................................................................ 21 
Table 5: CIL Charging Schedule Key Stages of Production ................................... 21 

6. Planning Applications ............................................................................... 25 

Pre-Application Advice .......................................................................................... 25 
Design Review Panel ............................................................................................ 26 
Development Consultation Forum ......................................................................... 26 
Publicity ................................................................................................................. 26 
Viewing / Commenting on a Planning Application .................................................. 27 

7. Appendix A – Specific and General Consultation Bodies ...................... 28 
8. Appendix B – Publicity for Planning Applications ................................. 30 
9. Glossary ..................................................................................................... 36 

 

 
 
 
 

  

Page 106



 

3 
 

1.  Introduction and Background 

What is a Statement of Community Involvement?  
 

1.1. A Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) describes how the public, businesses 
and interested groups within East Hampshire District can get involved in the creation 
of local planning policy, neighbourhood planning and the planning application 
decision making process. 
 

1.2. The SCI identifies how people and groups can engage with the planning system in 
the best way. Effective consultation enables stakeholders and the public to express 
their views. 

Why has a new Statement of Community Involvement been 
produced? 
 

1.3 The preparation of a SCI is a legal requirement of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 (section 18) as amended by the Planning Act 2008, the 
Localism Act 2011 and the Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017. This legislation 
requires the Local Planning Authority (in this case the Council) to prepare a 
statement for how it will involve those with an interest in development in the area, 
including the preparation and review of the Local Plan and Supplementary Planning 
Documents, Neighbourhood Plans/Orders, Community Infrastructure Levy and the 
consideration of planning applications.  
 

1.4 This is the fourth SCI produced by the Council to take account of Council and 
legislative changes in the way the Council consults with the community. 
 

1.5 The Council recognises that there have been significant changes in the way 
communities and the Council interact. Access to the internet has increased and 
there has been a shift towards online virtual consultation rooms, online meetings 
and visual collaboration platforms, correspondence by email and social media. 
However, despite these changes, there remains a significant number of people that 
are unable to use electronic forms of communication and access to information or 
prefer not to do so. As such, we will continue to ensure that consultation materials 
are available in a variety of formats and that there are varied ways of participating in 
consultations, subject to government guidelines in place at that time. 
 

1.6 The SCI should be reviewed at least every five years. Therefore, the document will 
be assessed on a regular basis to ensure it remains appropriate and effective. This 
will also take account of any legislative changes and any resulting requirements. 

 
Why should I / my community get involved?  
 

1.7 The Planning process seeks to promote sustainable development through 
managing, guiding and facilitating the building of new homes, economic growth and 

Page 107



 

4 
 

investment, leisure and recreation facilities, retail and provision of new 
infrastructure. The principal purpose of the planning system is to ensure that new 
development meets the social and economic needs of our communities whilst at the 
same time protecting the natural and built environment.  
 

1.8 Planning has a direct impact on the daily lives of residents and the business 
community therefore, it is very important that development proposals are 
transparent and that you have the opportunity to have a say in the planning 
decisions that are made by the Council. The public has a right to get involved and 
the only way that the Council will understand what people’s views are, is if they are 
told by the public.  
 

1.9 There are different aspects of the Planning system that people can get involved with 
such as, Planning Policy Documents, Planning Applications as well as 
Neighbourhood Planning. This SCI is designed to assist you with the different 
aspects of the planning system and provide you with information about how and 
when you can get involved. 

 
1.10 The SCI is reviewed regularly to ensure it is in accordance with the regulations and 

the Council’s consultation procedures. The Council will update the public through 
the email alert system, which you must be registered to receive, that the SCI has 
been updated.  
 

 

  

Page 108



 

5 
 

2.   Getting Involved in Planning Policy 

What is Planning Policy? 

2.1 Planning Policy is the method by which the development of land and buildings is 
planned for, managed and controlled. 

 
2.2 This is done through the creation of planning policies which are designed to guide 

future development in the district, including how much development there should be 
and where it should go, and to aid the determination of planning applications. 

 
2.3 Policies continually evolve with changing administrations, lifestyles, environments 

and economic demands. It is the role of the Planning Policy team to develop, 
maintain, update and adapt policies on a local level to accommodate these 
changes. 

 

How can you get involved? 

2.4 If you are interested in your area and would like to be involved in shaping future 
planned growth, then Planning Policy Documents will be relevant to you. Your local 
community can also make more specific contribution to the preparation of a 
neighbourhood plan. 

 
2.5 You can:. 

 
 Sign up to receive Council email alerts to inform you when consultations are 

happening. 
 

 Find out what documents are going to be produced and when – which can 
be found on the Local Development Scheme . 
 

 Monitor the Council’s Planning Policy webpages for updates and latest 
news. 
 

 Contact your Town / Parish Council and make them aware of your interest to 
be involved in local planning matters.  

Who will the Council consult on Planning Policy Documents?  
 

2.6 Government Regulations require us to ensure that certain organisations (known as 
Specific Consultation Bodies), are consulted at key stages during the preparation of 
planning policy documents. These include for example neighbouring Councils, 
Town and Parish Councils, Councillors, the Environment Agency, Natural England, 
Historic England and utility companies. The full list of Specific Consultees is 
provided in Appendix A. 
 

2.7 In addition to consulting Specific Consultation Bodies noted above, the Planning 
Policy Team has a further list of organisations, bodies, businesses, consultancies, 
landowners, voluntary bodies and bodies representing the interests of ethnic, 
religious or disabled groups for example, as well as individuals, that we will consult 

Page 109



 

6 
 

(known as General Consultation Bodies). Examples of General Consultation bodies 
are contained within Appendix A.  
 

2.8 The above list is not exhaustive and is amended or added to as required. In some 
cases, we have a degree of discretion over whether to notify certain general bodies 
if the topic of the document in question is not likely to be of interest or relevance to 
that body. We will target consultation towards those most likely to be affected. 
 

2.9 Planning Policy documents, where relevant are supported by additional documents 
(i.e. Sustainability Appraisal and Habitat Regulations Assessment) and technical 
studies (referred to as the evidence base). The Council will only provide paper 
copies of the main consultation documents1 (i.e. the Plan), Sustainability Appraisal2 
and Habitat Regulations Assessment for reference purposes at deposit locations 
across the local planning authority area (excluding the South Downs National Park).  
All evidence base reports will be publicly available on the Council’s website, 
however should you wish to receive a hard copy of the consultation document and 
any evidence base document (this will be subject to staff costs of printing, postage 
and packaging) please contact the Planning Policy team. 

Consultation Principles – Planning Policy  
 

2.10  To Inform: The Planning Policy Team will inform people of the planning process 
and to provide people with the information they need to get involved at the earliest 
opportunity possible. The following approaches, where relevant will be used to 
inform people:  
 

2.11 Statutory Requirements: 

 Electronic versions of the consultation documents will be made publicly 
available on the Council’s website. 

 Hard copies of the main consultation documents for reference use will be made 
available during normal opening hours at certain deposit locations across the 
local planning authority area. This information will be made available as part of 
any consultation. 

 Consultation notifications will be sent via email to, specific consultation bodies, 
general consultation bodies and, to anyone who has registered to receive email 
alerts through the main Council email alert system. 

2.12 Additional notification methods that may be used to advertise consultation: 

• East Hampshire District Planning Policy Consultation Portal 
• Advertised on the front page of the Council’s website within the News section  
• Consultations will be publicised via social media – Twitter / Facebook  

 

1 Town and Country Planning Regulations 2012 
2 The Planning Policy Team will consult the local community on its Sustainability Appraisal and 
involve key stakeholders such as the Environment Agency, Historic England, and Natural England in 
its preparation. 

Page 110



 

7 
 

2.13  To Involve:  The Planning Policy Team will encourage the active participation of 
individuals, groups, landowners and developers in the planning process through a 
variety of techniques including the use of online services. 

 
2.14  The Planning Policy Team, wherever possible, and where safe to do so, will 

undertake these consultation exercises in locations which are accessible to the 
local community. For example at village / community halls or online and at a variety 
of times of the day (for example events run from the early afternoon until the 
evening).  
 

2.15  To Consult: In order to understand the needs of different stakeholders, 
consultation methods will be as wide-ranging as possible, making the best use of 
new technologies and digital platforms, to actively engage and consult 
comprehensively. 
 

2.16  To Respond: The Planning Policy Team will take account of all responses to 
consultations and will identify how views expressed in representations have been 
incorporated into the Council’s decision-making processes.  

 
2.17 Table 1 overleaf, provides an assessment of consultation methods with regards to 

their effectiveness. This table also provides useful information to be considered by 
Developers when undertaking public consultation on draft development proposals 
and it also provides a source of information for those local communities who wish to 
prepare Neighbourhood Plans.  

Page 111



 

8 
 

Table 1 – Consultation Methods 
Consultation Method Benefits  Limitations 
Electronic copy of consultation 
document and associated 
documents on the Council’s 
website 

Relevant documents will be made available on 
the Council’s website. The Council Offices in 
addition to local libraries, offer internet access 
and assistance to those who need it. There are 
also opportunities to respond to consultations 
via our online portal, email and using response 
forms. 
 

 Not everyone has access to the 
internet 

 Not everyone is able to use the 
internet 

 

Hard copies of main consultation 
documents and any key 
associated documents for 
reference use will be available 
during normal opening hours at 
certain deposit locations across 
the local planning authority area. 

 Accessible location 
 Inclusive for those who do not have 

access to the internet or not able to use 
the internet 

 Easy to read 
 Access to Council Officers for 

information 
 Reaches residents on cross boundary 

issues 
 

 Restricted opening hours 
 Not able to take documents away 

Notification emails to Specific 
Consultation Bodies upon 
commencement of consultation. 
 

 Direct notification  
 Provides accurate information 

 Contact details may have changed 
that the Council is not aware of 

Notification emails / letters to 
those who have registered to 
receive the Council’s email alerts 

 Direct notification  
 Provides accurate information 
 People can remove their contact details 

at any time if they no longer wish to be 
kept informed 

 Contact details may have changed 
that the Council is not aware of  

 Not everyone has access to email  
 May not be accessible for those 

people whose first language is not 
English  

 May not be the most inclusive 
method for hard to reach groups 

P
age 112



 

9 
 

Consultation Method Benefits  Limitations 
Local newspapers – the notice 
will provide details of where and 
when documents can be 
inspected. It will also detail how 
and when to respond to 
consultation documents 
 

 Can reach a wide audience 
 Provides the public with accurate 

information 

 May not be accessible for those 
people whose first language is not 
English  

 May not be the most inclusive 
method for hard to reach groups 

Social media   Effective way of reaching hard to reach 
including youth, people with limited time 
e.g. business/professional people, 
working people with families. 

 Information can be accessed at anytime 
during the consultation period.  

 

 Not everyone has access to the 
internet or a social media account 

 Difficult to manage posted 
comments / content 

Posters / Leaflets  Can be used by developers and 
landowners to advertise or inform local 
communities of potential development or 
advertise how they can get further 
information. 
 

 May not be located in places visited 
by all sectors of the community so 
not wholly inclusive.  

 Limited information. 
 May not be accessible for those 

people whose first language is not 
English. 

 
Public exhibitions (online or face 
to face) 

 Enables people to access information on 
display boards  

 Provides the opportunity to speak with 
Council officers for further information / 
discuss concerns  

 Provides accessibility  
 People can fill out comment forms 
 This could be achieved by virtual 

exhibitions online or if possible; holding 
face to face exhibitions 

 

 May not be attended by hard-to-
reach groups  

 May not be accessible for those 
people whose first language is not 
English  

 Creating and updating displays is 
expensive and time consuming 

 Not everyone has internet access 

P
age 113



 

10 
 

Consultation Method Benefits  Limitations 
Council Officers attending Public 
Meetings for example Let’s Talk 
events. 

 Reaches out to people in the local area 
 Provides the opportunity to speak with 

Council Officers for further information / 
discuss concerns 

 Council Officers can understand the 
views of the public 

 

 Need to ensure there is sufficient 
publicity in order to have a good 
attendance rate to encourage a 
constructive / meaningful meeting 

 Sometimes there can be too many 
views to be heard in a limited time 
frame  

 People may not want to discuss 
their views in a public forum  

 The loudest voices tend to get heard  
 Not fully inclusive / representative of 

local community  
 May not be accessible for those 

people whose first language is not 
English 

 

 
  

P
age 114



 

11 
 

3.  Involvement in Local Plans 
 

3.1. The Local Plan is the statutory plan setting out the principal policies and proposals for land use and development in the district (outside 
of the South Downs National Park). It contains the overall vision and objectives, the development strategy, allocates sites for 
development and sets out a suite of policies used in decision making on planning matters. 
 

3.2 The process for preparing the Local Plan is summarised in Table 2 which identifies each of the stages and the key opportunities for 
community involvement in the process. 

Table 2: Statutory Stages of Local Plan Production 
Key stages of production Your opportunities for involvement 
 
Initial Evidence Gathering and Informal Engagement 

 Begin initial evidence gathering process 
(commissioning technical studies, identifying available 
sites, collating data, identifying the scope of the Plan)  
 

 Formulate initial aims and objectives  
 

 Start preparing the Sustainability Appraisal Scoping 
Report and collating baseline data  
 

 Identify relevant environmental3, economic and social 
objectives to inform the Sustainability Appraisal 
 

 Engage with consultation bodies set out in Appendix A 
 

 
 

 Register your contact details on the email alerts 
through the main Council email alert system. 
 

 Provide the Planning Policy Team with details of any 
sites you may wish to promote for development through 
the Call for Sites process 
 

 Provide the Planning Policy Team with any local 
evidence studies 
 

 Providing the Planning Policy Team with information on 
community facilities and key services in your Town / 
Parish. 
 

 Providing the Planning Policy Team with information on 
infrastructure capacity in your Town / Parish.  
 

 

3 Including climate change 

P
age 115



 

12 
 

Key stages of production Your opportunities for involvement 
 Where appropriate, the Council will publish evidence 

base documents once they have been finalised. 
 
 

Regulation 18: Consultation 
 
Initial Formal Public Consultation(s) 
 

 The Council will undertake public consultation for a 
minimum period of 6 weeks  
 

 Engage with local communities, businesses and other 
interested parties  
 

 Engage with consultation bodies set out in Appendix A 
 

 
 
 
 

 Review the Local Plan, the supporting evidence base 
and identify any comments you may have 
 

 Submit a formal representation to the Council outlining 
your comments, support or objection  
 

 Attend any public exhibitions being held (online or face 
to face) 

 
Please Note: All submitted representations will be made 
public and personal information will be removed in accordance 
with the Council’s privacy policy, comments can be viewed by 
others.  
 

Regulation 19: Proposed Submission Consultation 
 
2nd Public Consultation and final consultation before 
submitting Plan for Examination 
 

 The Planning Policy Team will review all the 
representations submitted during Regulation 18 
consultation and make any changes to the Plan where 
justified  
 

 The Council will prepare a statement summarising how 
they consulted during the initial consultation(s), the key 

 
 
 
 
 

 Review the Local Plan, Sustainability Appraisal and 
Habitat Regulations Assessment and identify any 
comments you may have 

 
 If you submitted a representation during the previous 

consultation that remains unresolved, resubmit your 
representation if you wish to maintain your objection  

P
age 116



 

13 
 

Key stages of production Your opportunities for involvement 
issues that came out of the consultation(s) and how 
these will be taken into account in amending the Plan.  
 

 The Council will undertake public consultation on the 
revised draft Plan, Sustainability Appraisal and Habitat 
Regulations Assessment for a minimum period of 6 
weeks. 

 
 
 
 

 
 Attend any public exhibitions (online or face to face) 

 
Please Note: This is the final opportunity to submit a duly 
made representation.  
 
You should be specific as to why you consider the Plan to be 
unsound, what change (s) you are seeking and why it would 
make the document sound.  
 
The Planning Inspector will only consider written 
representations submitted during this stage as it is considered 
that these representations (objections) are unresolved.  
 
Representations submitted during Regulation 18 Consultation 
will not be considered by the Planning Inspector. 

Regulation 22: Submission of Local Plan  
 
Final Draft Plan 
 

 The Council will produce a statement setting out how it 
consulted throughout the development of the Plan, the 
issues raised and how the Plan has been amended to 
address relevant issues. 

 
 The Council will submit the Plan and any 

representations submitted during Regulation 19 and the 
Statement of Consultation to Secretary of State. 

 
 The Government will appoint a Planning Inspector to 

examine the plan.  
 

 The Planning Inspector will set the timetable for 
Examination in Public. 

 
 
 
 

 The Council will notify those registered for the Council’s 
email alerts and those who submitted representations, 
that the Local Plan has been submitted to the 
Secretary of State for independent examination. 

P
age 117



 

14 
 

Key stages of production Your opportunities for involvement 
 
 

 
Examination of submitted Local Plan 
 

 An independent Inspector assesses the submitted 
Local Plan to determine whether it has been prepared 
in line with the Duty to Cooperate and other legal 
requirements 

 
 The Council via the Programme Officer will write to 

representor’s informing them of the hearing start date 
(at least 6 weeks in advance of commencing)  

 
 The Council can ask the Inspector to recommend main 

modifications to make Plan sound or comply with other 
legal requirements 

 
 Inspector issues a report at the end of Examination in 

Public  
 

 Exceptionally, the Inspector will recommend the draft 
Local Plan to be withdrawn if it has not been prepared 
in accordance with the Duty to Cooperate or it is likely 
to be found unsound. 

 

 
 

 The Inspector will invite participants (via the 
Programme Officer) to speak at the hearing sessions 
on those matters and issues considered relevant by the 
Inspector  

 
 Selected participants will receive a programme (via the 

Programme Officer) for hearing sessions including 
matters/issues and the Inspector’s Guidance Note  

 
 The hearing sessions are public and anyone can 

observe even if they haven’t been selected to 
participate 

 
 Further information regarding the Examination in Public 

process can be found within the Planning Inspectorate 
Procedure Guide for Local Plan Examinations 
(February 2021). 

Adoption 
 

 Local Plan is adopted by the Council 
 

 The Council publishes a post adoption statement. 
 
 
 

 
 The Council will notify those registered for the Council’s 

email alerts and those who submitted representations 
of receipt of the Inspectors Report and the date the 
Local Plan will be taken to Full Council for adoption. 
 
 
 

P
age 118



 

15 
 

Key stages of production Your opportunities for involvement 
 
 
 

 

Monitoring 
 

 Local Plan policies are monitored against objectives 
and indicators and are reported within the Council’s 
Authority Monitoring Report. 

 

4.   Supplementary Planning Documents 
 

4.1. Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) may cover a range of issues, both thematic and site specific, which support policies in the 
Local Plan. They do not set new policy or allocate land. Whilst SPDs are adopted formally by the Council and are material 
considerations in the determination of planning applications, they do not form part of the development plan and are not subject to 
independent examination. 
 

4.2 The Council has produced several SPDs which can be found on the Council’s website.  
 

4.3 The Council is committed to involving the community in the preparation of these documents, but the level and scope of consultation will 
vary according to the nature of the document being produced. The preparation of an SPD is different to preparing a Local Plan 
Document. The Government sets out statutory consultation requirements that the Council must follow. Key statutory stages and 
opportunities for community involvement are set out within Table 3 overleaf. It is recommended that Table 3 is read in conjunction with 
Part 5 of the Town and Country Planning Regulations 2012. 

  

P
age 119



 

16 
 

Table 3 – SPD Key Stages of Production 
Key Stages of SPD Production How we will consult Your opportunities for 

involvement 
Initial Background Work 
 
The Planning Policy Team will carry out 
research to identify the issues and relevant 
policy context as part of evidence gathering. 

 
 

 Not applicable 

 
 

 Register your contact 
details on the Council’s 
Email Alerts  

 
Regulation 12 & 13: Publish the draft SPD 
for consultation 
 
The Planning Policy Team will undertake 
public consultation on the draft SPD for a 
minimum statutory period of 4 weeks. 
 

 
 Electronic versions of the consultation 

documents will be made publicly 
available on the Council’s website. 

 Hard copies of the main consultation 
documents for reference use will be 
made available during normal opening 
hours at certain deposit locations across 
the local planning authority area. 

 Consultation notifications will be sent via 
email to, specific consultation bodies, 
general consultation bodies and, to 
anyone who has registered to receive 
email alerts through the main Council 
email alert system. 
 

 

 
 Review the SPD  
 Submit a formal 

representation to the 
Council outlining your 
comments, support or 
objection 

 
 

Finalise SPD 
 
The Planning Policy Team will review all the 
representations submitted during consultation 
and make any changes to the SPD where 
justified. 
 

 
 Not applicable 

 
 Not applicable 

P
age 120



 

17 
 

Key Stages of SPD Production How we will consult Your opportunities for 
involvement 

The Council will produce a statement setting 
out how it consulted throughout the 
development of the SPD, the issues raised 
and how the SPD has been amended to 
address relevant issues.  
 
 
 
 
Regulation 14: Adoption of the SPD 
The SPD is adopted by the Council 
 
The Council publishes an adoption 
statement. 

 
 The Council will notify those who 

submitted representations of the date 
the SPD will be taken to Full Council for 
adoption. 

 
 Opportunities to speak at 

Full Council  

5.   Other Policy Documents 

Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report 
 

5.1 The first stage of the sustainability appraisal is to consider the scope of the appraisal process. It includes a review of other relevant 
plans, policies and programmes that relate to the local area; information on the present state of the local environment (the baseline); a 
discussion of the local sustainability issues and a series of sustainability objectives that must be considered when preparing 
Development Plan Documents (DPDs). 

5.2  Consultation will be undertaken on the draft Scoping Report. The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes (SEA) 
Regulations (2004) require that local authorities consult: 

 The Environment Agency 
 Natural England; and 
 Historic England  

P
age 121



 

18 
 

  Neighbourhood Plans and Neighbourhood Development Orders  
 

5.3 The production of  Neighbourhood Development Plan is led by the local community. You and or your community may be interested in 
producing a ‘Neighbourhood Plan’ which enables your community to shape local development in your area. It is a way for communities 
to decide the future of the places where they live and work by having more of a say in where new homes, businesses, shops and 
community facilities should be placed in their local area, along with being able to allocate sites for development. Where they choose to, 
local people can draw up a plan or a development order:  

 Neighbourhood Plans allow communities to establish general planning policies for the development of land in their defined 
area. A neighbourhood plan comes into force as part of the statutory development plan once it has been approved at 
referendum. This means that the Council and planning inspectors will need to take the plan into consideration when making 
planning decisions.  

 
 Neighbourhood Development Orders (including community right to build orders) grant planning permission for a specific type 

of development in a particular area. This could be either a particular development or a particular class of development such as 
housing or retail 

 
5.4 It is important to note the council’s role is to provide advice and support to groups developing a plan. Up to submission of the final draft 

(‘proposed submission’) plan, it is the town or parish council (or forum) that is responsible in creating and holding public consultation 
and engagement in its preparation. 

 
5.5 The Council has produced more detailed guidance in relation to Neighbourhood Planning for use by the community which can be 

accessed on our Neighbourhood Planning Webpage. 
 
5.6 The stages of the Plan preparation and how you can get involved are set out in the Table 4 below. 
 
 
 

P
age 122



 

19 
 

Table 4: Statutory Stages of Neighbourhood Plan Production 
Key stages of production Your opportunities for involvement 
 
Define the Neighbourhood area 

 
N/A 
 

 
Approval of Neighbourhood area from Local Planning 
Authority (LPA) 

 
N/A 

 
Preparing the draft Plan 
 
 
 
 

 
The Parish or Town Council is responsible for the preparation 
of the plan. This includes the gathering of evidence, 
consultation with the community (including residents, 
organisations / institutions e.g., schools, business community, 
interest groups) and the writing of the Plan. 
 
Please contact your local Town or Parish Council. 

 
Regulation 14: Pre-submission publicity and consultation 

 
The Parish or Town Council is responsible for the consultation 
of the plan. The consultation must be publicised, so that it is 
brought to the attention of people living, working and 
undertaking business in the neighbourhood area. 
 
Please contact your local Town or Parish Council. 

 
Regulation 16: Submission of a Neighbourhood Plan to 
EHDC 
 
 

 
EHDC will advertise and run this consultation. It will be 
publicised on the Council’s website and organise for the 
consultation documents to be deposited at certain locations 
within the parish.  

 
Examination 

 
EHDC will collate the responses alongside the submission 
documents and send them to the independent examiner. 
 
It is not expected that the examination will include a public 
hearing, although an inspector can use this forum if it is 

P
age 123



 

20 
 

Key stages of production Your opportunities for involvement 
considered necessary to ensure adequate examination of an 
issue or to give a person a fair chance to put a case.  
 
You will therefore be contacted directly, if relevant to 
participate at this stage. 
 

 
Referendum 

 
EHDC is the electoral authority. Referendum documents will 
be compiled by EHDC. These documents will be made 
available on the Council’s website and are a regulatory 
requirement. 
 
If you are a resident of the Parish or Town, you can vote as 
part of this referendum. 

 
Adoption 

 
The Council will notify those who submitted representations of 
the date the NDP will be taken to Full Council for adoption. 
 
Opportunities to speak at Full Council. 

 

 Community Infrastructure Levy  
 

5.7  The CIL Regulations enable local planning authorities to raise funding for new infrastructure by levying a charge on new development 
within their area. The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is an important mechanism for the Council and its partners to fund 
infrastructure provision to mitigate the impact of new development within the District. 
 

5.8  The Council adopted its CIL charging schedule for those parts of the district located outside of the South Downs National Park 
Authority in April 2016. As part of the CIL process, the Council as the charging authority has produced the following documents: 

 Charging Schedule 
 CIL Spending Protocol  

P
age 124



 

21 
 

 Infrastructure Funding Statement  

Charging Schedule 
 

5.9  The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a levy that local authorities can charge on developments in their area. CIL income can be 
used to fund additional infrastructure required to support new development including roads, schools, green spaces and community 
facilities. 

 
5.10  The levy is charged in pounds (£) per square metre on new floorspace (measured as gross internal area) of any type of development 

which has a CIL rate set in the Charging Schedule (plus indexation as set out in the CIL Regulations). The Council adopted its CIL 
Charging Schedule on the 25 February 2016 and it was implemented on the 8 April 2016.   

 
5.11 Although the Council has implemented its Charging Schedule, the Charging Schedule has to be reviewed to ensure it is up to date. In 

the future the Council will need to produce a revised Charging Schedule thus repeating the preparation and consultation process. 
Each year the Council manually update the figures (in January) for each zone to ensure they are charged at the correct indexation.  
 

5.12  This SCI will set out the key statutory procedures that the Council must follow prior to adopting a revised Charging Schedule as 
enclosed within Table 5. It is recommended that Table 5 is read in conjunction with Part 3 of the CIL Regulations. 
 

5.13  Further information regarding the operation of CIL in the district can be found here. 
 

5.14  Further information can also be found on The National Planning Practice Guidance website. 
 

Table 5: CIL Charging Schedule Key Stages of Production 
Key stages of production How we will consult Your opportunities for involvement  

 
Initial Evidence Gathering 
 
The Planning Policy Team will carry out 
research and evidence work to inform 

 
 

 Not applicable  

 
 

 Register your contact details on 
the Council’s Email Alerts  

P
age 125



 

22 
 

Key stages of production How we will consult Your opportunities for involvement  
 

the proposed levy rates to be set out 
within the Preliminary Charging 
Schedule. 
 

 

Regulation 15: Publish the 
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule 
for consultation 
 
1st Public Consultation 
 
The Planning Policy Team will 
undertake public consultation on the 
CIL Preliminary Draft Charging 
Schedule for a minimum period of 6 
weeks 
 

Statutory Requirements: 
 Send a copy of the preliminary draft to 

Local Planning Authorities that adjoin 
the charging authority’s area, 
Hampshire County Council and all 
Town and Parish Councils that fall 
within the charging authority’s area 

 
 Notification to be sent to persons who 

are resident or carrying on business in 
its area, appropriate voluntary bodies 
and bodies which represent the 
interests of persons carrying on 
business in the charging authority’s 
area 
 

 
 

 

 
 Review the CIL Preliminary Draft 

Charging Schedule 
 

 Submit a formal representation 
outlining your comments, support 
or objection 

 
Please Note: Representations submitted 
during this consultation stage will not be 
considered by the Inspector. 

Regulation 16: Publish the CIL Draft 
Charging Schedule for consultation 
 
2nd Public Consultation 
 
The Planning Policy Team will 
undertake public consultation on the 
Draft charging Schedule for a minimum 
period of 6 weeks 

Statutory Requirements: 
 

 Electronic version of the consultation 
document, relevant evidence, 
statement of the representations 
procedure and statement of how to 
view hard copies will be made publicly 
available on the Council’s website 

 

 
 

 Review the Draft Preliminary 
Charging Schedule  

 
 Submit a formal representation 

outlining your comments, support 
or objection 

 

P
age 126



 

23 
 

Key stages of production How we will consult Your opportunities for involvement  
 

 Hard copies of the consultation 
document, relevant evidence, 
statement of the representations 
procedure use will be made available 
at deposit locations across the local 
planning authority area 

 
 Send a copy of the consultation 

document and statement of 
representation procedure to Local 
Planning Authorities (that adjoin the 
Charging Authority’s area), Hampshire 
County Council and all Town /Parish 
Councils that fall within the charging 
local planning authority area 

 
 

 

 This is the final opportunity to 
submit a duly made 
representation. 

 
 The Planning Inspector will only 

consider representations submitted 
during this stage as it is 
considered that these 
representations (objections) are 
unresolved. 

 

Regulation 19: Submission of CIL 
Draft Charging Schedule to 
Examiner 
 
Final Draft Charging Schedule 
 

 Submit CIL Draft Charging 
Schedule, evidence base and 
representations received during 
Regulation 16 

 
 Submit statement setting out 

the representations made 
during Regulation 16 and a 

Statutory Requirements: 
 

 All submission documents will be 
electronically available on the 
Council’s website and reference 
copies available at deposit locations 
across the local planning authority 
area 

 
 Give notice to those persons who 

requested to be notified of the 
submission of the CIL Draft Charging 
Schedule 

 
 

 The Council will notify those 
registered for the Council’s Email 
Alerts, elected Members, Town / 
Parish Councils and those who 
submitted representations that the 
CIL Draft Charging Schedule has 
been submitted for Examination 

P
age 127



 

24 
 

Key stages of production How we will consult Your opportunities for involvement  
 

summary of the main issues 
raised by representations 

 
 The Council will then wait for 

the Planning Inspector to set 
the timetable for the 
Examination of the Charging 
Schedule.  
 

 
 
Regulation 25: Approval & 
Publication of CIL Charging 
Schedule 
 

 CIL Charging Schedule is 
adopted by the Council and 
published 

Statutory Requirements: 
 

 Publish CIL Charging Schedule on the 
Council’s website 

 
 Make the CIL Charging Schedule 

available for inspection 
 

 Give notice to those persons who 
requested to be notified of the 
approval of the CIL Charging 
Schedule 

 
 
The Council will notify those registered for 
the Council’s Email Alerts, elected 
Members, Town / Parish Councils and 
those who submitted representations that 
the CIL Charging Schedule has been 
approved 

P
age 128



 

25 
 

6. Planning Applications 
 

6.1 East Hampshire District Council is the Planning Authority for those parts of the district outside of the South Downs National Park 
Authority (SDNP). As Planning Authority, the Council considers and determines planning applications made under planning legislation 
with proposals ranging from minor household developments such as extensions, through to major applications for residential 
development, retail, office schemes, industrial schemes and infrastructure schemes (e.g. new roads).  

 
6.2  The Council does not determine planning applications relating to mineral processing and waste disposal. Such proposals are 

determined by Hampshire County Council. Further information can be found here.  
 

6.3  The Council wishes to ensure that any person, group and service providers affected by or interested in a planning application has an 
opportunity to comment on planning applications.   
 

Pre-Application Advice 
 

6.4  The Council considers it very important that the local community is involved in the development management process as early as 
possible. The Council therefore encourages applicants of major, significant or sensitive sites to engage with the local community 
before a planning application is submitted to ensure that issues are identified and that applicants have the opportunity to make 
appropriate amendments to their scheme.  

 
6.5  The Council encourages potential applicants to engage with the local community on major development at the pre-application stage. 

Applicants may also wish to discuss proposals with the local Councillor(s) or Town / Parish Council.  
 

6.6  The Council would expect applicants to undertake high quality consultation that is transparent for the community, is not misleading and 
makes it clear that no decision has been made by the Council. The Local Planning Authority wishes to encourage pre-application 
engagement with communities and developers where it will add value to the process and the outcome.  
 

6.7  Wherever possible, the Council will discuss the need for community involvement with applicants and agents at the pre-application 
stage, early consultation is encouraged. Further information can be found at the Council’s pre-application advice service.  

P
age 129



 

26 
 

Design Review Panel 
 

6.8  Where appropriate the Council will utilise the services of the Design Review Panel (also known as the Architects panel) which is a 
process whereby significant development proposals may be referred to Design Review Panels. These panels consist of independently 
appointed architects, designers and development professionals who provide unbiased design advice to the Council. There is the 
opportunity for the designer to present their scheme to the Panel.  

Development Consultation Forum 
 

6.9  Where appropriate, the Council will establish a Development Consultation Forum as a mechanism to allow a developer of significant 
proposals to explain their proposals to councillors, public and key stakeholders at an early stage. The Forum will seek to:  

• Identify any issues that may be considered in a formal application;  
• Inform pre-application discussions between officers and the developer; and  
• Enable the developer to shape an application to address community issues.  

Publicity  
 

6.10  All planning applications are subject to statutory consultation requirements and these are set out in Appendix B together with the 
additional actions the Council undertakes over and above the statutory minimum. East Hampshire District Council will continue to 
engage its community based on these requirements.  
 

6.11  Where a press advertisement is required this is published in The Hampshire Independent.  
 

6.12  Site Notices - Statutory site notices and major application site notices will be placed on or close to the planning application site 
advertising the details of the proposed development.   

 
6.13  Neighbour notification letters are sent to the occupiers of any “adjoining property” and give 28 days from the date of the letter to make 

comment. The definition of this is set out at the end of Appendix B. Where that property lies outside the East Hampshire District 
Council planning area (i.e. within the South Downs National Park or within an adjoining administrative area) the Council will notify the 
occupier of that property. For major or significant schemes the Council may, at its discretion, notify the occupiers of more properties 
than the minimum.  

P
age 130



 

27 
 

 
6.14  Where significant amendments are made to an application the Council may undertake additional publicity in the form of a subsequent 

round of neighbour notification. This will be for a shorter time period and will only be undertaken where the amendments may have a 
material impact off the site.  

 
6.15  When submitting a planning application, it would be helpful to include within the Planning Statement (or provide a separate statement 

on community involvement) how the community has been consulted, a summary of what comments have been received and how the 
scheme has been amended to address matters of concern. 

Viewing / Commenting on a Planning Application  
 

6.16  Planning applications can be viewed on the Council’s website or at the Council offices during opening days/hours. Anyone can view 
and make comments on planning applications online via the planning application search register. 

 
6.17  Comments can also be submitted via email / post. Representations received cannot be treated in confidence and will form part of the 

public planning application file which (subject to the Data Protection Act) is available on line, or, for inspection by appointment for ‘live’ 
files, at the Council Offices.  
 

6.18 All representations that are valid planning issues, will be taken into account in the decision making process and will be summarised. 
Representations should be sent in to the Council before the end of the consultation period, which will be the last of the neighbour 
notification, site notice or press advertisement periods. Where an application is considered at Planning Committee any late 
representation will also be brought to the attention of the committee. 

 
6.19  The Council has a scheme to allow the public to speak at its Planning Committee but there are some rules that must be followed. This 

information can be found on the Council’s web page. 
  

P
age 131



 

28 
 

7. Appendix A – Specific and General Consultation Bodies 
 

7.1 The Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) Regulations 2012 require the Council to consult the following 
‘specific’ and ‘general’ consultation bodies if proposals in planning policy documents affect them. A number of these bodies are also 
considered to be Duty to Co-operate bodies). It is important to note that the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 
(schedule 1) also requires qualifying bodies to consult the same consultation bodies in the preparation of Neighbourhood Development 
Plans. In instances where any of the organisations (bodies) detailed below cease to exist, successor bodies will be consulted. 

 
Specific Consultation Bodies 

 
Local Planning Authorities  

 Basingstoke and Deane Borough Council 
 Chichester District Council  
 Hampshire County Council 
 Hart District Council 
 Havant Borough Council  
 South Downs National Park Authority 
 Waverley Borough Council  
 Winchester City Council  

 
Town / Parish Councils  

 All Town and Parish Councils within and adjoining 
East Hampshire District  

 
Local Enterprise Partnerships 

 Enterprise M3 LEP 
 The Solent LEP 

 

The Coal Authority 
Homes and Communities Agency  
Natural England  
The Environment Agency  
Historic England  
Network Rail Infrastructure Ltd  
Highways England  
Marine Management Organisation 
Relevant telecommunications companies  
Hampshire Constabulary/ Police and Crime Commissioner  
Relevant health bodies e.g. Clinical Commissioning Group 
Relevant electricity and gas companies 
South East Water and Portsmouth Water (Water Supply) 
Southern Water and Thames Water (Waste Water)  

 
The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (legislation.gov.uk) – Preparation of a Local Plan 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012  - Duty to Co-operate  

P
age 132



 

29 
 

7.2 In addition to the specific consultation bodies listed above, the council/qualifying body will involve as many people and groups should 
they deem them affected by the proposal, in the categories below: 
 

General Consultation Bodies 
 

 voluntary bodies some or all of whose activities benefit any 
part of the local planning authority’s area,  

 
 bodies which represent the interests of different racial, ethnic 

or national groups in the local planning authority’s area,  
 

 bodies which represent the interests of different religious 
groups in the local planning authority’s area,  

 

 bodies which represent the interests of disabled persons in 
the local planning authority’s area,  

 
 bodies which represent the interests of persons carrying on 

business in the local planning authority’s area;  
 

 
Examples of organisations which are General Consultation Bodies 

 
Environment and conservation groups (e.g. the Royal Society for the 
Protection of Birds, Hampshire and Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust, CPRE) 

Landowners and developers 

Minority ethnic groups Local businesses/ bodies which represent local businesses 
Gypsy and Traveller groups Local resident associations 
Sport England and Sport Hampshire Older persons groups 
Youth groups, schools and colleges Religious groups 
Health care groups Transport providers/operators 
Housing interest groups Climate change groups 

 
 

  

P
age 133



 

30 
 

8. Appendix B – Publicity for Planning Applications 
 

8.1 Publicity for Planning Applications within the East Hampshire Planning Area (i.e. that area of East Hampshire outside the South Downs 
National Park) 
 

8.2 In addition to the publicity set out in these tables the Council will also consult those bodies set out the Town and Country Planning 
Development Management Procedure Order or Planning Practice Guidance. 

 

Pre-submission of planning applications 

Nature of Proposed 
Development 
 

Statutory Publicity Additional publicity carried out by East Hampshire District 
Council 

Applications for 
planning permission 
and listed building 
consent 

Where the applicant is not the owner of the land, 
notice served upon the owner where known, or if 
not known, press advertisement 

Encourage the discussion of major development proposals with 
interested parties and local communities. For example, meet 
Parish or Town Council, notify neighbours, local exhibitions, 
newsletters, leaflets and websites. 
 

 
  

P
age 134



 

31 
 

Post Submission of Planning Applications 

Nature of Proposed Development Statutory Publicity Additional publicity carried 
out by East Hampshire 
District Council 

All applications except for: 

 Listed Building Consent 
 Prior Approval demolition of buildings 
 Agricultural determinations as to whether prior 

approval is required 
 Permitted development prior determinations, apart 

from those relating to dwellings 
 Applications for Certificate of lawful development or 

use 
 

 Details of valid application entered on 
statutory register 

 Site notice or neighbourhood notification 

 Neighbour notification, or, 
where no neighbours, site 
notice 

Applications (except for a Certificate of Lawful 
Development or use) affecting the character or 
appearance of a conservation area 

 Press notice published by the Council 
 Site notice displayed by Council for at least 

7 days. 

 Site notice displayed for 21 
days 

Applications (except for a Certificate of Lawful 
Development or use) affecting the setting of a listed 
building. 

 Press notice published by the Council 
 Site notice displayed by Council for at least 

7 days. 

 Site notice displayed for 21 
days 

Application accompanied with an Environmental 
Statement when application initially submitted 

 Press notice published by the Council 
 Site notice displayed by Council for at least 

21 days. 

 Nil 

Application accompanied by an Environmental 
Statement when statement submitted at a later date 

 Press notice published by the Council 
 Site Notice displayed by the applicant for a 

least 7 days. 

 Site notice displayed for 21 
days 

P
age 135



 

32 
 

Post Submission of Planning Applications 

Nature of Proposed Development Statutory Publicity Additional publicity carried 
out by East Hampshire 
District Council 

Application for planning permission which represents a 
departure from the Development Plan 

 Press notice published by the Council 
 Site notice displayed by Council for at least 

21 days. 

 Neighbour notification 

Application for planning permission which affects a 
public right of way 

 Press notice published by the Council 
 Site notice displayed by Council for at least 

21 days. 

 Neighbour notification 

Application for planning permission for: 

 10 or more dwellings; 
 Residential development on a site of 0.5ha or more 

where number of dwellings not known; 
 1000m2 or more of commercial floorspace; or 
 Site area of 1.0ha or more. 

 Press notice published by the Council 
 A site notice to be displayed by the Council 

for at least 21 days or neighbour notification 

 Site notice to be displayed 
by the Council for at least 
21 days and, where they 
exist, neighbour notification 

Application for planning permission for: 

 9 or less dwellings; 
 Residential development on a site of less than 

0.5ha where number of dwellings not known; 
 Less than 1000m2 of commercial floorspace;  
 Site area of less than 1.0ha; or 
 Householder development. 

 A site notice to be displayed by the Council 
for at least 21 days or neighbour notification 

 Neighbour notification, or, 
where no neighbours, site 
notice 

Application for Listed Building Consent except  

 Those where the proposal will only alter the interior 
of a Grade II listed building or to vary/discharge 
conditions on a consent already granted 
 

 Press Notice published by the Council; 
 Site notice displayed by the Council for at 

least 7 days 
 

 Site notice displayed by the 
Council for at least 21 days 

 Neighbour notification 

P
age 136



 

33 
 

Post Submission of Planning Applications 

Nature of Proposed Development Statutory Publicity Additional publicity carried 
out by East Hampshire 
District Council 

Application for Listed Building Consent where the 
proposal will only alter the interior of a Grade II listed 
building or to vary/discharge conditions on a consent 
already granted 

• Nil  Site notice displayed by the 
Council for at least 21 days 

 Neighbour notification 

Application for express consent to display 
advertisements 

• Nil  Neighbour notification 

Application to undertake works to trees covered by Tree 
Preservation Order  

 Details of valid application entered on 
statutory register 

• Neighbour notification 

Notification to undertake works to trees in a 
Conservation Area not covered by Tree Preservation 
Order  

• Details of valid application entered on 
statutory register 

• Neighbour notification  

Application for demolition of buildings where 
determination as to whether prior approval of the Local 
Planning Authority is required (when not associated 
with an application for planning permission) 

 Site Notice displayed by applicant • Nil 

Application for approval of method of demolition and/or 
restoration of site associated with the demolition of a 
building (when not associated with an application for 
planning permission) 

 Details of valid application entered on 
statutory register 

• Nil 

P
age 137



 

34 
 

Post Submission of Planning Applications 

Nature of Proposed Development Statutory Publicity Additional publicity carried 
out by East Hampshire 
District Council 

Application for agricultural or forestry development as to 
whether prior approval of Local Planning Authority is 
required 

• Details of valid application entered on 
statutory register 

 

Application for approval of siting, design and/or external 
appearance of agricultural or forestry development 

 Site Notice displayed by applicant • Nil 

Application for Telecommunications development as to 
whether prior approval of Local Planning Authority is 
required where: 

 The proposal represents a departure from the 
development plan; or  

 The proposal affects a public right of way 
 

 Press Notice published by the Council; 
 Site notice displayed by the Council for at 

least 21 days 

 Neighbour notification 

Application for Telecommunications development as to 
whether prior approval of Local Planning Authority is 
required where the site area is 1.0ha or more 

 Press Notice published by the Council; 
 Site notice displayed by the Council for at 

least 21 days or neighbour notification 

 Neighbour notification 

Application for Telecommunications development as to 
whether prior approval of Local Planning Authority is 
required where: 

 The proposal is not a departure from the 
development plan; 

 Does not affect a public right of way; and 
 The site is less than 1.0ha 

 Site notice displayed by the Council for at 
least 21 days or neighbour notification 

 Neighbour notification 

P
age 138



 

35 
 

Post Submission of Planning Applications 

Nature of Proposed Development Statutory Publicity Additional publicity carried 
out by East Hampshire 
District Council 

Application for Prior Approval for householder 
development 

 Neighbour notification for 21 days  Neighbour notification 

Applications for Certificate of Lawful Development for 
existing development or use 

• Nil  Equivalent publicity for 
application for planning 
permission of that type 

Applications for Certificate of Lawful Development for 
proposed development or use 

• Nil • Nil 

Change of use Prior Approval (permitted development 
where prior approval of the Local Planning Authority is 
required, depending on type, of transport, noise, flood 
risk or contamination) 

• Details of valid application entered on 
statutory register 

• Nil 

 

 

 
Definition of ‘adjoining property’: Any neighbouring property that shares a common boundary with the land subject to the proposed 
development. 
 
In all cases the owners/occupiers of property are notified, land owners of open land or where the property is in extensive grounds and not 
within 50m of the application site, are not notified. 

P
age 139



 

36 
 

9. Glossary 
 

Community 
Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) 

A levy that local authorities can choose to charge on new developments in their area. The charges are based on 
formula relating to the size and type of new development and money can be used to fund infrastructure. 
 

Development Plan Documents which set out the policies and proposals for the development and use of land. In the East Hampshire 
District (outside of the South Downs National Park Authority) the development plan currently comprises the Joint 
Core Strategy (2014), Housing and Employment Allocation Plan (2016) and the Saved Policies of the Local Plan 
Second Review (2006), Hampshire County Council Minerals and Waste Plan and Neighbourhood Plans. 
 

Duty to Co-operate The NPPF and Localism Act 2011 places a statutory requirement on Local Planning Authorities, County Councils, 
and public bodies to actively engage on an on-going basis during the Local Plan preparation. 
 

Evidence Base Information gathered by the Local Planning Authority to support the Local Plan and other Development Plan 
Documents. 
 

Habitats Regulations 
Assessment (HRA) 

Requires ‘appropriate assessment’ of plans and projects that are, either alone or in combination with other plans 
and projects, likely to have a significant impact on national and international designated sites.  The designation, 
protection and restoration of European sites is embedded in the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017, as amended, which are commonly referred to as the ‘Habitats Regulations’.  The most recent amendments 
(the Conservation of Habitats and Species (amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations) take account of the UK’s departure 
from the EU. 
 

Local Development 
Document 

The collective term for Development Plan Documents (DPDs), Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) and 
the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) 
 

Local Development 
Scheme (LDS) 

Provides a project plan identifying which development plan documents will be produced and when. 
 

Local Planning 
Authority Area  

The areas of the District where East Hampshire District Council is the local planning authority. This is the parts of 
the district that lie outside the South Downs National Park (SDNP).  

National Planning 
Policy Framework 
(NPPF) 

Introduced in 2012 and subsequently amended, this framework sets out the government’s planning policies and 
how these are expected to be applied. 
 

P
age 140



 

37 
 

Neighbourhood Plans Neighbourhood Plans are a way for communities to allocate land for new homes, shops or offices to be built, and 
to have a say on what those new buildings should look like and the type of infrastructure which would be provided. 
 

EHDC Email Alert Database maintained by the Council which includes anyone who has requested to be consulted on the preparation 
of Planning Policy documents. 
 

Strategic 
Environmental 
Assessment (SEA) 

A generic term used to describe environmental assessment as applied to policies, plans and programmes. The 
European ‘SEA Directive’ (2001/42/EC) requires a formal ‘environmental assessment of certain plans and 
programmes, including those in the field of planning and land use’. 

Supplementary 
Planning Documents 
(SPDs) 
 

Provide supplementary information in respect of the policies in Development Plan Documents. They do not form 
part of the Development Plan and are not subject to independent examination. 

Sustainability Appraisal 
(SA) 

Process to appraise policies to ensure they reflect sustainable development objectives (i.e. social, environmental 
and economic factors).  

 

P
age 141



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

                                                                            Page  1 of 6 

 

NON-EXEMPT 

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Planning Policy Committee       20 December 2021 

        

Revocation of the Planning Contributions and Community Infrastructure 

Levy SPD 2016 

 

FOR DECISION 

 

Portfolio Holder: Angela Glass 

Key Decision: No  

Report Number: [EHDC/HBC/…/20]  

 

1. Purpose 

1.1. This paper is submitted to Planning Policy Committee for a policy decision. 

2. Recommendation 

2.1. Members are requested to  

a. recommend to Council, the revocation of the Planning Contributions and 

Community Infrastructure Levy SPD 2016 

3. Executive Summary 

3.1. On the 7 April 2016, the Council adopted the Planning Contributions and 

Community Infrastructure Levy SPD. 

3.2. Since its production there have been many changes to how we plan for 

infrastructure and amendments made to legislation, namely the CIL Regulations 

2010 (as amended). This has resulted in the adopted SPD becoming out of date 

and in some instances, unlawful. A recommendation was brought to Council on 

14 January 2021 to factually update the SPD to remove out of date references to 

Page 143

Agenda Item 7



  

                                                                            Page  2 of 6 

 

CIL, remove aspects that no longer satisfy the relevant legislation and retain 

those parts that can still lawfully be implemented. This was as an interim measure 

until such a time as we could adequately make provision elsewhere within the 

Council’s Planning Policy framework and therefore revoke the whole SPD. 

4. Additional Budgetary Implications  

4.1. None 

5. Background and relationship to Corporate Strategy and/or Business Plans 

5.1. The SPD was produced to set out the Council’s approach to delivering 

infrastructure associated with new development following the introduction of the 

CIL charging on the 8 April 2016 in the part of East Hampshire District that is 

located outside of the South Downs National Park.  

5.2. Since 2019 there has been a requirement to produce an annual Infrastructure 

Funding Statement (IFS). The Council’s first IFS was published in December 

2020. 

5.3. The Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS) is an annual report published in 

December as a requirement of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 

(2019 Amendment). It provides a summary of all financial and non-financial 

developer contributions relating to Section 106 Legal Agreements (S106) and the 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

5.4. It can also to be used to not only report ‘the facts’ but to also make statements 

about future likely receipts, infrastructure priorities and how they will be funded. 

The Council can therefore use the IFS to set out how developer contributions will 

be used to deliver plan policies, including projects or types of infrastructure.  

5.5. Local authorities can publish Infrastructure Funding Statements more frequently if 

they wish, allowing for the information it contains to be maintained and up to date. 

5.6. The Council will therefore use the IFS to set out the Council’s approach to 

delivering infrastructure, incorporating those parts of the SPD that remain relevant 

and can still be lawfully implemented. The Council’s 2021 IFS is appended to this 

report for information and context (Appendix 1). 

Page 144



  

                                                                            Page  3 of 6 

 

6. Options considered 

6.1. The options considered are as follows: 

6.2. Option 1: Do nothing – do not revoke the SPD 

6.3. This option is not recommended by officers on the basis that the Council has a 

statutory obligation to plan for appropriate infrastructure to support the growth in 

the district. Since the abolition of Regulation123 of the CIL Regulations 2010 (as 

amended), the IFS identifies the infrastructure priorities. The Council’s Planning 

Contributions and Community Infrastructure Levy SPD 2016 refers to 

Regulation123 throughout and is now to be superseded by the IFS. The two 

documents are likely to be contradictory as the SPD was prepared at a point in 

time. Therefore, it is necessary to revoke the Planning Contributions and 

Community Infrastructure Levy SPD to provide a clear policy framework moving 

forward. 

6.4. Option 2: revoke the SPD  

6.5. This is the only option that enables the Council to remove a document which no 

longer meets our needs or the legal requirements. This option ensures the 

provision of infrastructure and the Council’s infrastructure priorities, and decisions 

are transparent.  

7. Resource Implications 

7.1. Financial Implications 

7.2. None 

7.3. Human Resources Implications 

7.4. None 

7.5. Information Governance Implications 

Section 151 Officer comments 

Date: 19 November 2021 

No additional financial implications 

Page 145



  

                                                                            Page  4 of 6 

 

7.6. None 

7.7. Links to Shaping our Future Programme 

7.8. None   

7.9. Other resource implications 

7.10. None 

8. Legal Implications 

9. The revocation of the Planning Contributions and Community Infrastructure Levy 

SPD will be in line with the requirements set out in the Town and Country 

Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 

10. Risks 

10.1. The revocation of the Planning Contributions and Community Infrastructure Levy 

SPD means that this can no longer be used as a material planning consideration 

in the determination of planning applications. The aspects of the document that 

remain useful will be transferred into the IFS and published on the Council’s 

webpage. The risks of retaining the SPD in its current form are that much of its 

content is in direct contradiction with the direction of travel for spending CIL and 

its interaction with securing appropriate S106 obligations, following changes to 

legislation, namely the revocation of Regulation 123 of The Community 

Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 as amended (“the CIL Regulations”). 

Monitoring Officer comments 

Date: 24 November 2021 

Legal and governance implications are set out in the legal implications section above 

Shaping our Future Lead comments/sign-off 

Date: 11 November 2021 

This report and recommendations have no implications for the SoF programme. 

Page 146



  

                                                                            Page  5 of 6 

 

11. Consultation  

11.1. The revocation of the SPD has been previously discussed with Development 

Management colleagues, at Planning Policy Committee and Council in relation to 

factually updating the document to try and ensure its legal compliance. 

12. Communication 

12.1. In line with the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 

Regulations 2012, Regulation 15, the Council will notify interested parties that the 

SPD has been revoked. This information will be made available on the Council’s 

webpages and key consultees, infrastructure providers and general consultation 

bodies will be notified via email or letter. 

13. Appendices 

13.1. Appendix 1 - EHDC IFS 2021 

14. Background papers 

14.1. Planning Contributions and Community Infrastructure Levy SPD 2016 

 

Agreed and signed off by: 

 

Portfolio Holder: Angela Glass 19.11.21 

Director: Simon Jenkins 24.11.21 

Monitoring Officer: Daniel Toohey  24.11.21 

Section 151 Officer: Lydia Morrison 23.11.21 

 

Contact Officer  

Name:  Victoria Potts 

Job Title: Planning Policy Manager 

Telephone: 01483 234212 

E-mail: victoria.potts@easthants.gov.uk  

  

Page 147

https://cdn.easthants.gov.uk/public/documents/Planning%20Contributions%20and%20CIL%20Supplementary%20Planning%20Document%20-%20April%202016.pdf
https://cdn.easthants.gov.uk/public/documents/Planning%20Contributions%20and%20CIL%20Supplementary%20Planning%20Document%20-%20April%202016.pdf


  

                                                                            Page  6 of 6 

 

 

 

 

Page 148



1 
 

Infrastructure Funding 
Statement (IFS) 2021 

 
 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     

 

                                                                                                          

 

2021 

 

Page 149



2 
 

 

Contents 
1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 3 

2. What is Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)? ............................................................................... 3 

3. What is Section 106 (S106)? ........................................................................................................... 4 

4. Section 278 Highway Agreements .................................................................................................. 5 

5. Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Monitoring ........................................................................... 5 

6. Funding from Strategic Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) ........................................................ 8 

7. Section 106 (S106) Monitoring ....................................................................................................... 8 

8. Infrastructure to be secured via S106 Agreements ........................................................................ 9 

Appendix A – Potential Liability  

Appendix B - Links to published monitoring data of Neighbourhood Portions for this year 

(2019/2020) 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 150



3 
 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1. This is an Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS) providing a summary of the financial 

contributions relating to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and Section 106 (S106) 

within East Hampshire District (outside of the South Downs National Park) for ‘this year’ 

(01/04/2020 – 31/03/2021). Whenever this document says, ‘this year’, it is this period it is 

referring to.  

 

1.2. The IFS provides the policy framework as to how the Council will deliver infrastructure across 

the district. The IFS also details how funding from development will be utilised to secure 

varying infrastructure under S106 or CIL. 

 

1.3. The Council’s first round of Strategic CIL Funding occurred this year. Those projects that were 

awarded Strategic CIL Funding are listed in Section 6.  

 

2. What is Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)? 
 

2.1. CIL is intended to fund generalised infrastructure requirements across the district to support 

new development. CIL income can be used to fund additional infrastructure required to 

support new development including roads, schools, green spaces, and community facilities. 

 

2.2. The levy is charged in pounds (£) per square metre on new floorspace (measured as gross 

internal area) of any type of development which has a CIL rate set in the Charging Schedule.  

 

2.3. The amount of CIL payable by developers depends on where the development is located 

within the district and the type of development. The Council adopted its Community 

Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule on 25 February 2016, and its charging schedule is 

published online at www.easthants.gov.uk/cil-charging-schedule. As stated in the CIL Charging 

Schedule, Whitehill and Bordon Regeneration Area is a CIL Island and therefore has a CIL rate 

of £0sqm. All associated infrastructure is secured via S106. 

 

2.4. The Council adopted its CIL Spending Protocol on 14 January 2021, the document sets out the 

process for determining the spending of CIL. The document is published online at 

https://cdn.easthants.gov.uk/public/documents/CIL%20protocol%202021.pdf. Decisions on 

how CIL income should be spent within East Hampshire District (outside the South Downs 

National Park) lie with East Hampshire District Council for the Strategic CIL funding pot and 

with Town and Parish Councils in relation to the Neighbourhood Portion of CIL. For further 

information on the Neighbourhood Portion, please contact Parish/Town Councils. 

 

2.5. The Strategic CIL Funding pot is open to bidding once per year. It will be used to fund 

infrastructure to support growth in the district and decisions on allocation of funding will be in 

line with the Council’s Spending Protocol. Those projects granted Strategic CIL funding this 

year will be listed later in this IFS in section 6.  

 

Page 151

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/cil-charging-schedule
https://cdn.easthants.gov.uk/public/documents/CIL%20protocol%202021.pdf


4 
 

2.6. CIL money is split between the Councils administration cost, Parish and Town Council 

Neighbourhood Portion and Strategic CIL allocation. Further detail can be found in section 6.  

 

2.7. Due to the uncertainty over forecasting, the council is unable to make a reliable forecast of 

future CIL Income so has not done so. 

Who is liable to pay CIL?  

2.8. Landowners are ultimately liable for the levy, but anyone involved in a development may take 

on the CIL liability. Where no one has assumed liability, it will automatically default to the 

landowners and payment becomes due as soon as the development commences. In these 

circumstances, the landowner will not benefit from the Council’s instalment policy.  

 

2.9. The Council will require the submission of an Assumption of Liability Notice1 at the earliest 

opportunity and before development commences.  

 

2.10. Appendix A illustrates some of the more common development scenarios and lists whether or 

not the proposal will be CIL liable.  

 

3. What is Section 106 (S106)?  
 

3.1. Planning obligations, also known as S106, are private agreements made between local 

authorities and developers and can be attached to a planning permission to make 

development acceptable which would otherwise be unacceptable in planning terms.  

 

3.2. S106 will continue to operate alongside CIL. S106 may be sought in addition to CIL where site 

specific measures are required to make a development acceptable, this can be through the 

provision of infrastructure that is on or off site. For example, affordable housing, which is 

outside the remit of CIL, and specific highway or flood alleviation measures. 

 

3.3. Any S106 agreements will need to meet the three tests set out in the CIL Regulations 2019 (as 

amended): 

• Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms 

• Directly related to the development 

• Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development 

 

3.4. At this time, we are unable to detail the amount of S106 monies spent this year. Future 

Infrastructure Funding Statements will include this information.  

 

 

 

 
1 http://www.planningportal.gov.uk/uploads/1app/forms/form_1_assumption_of_liability.pdf 

Page 152

https://ecab.planningportal.co.uk/uploads/1app/forms/form_1_assumption_of_liability.pdf
http://www.planningportal.gov.uk/uploads/1app/forms/form_1_assumption_of_liability.pdf


5 
 

4. Section 278 Highway Agreements  
 

4.1. Section 278 Agreements (S278) are legal agreements that can fund infrastructure. These are 

legally binding agreements made under the Highways Act 1990 between Local Highway 

Authorities and Developers. S278 agreements are required to ensure that the road networks 

are able to cope with new development. S278 agreements are the responsibility of Hampshire 

County Council as the Highway Authority. The County Council can provide further data 

regarding these agreements during this year. 

 

5. Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Monitoring 
 

Monitoring (the Council) 

5.1. For East Hampshire District (outside the SDNP), the total amount of CIL payments collected 

from developments this year is £1,706,996.37.  

 

5.2. The Council started collecting CIL in April 2016. Up to the start of this year (1 April 2020), the 

Council had already collected £3,211,832.63 in CIL payments from developments.  Therefore, 

up to the end of this year (31 March 2021), the Council has collected in total £4,918,829 in CIL 

payments from development2.   

 

5.3. This total amount collected (£4,918,829) does not equate to money that is available to the 

Council to allocate to spend on infrastructure. 5% of this total contributes towards covering 

the Council’s administration costs, and 15% or 25% is passed to Parish/Town Councils (known 

as “the Neighbourhood Portion” – see more information further on in this report).  

 

5.4. Of this total amount collected (£4,918,829), £245,941.38 has contributed towards the 

Council’s administration costs and £589,690.18 has been passed to Parish/Town Councils as 

the Neighbourhood Portion. From this year’s CIL money collected (£1,706,996.37), £85,349.75 

has gone towards the Council’s administration costs, and £119,960.37 has been passed on as 

the Neighbourhood Portion.  

 

5.5. This leaves a total amount of CIL collected that is available to fund infrastructure projects of 

£3,843,478.25 (as at 31 March 2021), known as Strategic CIL. Further money has been 

collected since then, and the total amount is as per the date/point in time.  

 

5.6. The amount of CIL spent on repaying money borrowed, including any interest, is zero.  

 

5.7. To spend the Strategic CIL money collected, the Council needs to have a Spending Protocol in 

place. This sets out the governance and process for how infrastructure projects will be 

allocated funds.  East Hampshire District Council adopted its CIL Spending Protocol on 14 

January 2021 at Full Council.  

 

 
2 Note, this is from chargeable developments – not all developments have to pay CIL as there are some 
exemptions. 

Page 153



6 
 

5.8. Strategic CIL was allocated, according to the Council’s adopted Spending Protocol, in July 

2021.  A total of £1,960,348 of Strategic CIL money was allocated to funding infrastructure 

projects, (as detailed later in Table 3), resulting in £1,883,130 remaining in the Strategic CIL 

funding pot available for future bidding in 2022.  Table 1 summarises the total CIL money to 

date and for this year. 

 

 

5.9. Table 1: Summary of CIL money 

2016 – 2021 CIL Admin £245,941.38 

2016 – 2021 CIL Neighbourhood Portion £829,409.37 

2016 – 2021 Strategic CIL (as of 31st March) £3,843,478.25 

2016 – 2021 Total CIL £4,918,829 

 

2020 – 2021 CIL Admin £85,349.75 

2020 – 2021 CIL Neighbourhood Portion £119,960.37 

2020 – 2021 Strategic CIL (as of 31st March) £3,843,478.25 

2020 – 2021 Strategic CIL allocation (July 2021) £1,960,348 

2021 – 2022 Strategic CIL Funding Pot £1,883,130 

 

 

Monitoring (Neighbourhood Portion) 

5.10. Where all or part of a development is within the area of a parish or town council, the Council 

must pass a portion of the CIL payment from the development to the parish/town council. The 

portion (“The Neighbourhood Portion”) is either 15% or 25% depending on whether a 

Neighbourhood Plan is in place.   

 

5.11. In East Hampshire District, Alton, Medstead and Four Marks, Bentley, Ropley and Beech have 

‘made’ Neighbourhood Plans and receive the 25% proportion. All others receive 15%, which is 

capped at a maximum of £100 per existing council tax dwelling per year3. It should be noted 

that the Beech Neighbourhood Plan was ‘made’ in June 2021, outside of this monitoring 

period. 

 

5.12. The amount of money passed to the Parishes/Town Councils this year is £119,960.37. This is 

broken down by area in Table 2. Not all Parish/Town Councils in the district appear in this list – 

that means they did not receive any Neighbourhood Portion this year, as there was either not 

any chargeable development in their area during that time or the money was not requested 

and remains held by the Council4. They may have been passed a Neighbourhood portion in 

previous years – this is reported by the Parish/Town Council themselves.   

 

 

 

 

 
3 For example, if a parish has 300 existing dwellings, then they could not receive any greater than £30,000 from 
CIL Neighbourhood monies in a year. 
4 This option is sometimes preferred as it enables the pot to be built up, and extends the life span of the 
money (note further in the report re 5 year payback if not spent).   

Page 154



7 
 

5.13. Table 2 – Amount of money passed to Parish/Town Councils (“Neighbourhood Portion”) this 

year, and the amount retained in total 

 
Parish/Town Council 

Amount Total amount 
retained 

Monitoring report 
available (this yr)* 

Alton Town Council £10,505.70 £23,662.58 Y 

Bramshott & Liphook Parish 
Council 

£24,920.64 £47,359.58 Y 

Clanfield Parish Council £316.03 £22,426.92 Y 

Farrringdon Parish Council £13,474.08 £26,948.16 Y 

Grayshott Parish Council £17,126.17 £63,769.59 Y 

Headley Parish Council £4,038.14 £6,370.14 Y 

Horndean Parish Council £19,289.59 £32,972.89 Y 

Kingsley Parish Council £2,531.21 £4,071.51 Y 

Ropley Parish Council £14,911.33 £19,545.42 Y 

Selborne Parish Council £3,980.47 £3,980.47  

Whitehill Town Council £5,222.93 £9000.10 Y 

Wield Parish Council £3,643.78 £3,643.78 Y 

Total £119,960.37   

*See Appendix B for links to monitoring reports.  

 

5.14. Whilst the District Council must spend its CIL funds on the provision, improvement, 

replacement, operation, or maintenance of infrastructure needed to support the development 

of the area, there is more freedom regarding the use of the Neighbourhood Portion, which 

can also be applied to ‘anything else that is concerned with addressing the demands that 

development places on an area’. 

 

5.15. However, if the money received (excludes the District Council as the Charging Authority) is not 

spent within 5 years of receipt or is not spent on initiatives that support the development of 

the area, the Council (as the Charging Authority) may lawfully require the money/some of the 

money to be repaid, back to the Council. 

 

5.16. For each year that a Parish/Town Council has received a Neighbourhood Portion payment, it 

must publish specific information5, which includes how much money it has received, spent 

and retained from the Neighbourhood Portion. This information should be published on their 

website. If no money has been received, as is the case for some Parish/Town Councils this 

year, they do not have to publish a report, but national planning guidance does advise in the 

interests of transparency publishing a report to that effect.  There is likely to be retained 

money by those Parish/Town Council’s not listed in Table 2, where they have received money 

in previous years and it is still retained, and available to spend.  

 

5.17. The Council will work with Parish/Town Councils to align priorities for the allocation of the 

Council’s Strategic CIL, and the neighbourhood portion.  

 

 

5 As set out in regulation 121B of The Community Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) (England) (No. 2) Regulations 2019, 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2019/1103/regulation/9/made  
 

Page 155

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2019/1103/regulation/9/made


8 
 

6. Funding from Strategic Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
 

6.1. The Planning Practice Guidance states that the IFS must include a report on the infrastructure 

projects or types of infrastructure that the authority intends to fund wholly or partly by the 

levy (excluding the Neighbourhood Portion). 

 

Strategic CIL Spending 

6.2. In accordance with the CIL Spending Protocol (adopted January 2021) part of the Strategic 

portion was allocated by the Council, in July 2021, to two projects for investment in 

infrastructure for the benefit of the district. 

 

6.3. The two Strategic infrastructure projects as set out in Table 3 below total £1,960,348. 

 

6.4. Table 3 – Strategic infrastructure projects agreed for funding at Council on 1st July 2021 

Strategic Infrastructure Project Amount Approved 

Four Marks Community Building and Recreational Hub £1,250,000 

Bohunt School full size floodlit 3G artificial grass pitch £710,348 

Total £1,960,348 

 

6.5. All chargeable development will still need to pay CIL regardless of any potential projects listed 

in this document or forthcoming IFSs.  Where infrastructure is needed to make a development 

acceptable in planning terms, it will continue to be secured by S1066.  

 

7. Section 106 (S106) Monitoring  
 

7.1. Between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021, 10 S106 Agreements were signed and 8 Deeds of 

Variations (outside of the South Downs National Park).  

 

7.2. In this year, the total amount of money received from planning obligations was £5,166,524.42.   

 

7.3. During this year, 44 affordable housing units were secured under S106 agreements.  

 

7.4. At this time, we are unable to detail the amount of S106 monies spent this year. Future 

Infrastructure Funding Statements will include this information.  

 

 

 

 
6 Planning obligations under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), commonly 
known as S106 agreements, are a mechanism which make a development proposal acceptable in planning 
terms, that would not otherwise be acceptable. They are focused on site specific mitigation of the impact of 
development. 

Page 156

https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/pas-topics/infrastructure/www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/106


9 
 

8. Infrastructure to be secured via S106 Agreements   
 

8.1. As detailed in Section 3, the Council will continue to secure certain types of infrastructure 

using S106 Agreements. This Section provides further guidance on these obligations and the 

circumstances under which they would be secured/payable. 

 

Affordable Housing on Residential Development Sites 

Satisfying the policy requirements 

8.2. On site affordable housing provision will be secured by S106 unless the developer can 

demonstrate that the development would be made unviable as a result of the policy 

requirements, or the developer is unable to secure a registered provider willing to procure the 

affordable dwellings. Further guidance is provided below on the evidence that would be 

required to support a departure from JCS Policy CP13 under either of these scenarios. 

 

8.3. In addition, in instances where the affordable housing requirement would result in a 

requirement that isn’t a round number (e.g. 2.8 dwellings), the Council will expect two units to 

be provided on site and the remaining 0.8 of a unit to be secured through a commuted sum.   

 

Viability 

8.4. The Council recognises that there will on occasion be developments where abnormal site 

costs, and other factors may mean that the affordable housing requirements cannot be met 

on a particular site. Where developers advise that their scheme is unviable with provision of 

the required proportion of affordable housing, an open book approach to development 

appraisal of scheme viability will be considered. This development appraisal would need to 

include all other CIL and planning obligation requirements and identify what level of 

affordable housing could be supported by the development. It is important to note that in 

addition to the submission of a viability assessment, the Council will require the developer to 

pay the Council’s costs so that the submitted viability assessment can be independently 

assessed by a development viability consultant.    

 

8.5. A lower level of provision may be acceptable if, following the independent review of the 

viability assessment by an appropriately qualified expert; the Council accepts that meeting the 

full affordable housing requirement makes the scheme unviable. 

 

8.6. Whilst the Council does not have a preferred approach for undertaking viability appraisals, 

developers may wish to use the Homes and Communities Agency Toolkit. 

 

Difficulty procuring a Registered Provider 

8.7. The Council recognise that for some developments, particularly on smaller sites, a situation 

may arise where the developer is unable to fulfil the affordable housing obligations as, despite 

all reasonable efforts, no Registered Provider (RP) is willing to procure the affordable 

dwellings.  This may be due to a number of factors, such as; the site location falls outside of 

Page 157



10 
 

the RP’s core investment area; the tenure proposed does not fit the RP’s business model or 

the financial offer submitted by the RP may not cover the developer’s reasonable build costs.  

Other reasons are also likely to arise which may be specific to that individual site. 

 

8.8. In these circumstances and where provision has been made within the S106 Agreement the 

developer may apply to the Council to commute the onsite provision of affordable housing to 

a financial sum.  The Council will need to be satisfied that the developer has made all 

reasonable efforts to dispose of the affordable housing to an RP and they will be expected to 

evidence details of any offers received from RP’s or correspondence with RP’s.  This may also 

include financial information on the sum the developer is seeking for the affordable dwellings 

to ensure that cost is not the overriding factor that the affordable housing obligations cannot 

be satisfied. 

 

8.9. If the Council agrees that the affordable housing obligations may be commuted to a financial 

payment, then this sum will be calculated in accordance with the tariff detailed in Table 4 

below.  

 

8.10. The affordable housing commuted sum rates detailed in Table 4 only apply where there is a 

net gain in residential dwellings as a result of the development scheme. Therefore, proposals 

for a replacement dwelling are exempt from providing commuted sums as no net additional 

dwellings will be provided.  

 

8.11. It is important to note that the Council’s priority remains the provision of affordable housing 

on the application site and so this cascade to a financial sum is the last resort.  Before 

considering requests under this provision the Council will first explore with the developer 

whether an amended affordable housing scheme, including changes to the number, type, 

tenure and location within the site, will make onsite provision possible.  

Page 158



11 
 

 

8.12. Table 4: Affordable Housing Commuted Sums 

 Group 1 Group 2 Group 3 Group 4 

Parish Whitehill and 
Bordon 

Clanfield Alton Beech 

 Headley Bramshott and 

Liphook 

Bentley 

 Horndean East Tisted Bentworth 

 Rowlands Castle  Four Marks Binstead 

  Froyle Chawton 

  Grayshott Farringdon 

  Lasham Kingsley 

  Medstead Selborne 

  Ropley Wield 

  Shalden  Worldham  

Commuted sum (£) 
per square metre 
(GIA) 

£160 £270 £355 £450 

Note: The commuted sum rates will increase with market inflation over time. They are linked to the All-in Tender 

Price Index published by the Building Cost Information Service of the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors.  

8.13. In circumstances where a developer is providing commuted sums to fund off site affordable 

housing provision, the following method should be followed for calculating the commuted 

sum payable.  

 

 
 

8.14. If a developer considers that the commuted sum required to support off site affordable 

housing provision would make the development unviable, the process set out in the viability 

section above (paragraphs 8.4 to 8.6) would need to be followed to determine a commuted 

sum that would make the development viable.  

 

Education 

8.15. Where a proposed development generates the need for a new school to be provided on site, 

the land and provision of a school will be secured through a S106 Agreement.  

 

1
•Calculate the cumulative gross internal area (GIA) in square meters that will be 
delivered by the new residential development.

2
•Multiply the cumulative gross internal area (GIA) by the commuted sum rate 
detailed in Table 4 that relates to the Parish where the development is located.  

Page 159



12 
 

8.16. The timing for the provision of land or school building(s) will be considered on a case-by-case 

basis, with the specific requirements being set out within any S106 Agreement. It is likely to be 

linked to phases of a development, with facilities being required either upon a certain level of 

units being completed, or when a certain threshold of occupation at a development is 

reached. 

 

8.17. The County Council has published a guidance document on ‘Developer Contributions towards 

Children’s Services Facilities’7 (September 2019) which highlights that the Council is expected 

to consult Hampshire Children’s Services Department on any planning proposals relating to a 

development of 10 or more dwellings. 

 

8.18. The Guidance, which is subject to review in the context of changes to local and national 

priorities and priorities provides guidance on the minimum usable areas required for new 

primary school sites which are summarised below: 

• 1 Form entry primary (210 places): 1.2 hectares 

• 2 Form entry primary (420 places): 2.0 hectares 

• 3 Form entry primary (630 places): 2.8 hectares 

 

8.19. We suggest you visit the County Council’s Children’s services webpages or contact the County 

Council by email developer.contributions@hants.gov.uk to confirm the latest position in terms 

of on-site infrastructure requirements.    

 

Health 

8.20. Where a proposed development generates the need for a new healthcare facility, such as a 

new GP surgery, to be provided on site, the land and provision of a healthcare facility will be 

secured through a S106 Agreement.  

 

8.21. The timing for the provision of such healthcare facilities will be considered on a case-by-case 

basis, with the specific requirements being set out within any S106 Agreement. It is likely to be 

linked to phases of a development, with facilities being required either upon a certain level of 

units being completed, or when a certain threshold of occupation at a development is 

reached. 

 

Green Infrastructure  

8.22. The standards for the provision of public open space and built recreation facilities on new 

residential development sites are set out in Joint Core Strategy Policy CP18. 

 

8.23. Green infrastructure can take many forms including:  

• multifunctional green space (i.e. parks, amenity space, accessible natural green space) 

• equipped play areas 

• allotments 

• habitats infrastructure to support biodiversity. 

 
7 https://documents.hants.gov.uk/education/DeveloperContributionGuidanceDocument.docx 

Page 160

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/education/DeveloperContributionGuidanceDocument.docx
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/education/DeveloperContributionGuidanceDocument.docx
mailto:developer.contributions@hants.gov.uk


13 
 

8.24. The Council will continue to use S106 or conditions to secure the provision of local multi-

functional green space, locally equipped play areas and allotments that directly serve a 

proposed development site, where the site is suitable.   

 

8.25. The Council’s adopted green space standards require new residential developments to 

provide, as a minimum, 3.24ha of public open space per 1,000 population8 to serve the needs 

generated by the new development. This requirement is broken down to set out what a 

development must provide in respect of multi-functional green space, provision for children or 

young people and allotments, as set out in Table 5 below. 

 

 

8.26. Table 5: Green Space Standards 

Open Space Type 
Requirement per 1,000 

population (ha) 

Parks and gardens 1.03 

Natural and semi-natural green space 1.8 

Green corridor N/A 

Amenity green space 0.31 

Allotments 0.1 

Churchyard or cemetery N/A 

Provision for children or young people 0.52 sites per 1,000 
population 

 

8.27. There are no standards for habitat creation as each site is assessed on a case-by-case basis. It 

is recognised however, that the provision of other forms of green infrastructure can 

contribute towards conserving and enhancing biodiversity. 

 

8.28. Where a proposal requires off-site planting, a S106 Agreement must be entered in to. This 

should cover the cost of any site purchase required for the new planting, the cost of the 

plants, any associated management and maintenance where the Council will not be adopting 

the land and sufficient funding for replacements for a period of five years. It is imperative that 

any proposal for off-site planting has the prior written approval of the landowner.  The costs 

will be calculated on a site-by-site basis and be based on current prices at the time of the 

application. 

 

Social Infrastructure 

8.29. The provision of new and improvement of existing social infrastructure will be funded through 

CIL. However, in some instances developers may be required to provide land or buildings to 

enable the delivery of additional social infrastructure to serve the site. In such instances the 

provision of land or buildings will be secured through S106. 

 

 

 

 
8 Open Space, Sports and Recreation Needs and Opportunities Assessment 2018 to 2028 (December 2019) 

Page 161



14 
 

Internationally Designated Sites 

Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area 

8.30. Residential development in parts of the District has the potential to impact upon 

internationally designated sites both within and located outside of the District.  

 

8.31. Policy CP22 sets out the requirements for development impacting the Wealden Heaths Phase 

II Special Protection Area (SPA).   

 

8.32. In addition, if housing proposals are capable of affecting the SPA no matter how distant from 

the site, they will be considered on a case-by-case basis as to whether a project-specific 

Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) is required (this should be assessed at the HRA 

Screening Assessment stage). The requirement is likely to vary depending on the size of the 

site, the ‘in combination’ effects and its distance from the SPA. Advice on this should be 

sought from Natural England at the earliest opportunity.  If mitigation is required, then this 

could involve a financial tariff towards the Strategic Access Management and Monitoring 

(SAMM) on the SPAs and a contribution towards a Suitable Accessible Natural Greenspace 

(SANG).   

 

Solent National Sites Network  

8.33. The Solent coastline provides feeding grounds for internationally protected populations of 

overwintering waders and wildfowl and is also extensively used for recreation. In response to 

concerns over the impact of recreational pressure on birds within protected areas in the 

Solent, the Solent Forum initiated the Solent Disturbance and Mitigation Project (SDMP) to 

determine visitor access patterns around the coast and how their activities may influence the 

birds. 

 

8.34. The project has been divided into four phases. Phase 1 collated and reviewed information on 

housing, human activities and birds around the Solent, and reviewed the potential impact of 

disturbance on birds. Phase 2 involved a programme of major new data collection and Phase 3 

sets out an avoidance and mitigation Plan. For the final phase, the SDMP project group is 

working with Natural England towards implementation.  

 

8.35. Contributions will be sought from new development in order to implement the measures set 

out in the Solent Special Protection Area (SPA) Interim Planning Framework. Measures include 

the provision of dog wardens and rangers to educate the public about the impacts of 

recreational disturbance on protected species. The contribution is calculated on the number 

of bedrooms per individual dwelling.  The current rates for 2021/22 are set out on the 

Council’s website and are applicable to permissions granted on or after 1 April 2021. 

 

8.36. The contribution will affect all net new dwellings in the District located within 5.6km of the 

Solent National Sites Network and is payable in addition to any CIL liability and any other S106 

or S278 contributions. Appendix 1 contains maps showing the parts of the District that fall 

within the 5.6km buffer. 

 

 

Page 162

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/developers-get-environmental-advice-on-your-planning-proposals
https://www.easthants.gov.uk/unilateral-undertaking-solent-recreation-mitigation-strategy


15 
 

Flood Protection and Water Management 

8.37. There may be circumstances when measures will be required in order to make a development 

safe. Measures will normally be identified by the Environment Agency and will usually be 

secured by planning conditions. However, where the measures involve off-site improvements, 

the need for a S106 Agreement, negotiated on a case-by-case basis, will be considered. 

 

8.38. Where on site measures are required, the type and location of the works should be justified 

and agreed with the Council and/or the Environment Agency prior to any works or funding 

being implemented. In some cases, it may be more appropriate to consider on-site mitigation 

measures such as the positioning of electrical sockets at a higher level or using more water 

resistant materials. The use of such measures will normally be secured through planning 

conditions rather than a legal agreement. 

 

8.39. It is expected that developers will enter into a S106 Agreement which agrees either a level of 

appropriate funding or the provision of appropriate flood defence works or mitigation 

measures. 

 

Transport  

8.40. Alterations to the local highway network which are necessary to promote a safe, efficient or 

sustainable relationship between development and the public highway may be secured by 

S106 and/or S278 Agreements. Improvements could include the provision, removal, or 

relocation of street furniture, dropped kerbs, crossovers, pedestrian crossings, bus stops and 

links to the cycle network. 

 

8.41. Where a development is required to make specific contributions towards improvements, 

amendments, or additions to public transport services (projects which are not identified in this 

IFS to be funded by CIL) contributions may be secured through S106.  

 

Travel Plans 

8.42. Contributions towards revenue items are still permitted under S106 and are not restricted by 

the CIL regulations.  Where development exceeds the threshold for a Travel Plan, a Travel Plan 

will be secured through a S106 Agreement. This will have the objective of reducing adverse 

transport impacts. A fee is charged for approval of a travel plan and for ongoing monitoring. 

 

8.43. Travel Plans will set out, as far as possible, how development proposes to mitigate its adverse 

transport impacts and promote sustainable travel and may include measures relating to 

encouraging sustainable transport behaviour and infrastructure provision. Travel Plans will 

include provision for financial penalties to fund the promotion or provision of sustainable 

transport until travel plan objectives are met. 

 

 

 

 

Page 163



16 
 

Other  

8.44. Other types of infrastructure may be required to make a development acceptable in planning 

terms. The following list provides information on additional S106 Agreements not detailed in 

this chapter that could be required to make a development acceptable:  

• Works or funding for the management and conservation archaeological interests 

where a development has an adverse impact. 

• Works or funding for the restoration, conservation / enhancement of listed buildings, 

buildings of local importance and monuments at the development site. 

• Works or funding for the diversion and or enhancement of Public Rights of Way 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 164



17 
 

Appendix A: Potential Liability  

 

Existing Use Proposed Use Potential Liability 

Development 

site 

Dwelling (self 

build) 

CIL is not charged on self build 

development 

Not liable 

Development 

site 

Dwelling CIL charged on all new floorspace 

Charge is based on total new floorspace 

(no minimum) 

CIL liable  

Development 

site 

Affordable 

housing 

CIL is not charged on dwellings that are 

categorised as affordable housing 

Not liable 

Development 

site 

Offices Office development is not CIL liable  Not liable 

Office in use Change of use to 

dwelling 

CIL liable and chargeable for any 

additional floorspace (no minimum) 

For example, if existing office is 100sqm 

and in use, then only additional 

floorspace above 100sqm is chargeable 

Liable and 

potentially 

chargeable 

Office Affordable 

housing 

CIL is not charged on dwellings that are 

categorised as affordable housing 

Not liable 

Office Office extension Office development is not CIL liable or 

chargeable 

This is irrespective of size 

Not liable 

Demolished 

dwelling 

Replacement 

new dwelling 

 

A credit is given for the demolished 
floorspace so CIL is only payable on the 
net additional floorspace 

CIL liable 

Dwelling Extension less 

than 100 sqm  

CIL is only chargeable for extensions over 
100sqm (not counting the original 
dwelling)  
 
Therefore, any extension of less than 
100sqm is not chargeable 
 

Not liable 

Page 165



18 
 

Dwelling Extension more 

than 100sqm  

CIL is charged for the entire new 
floorspace where an extension is greater 
than 100sqm (not counting the original 
dwelling)  
 
Chargeable as extension is greater than 
100sqm  
 

Liable and 

chargeable 

Dwelling 

 

Sub division into 

two dwellings 

The sub-division of a dwelling is not CIL 
liable  
 
If proposals also involve extension(s), CIL 
is only chargeable for extensions over 
100sqm, calculated prior to deducting 
existing ‘in use’ floorspace  
 
If any existing buildings/ floorspace is 
currently in use and to be 
demolished/converted it can be 
deducted from the chargeable 
floorspace of the new building (not 
counting the original dwelling)  

Not liable 

 

 

 
 
 

  

Page 166



19 
 

Appendix B - Links to published monitoring data of Neighbourhood Portions for this year 

(2019/2020) 

Alton Town Council 

http://www.alton.gov.uk/_UserFiles/Files/2021%20Monitoring%20Form.pdf 

Bramshott & Liphook Parish Council 

https://bramshottandliphook-pc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/CIL-Annual-Statement.pdf 

Clanfield Parish Council 

https://www.clanfieldpc.org.uk/uploads/assets/Files/Miscellaneous/CIL%20Annual%20Report%202

020-2021%20%28re-stated%20070921%29.pdf?u=1XHTxD 

Farringdon Parish Council 

https://farringdonpc.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Neighbourhood-Portion-Funding-report-

2020-2021.pdf 

Grayshott Parish Council 

https://www.grayshott-pc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/2020-21-CIL-Funding-report.pdf 

Headley Parish Council 

https://headleyparish.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/CIL-2020-21.pdf 

Horndean Parish Council 

http://www.horndeanpc-hants.gov.uk/_UserFiles/Files/CIL%20Report%2020-21.pdf 

Kingsley Parish Council 

https://kingsleyparishcouncil.org/wp-content/uploads/simple-file-list/Accounts/Accounts-2020-
2021/CIL-annual-report-2020-2021-redacted.pdf 

Ropley Parish Council 

http://www.myropley.org.uk/parish-council-annual-accounts-year-ending-march-2020-for-public-
perusal/ 

Whitehill Town Council 

http://www.whitehilltowncouncil.gov.uk/_UserFiles/Files/Finance/CIL%20-
%20Current%20Situation%20Qtr1%202022.pdf 

Wield Parish Council 

https://wieldpc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/9/2021/11/CIL-report-form-2020-2021.pdf 

 

Page 167

http://www.alton.gov.uk/_UserFiles/Files/2021%20Monitoring%20Form.pdf
https://bramshottandliphook-pc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/CIL-Annual-Statement.pdf
https://www.clanfieldpc.org.uk/uploads/assets/Files/Miscellaneous/CIL%20Annual%20Report%202020-2021%20%28re-stated%20070921%29.pdf?u=1XHTxD
https://www.clanfieldpc.org.uk/uploads/assets/Files/Miscellaneous/CIL%20Annual%20Report%202020-2021%20%28re-stated%20070921%29.pdf?u=1XHTxD
https://farringdonpc.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Neighbourhood-Portion-Funding-report-2020-2021.pdf
https://farringdonpc.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Neighbourhood-Portion-Funding-report-2020-2021.pdf
https://www.grayshott-pc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/2020-21-CIL-Funding-report.pdf
https://headleyparish.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/CIL-2020-21.pdf
http://www.horndeanpc-hants.gov.uk/_UserFiles/Files/CIL%20Report%2020-21.pdf
https://kingsleyparishcouncil.org/wp-content/uploads/simple-file-list/Accounts/Accounts-2020-2021/CIL-annual-report-2020-2021-redacted.pdf
https://kingsleyparishcouncil.org/wp-content/uploads/simple-file-list/Accounts/Accounts-2020-2021/CIL-annual-report-2020-2021-redacted.pdf
http://www.myropley.org.uk/parish-council-annual-accounts-year-ending-march-2020-for-public-perusal/
http://www.myropley.org.uk/parish-council-annual-accounts-year-ending-march-2020-for-public-perusal/
http://www.whitehilltowncouncil.gov.uk/_UserFiles/Files/Finance/CIL%20-%20Current%20Situation%20Qtr1%202022.pdf
http://www.whitehilltowncouncil.gov.uk/_UserFiles/Files/Finance/CIL%20-%20Current%20Situation%20Qtr1%202022.pdf
https://wieldpc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/9/2021/11/CIL-report-form-2020-2021.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Confirmation of Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Climate Change and Sustainable Construction SPD
	Climate change and sustainable construction SPD for web

	6 Statement of Community Involvement
	Statement of Community Involvement for web

	7 The Revocation of the Planning Contributions and Community Infrastructure Levy SPD 2016
	IFS 2021 V3


